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LETTER FROM THE CHAIRMAN 
OF THE BOARD

Dr. Riad B. Obegi
Chairman of the Board - General Manager

Dear Clients and Shareholders,
 
August 4, 2020 was a day of great sorrow but also a day of reckoning. It is time for us to admit the necessity of changing, 
of transforming ourselves: heart, body and brain. The social and economic crisis, which culminated in the port explosion, 
is the result of our neglect, ignorance and spinelessness. If we do not admit our mistakes, if we do not act on ourselves, 
if we do not become more humane, this tragedy and the crisis would have taken the better of us.

We, as BEMO, are trying our best to provide our clients with all we can in the limits of the situation and the applicable 
regulations. But we are open to receive advices, criticism and also encouragements. 
We are sure that through dedication, hard work and courage, we will all overcome this dire period, stronger and better. 
2021 will be our year of faith.

Finally, I cannot but express my deep gratitude for our clients, employees and shareholders, and my trust that they will 
give us the necessary strength to achieve our mission.

Brighter days will come!

Riad Obegi

LETTER FROM THE VICE CHAIRMAN 
& GENERAL MANAGER

Mr. Samih H. Saade
Vice Chairman - General Manager

With the economic and social crisis that had begun with the protests that erupted on October 17, 2019 and the resignation 
of the government, the financial sector suffered a major setback on March 7, 2020 when the Lebanese Government 
defaulted on the Eurobonds’ interest due on March 9, 2020, and declared that it would seek to reschedule the Foreign 
Currency public debt of Lebanon. Accusation campaigns began to hold the financial sector responsible for the aggravation 
of economic conditions, which in turn worsened as trust was lost, liquidity decreased and Lebanon like any other country 
fell under the impact of Covid-19 and the forced confinements.

In light of these developments, and to ensure the continuity of work in the bank, Banque BEMO complied with all 
health standards set by the World Health Organization and later on all requirements set by the Lebanese State. We 
organized telecommuting, so that everyone could perform their duties remotely and have introduced the “Customer 
Support Center” to activate our services and to facilitate the affairs of our customers. We also set in action the “Business 
Continuity Plan” as approved by the Bank’s Management, and its successful implementation led to the continuation of 
our distinguished services.
On August 4, 2020, the unprecedented port explosion occurred with a death toll over 200 victims, injuries in thousands 
and the destruction of a large part of the city of Beirut. Our branch in Pasteur Street and “Portside-Medawar 666” Building 
were seriously damaged. We have recently agreed with the developer on the method of reconstructing this Building to 
remain a landmark near the harbor.

During this period, we did not hesitate to stand alongside our customers, comforting them and providing them with 
support since the first day after the explosion, in accordance with our sense of Social Responsibility and the principle 
of “Client Centricity”. Weekly meetings were held under the auspices of the Chairman and Vice Chairman of the Board 
of Directors to follow up on developments and issue directives to maintain positivity and high spirit, which was highly 
appreciated by all customers. 

In turn, the Board of Directors appointed a “Steering Committee” for the Bank, which is chaired by the Chairman of the 
Board of Directors and includes members of the Board of Directors and Executive Managers to follow up on liquidity 
and any developments and take immediate, necessary and inevitable decisions to preserve our financial posture and 
insure the continuity of our services. As for the Synergy and coordination, Banque BEMO continued in close cooperation 
with Bemo Europe-Banque Privée, and this relationship was an additional value added to our deliverables. By mutual 
agreement between the two Banks, we have provided the “Protection Scheme” service, which aims to assure those 
who have “Fresh Money” deposits and in the event that Banque BEMO Lebanon does not pay the amount at maturity 
in cash or by transferring it to a Bank account abroad, they have the possibility of claiming their new savings from Bemo 
Europe-Banque Privée. Also, the coordination was complete and comprehensive with “BSEC” for Securitization services, 
and Bemo Investment Firm (BIF) for financial services. “BSEC” introduced many solutions to our clients who had money 
locked in Lebanon. We were up to the expectations of all shareholders, which was reflected in the general consensus that 
Banque BEMO is a reliable Financial Institution with ethical standards.

As for our financials for the year ending 2020, and similar to all other Lebanese Financial Institutions, we had an “Adverse 
Opinion” from our Auditor. We in turn, have provisioned all our income to abide to Regulatory requirements and in 
anticipation of any deterioration in our portfolio, which remains under daily review. 

Highlights of the financials in thousands USD for the year ending 2020

Balance Sheet Items

Total Assets
Total Deposits
Total Advances
Total Advances Plus Acceptances
Income for the period

Dec-19

1,698,382
1,213,502

535,421
548,871

(8,194)

Dec-20

2,311,705
1,726,451

394,708
402,375

1,096
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2020 MAJOR FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

PREFACE
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PREFACE

2020 MAJOR FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
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OUR MISSION 
STATEMENT

“Live our values while 
achieving high return on 
equity, and offering our 
customers outstanding 

quality”

OUR
VALUES

“Family Spirit, 
Professionalism, 
Conservatism, 

Honesty”

POSITIONING 
STATEMENT

“Consolidating traditional values 
with a contemporary approach; 

offering services that are personal in 
delivery and global in scope.”

PREFACE



“Discover the tools to build 
your own vision.” 

Mary Anne Radmacher

Corporate 
Governance



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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Year 2020! A challenging year that made peoples across the world struggle to adapt to the new realities. The 
covid-19 global health crisis, the massive economic deterioration, the soaring USD/LBP exchange rate, and the 
exceedingly political instability and rivalries were enough factors that have resulted in severe social and economic 
distress that our country has not witnessed in years. Within these circumstances, Banque BEMO s.a.l, the 
“positive bank” as described by many of its shareholders, aimed at preserving its high standards of services 
and governance to maintain its long term strategy towards success and going the extra mile with its esteemed 
clientele.  

CRISIS MANAGEMENT
The Board maintained governance best practices and disciplines, thus ensuring vigorous oversight and control of 
the Bank’s developing initiatives and activities, most important of which were risk management and compliance 
processes.
The circumstances in the country required swift action from the Board to uphold the interests of the Bank, the 
shareholders and all the other stakeholders. From the outset of the painful facts, the Board of Directors acted 
assertively to continue supporting the Bank’s clients while complying with the regulatory requirements. 
The Board held exceptional meetings in response to promptly needed crisis management efforts. On the other 
hand, the Board renewed the mandate of the Steering Committee, created in December 2019, to ensure providing 
the Management with the required guidance and patronage during such difficult times.

BOARD EFFECTIVENESS
The Board perceived the importance of enhancing governance in order to achieve the Bank’s desired purpose; 
hence, members committed to conducting the annual Board and Board Committees self-assessment, highlighting 
areas that require improvement. 
Training and upskilling programs for Board members remained a priority in 2020. The Board Nominating, 
Remuneration and Corporate Governance Committee accentuated its efforts for the Board members to maintain 
proper contribution, and at the same time to support reinforcing the appropriate execution of their duties, through 
engaging with independent experts who provide perspective on financial and even social issues related to the 
crises.  

BOARD OBJECTIVES
Responsible banking has always been a key objective of the Board. Members believe it is a priority to guarantee 
conducting sound and reliable business activities. With the overall prevailing situation, in 2020, and in order to 
better serve and rather support the Bank clients, the Board emphasized the necessity and responsibility required 
to adapt to the new business environment and practices that allow delivering the Bank services with the highest 
professional standards, in order to meet stakeholders’ expectations despite all the adversities. The Board’s main 
focus was to create the proper culture and skills that support fulfilling the purpose.   

CUSTOMER CENTRICITY
During the past year, and while the Lebanese were struggling at all levels to survive the crisis, the Board sought 
to create positive change despite the discouraging surroundings. Members emphasized the necessity to further 
maintain trust of the Bank’s existing clients and earn the trust of the new clients. The Board even dedicated 
USD100 million to lend those who needed facilities to repair their damaged houses and establishments resulting 
from the Beirut Port Explosion.

ENVIRONMENTAL SOCIAL GOVERNANCE
Environmental Social Governance is another responsibility to which the Board commits, being an essential priority 
to the Bank’s strategy. In addition to the emphasis on employees’ health and wealth being due to the pandemic, 
the Board aimed at the social impact that Banque BEMO should make in the Lebanese community. 
The Board is always eager to commit to social responsibility, the driving force of which are the Bank’s long term 
strategy and the exuberant leadership. 

2021 PLAN AHEAD
Despite all the adversities, the Board is keen to keep responsible banking a key priority on its agenda; hence, the 
Board still:

- Selects to focus on preserving long-term shareholder value while empowering the Bank’s business  
 model, encouraging vigorous leadership of the working teams and supporting the Management through  
 the implementation process of the targeted strategy
- Prioritizes the wellbeing of the Bank’s stakeholders, whether being clients, shareholders, suppliers,  
 staff…etc. thus to continue building trust and supporting the community while committing to adapting to  
 the new business environment
- Stresses the necessity to work on the growth initiatives that are critical to maintaining the positive and  
 supportive image of the Bank

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
FRAMEWORK
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OWNERSHIP STRUCTURE

BEMO Securitization SA
(BSEC) 

Limassol Branch 
Cyprus

*  Sharikat Al Istismarat Al Oropia Lil Sharek Al Aousat (Holding) sal counts among its main founding 
shareholders, the Obegi Group and other prominent industrialists.

96%

100%

Sharikat Al Istismarat Al Oropia  
Lil Sharek Al Aousat (Holding) sal*

61.06%

Banque Bemo Saudi Fransi SA (BBSF) - Syria

22%

38.94%

All Other Shareholders
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ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE

Chairman of the Board

Board of Directors

Internal Audit

Organization,  Communication
& Quality Management 

Institutions
Business Development

Information 
Technology

Corporate Banking 

Corporate Clients

Treasury &
Capital Markets

Foreign Exchange

Money Market

Risk Management

Audit Committee

Nominating, Remuneration 
& Corporate Governance

Committee

Vice Chairman and
General Manager

Human Resources
Management

Legal Affairs

Financial Institutions/
Correspondent

Banking

Relations with
Affiliates

Private Banking I

Private Banking II 

Deputy General
Manager

Finance & Facilities
Management

Operations
Management

Vice Chairman and
General Manager

(Private Banking &
Wealth Management)

(Temporary)

Credit Control

Trade Finance

Treasury &
Securities Support

Central Back Offices

Cards & Bills
Management

Corporate Clients

Assistant General
Manager

Compliance

Central Administration

Branches Network
Lebanon
Cyprus

Foreign Clients
(Corporate)

Private Banking
Foreign Clients

Banks & Financial
Entities

Asset Management

Customer Support
Center

Board Risk Committee

IT Security

Board Compliance &
AML/CFT

Committee

Corporate Governance
Office

PB & WM

Commercial Business
Development Administration Unit

R&D and Fiduciary
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Chairman of the Board  
& General Manager

Vice Chairman & General Manager

Member

Member

Member

Member

Corporate Secretary:

Legal Advisors:

Auditors:

Mr. Georges M. Hayek

Prof. Nasri A. Diab

Deloitte & Touche DFK Fiduciaire du Moyen Orient

Me. Adel J. Macaron

Dr. Riad B. Obegi  

Mr. Samih H. Saade 

Sharikat Al Istismarat Al Oropia Lil Sharek Al 
Aousat Holding s.a.l  
(represented by Mr. Adel N. Satel)

Mr. Peter A. Hrechdakian

Mr. Walid F. Genadry

Mrs. Karine S. Mansour Obegi*       

Dr. Derek A. El Zein                                                   

Member

Member

Mr. Yasser T. Dabbagh

Mr. Mansour J. Hajjar**

* Mrs. Karine Obegi resigned in March 2021
** Mr. Mansour Hajjar resigned in June 2021

Member
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Nationality
Lebanese

Elected
Re-elected in May 2019

Academic Achievements
• PHD in Economics from Lyon Lumière University – 2008 
• PMD from Harvard Business School – 1997 
• Master’s Degree from IEP – Paris
• Master’s Degree in Business Administration from Paris IX Dauphine University – 1981 
• Bachelor’s Degree in Business Law from Paris II Panthéon-ASSAS University – 1981 

Skills and Experience 
• Chairman of the Board of Directors of Banque BEMO sal since 2010 and member of the Board since 2003
• Vice-Chairman of the Board of Directors and CEO of Banque BEMO Saudi Fransi, Syria from January 2007  
 until December 2009
• Board member of Banque BEMO SAL, Lebanon from September 2003 until May 2010  
• Chairman of the Board of Directors and CEO of Banque BEMO Saudi Fransi, Syria from 2004 until 2006  
• General Manager of BEMO SAL, Lebanon from May 2001 until 2003 
• Chairman & General Manager of Banque BEMO Europe, France from 1995 until July 2013 
• President of the Executive Committee of Banque BEMO Europe, Belgium from 1993 until 1995 
• Managing Director of Banque de l’Europe Méridionale, Luxembourg – Later named BEMO Europe from  
 1984 until 1993  
• “Attaché de Direction” at Crédit Libanais in 1983

External Appointments
• Chairman of the Board of Directors of BEMO Europe EUROPE – Banque Privée, Luxembourg
• Chairman of the Board of Directors of Unifert Holding sal 
• Chairman of the Board of Directors of Obegi Group SA, Luxembourg 
• Member of the Board of Directors of Banque Bemo Saudi Fransi SA (BBSF), Syria 

Nationality
Lebanese

Elected
Re-elected in May 2019

Academic Achievements
• Master’s Degree in Business Administration from the American University of Beirut
• Bachelor’s Degree in Business Administration from the American University of Beirut 
• Degree in Law from the Lebanese University
• Attended advanced courses on Banking Strategy and Leadership 

Skills and Experience 
• Vice Chairman & General Manager at Banque BEMO sal since 2013
• Managing Director – General Manager and Board Member at Banque BEMO sal since 2010
• General Manager at Banque BEMO sal since 2003 
• F.V.P. Corporate and Private Banking Manager at ABN Amro Bank in Beirut from 1994 until 2003 
• Senior Credit Manager at Bank of Beirut from 1993 until 1994
• Member of the Country Management Team at American Express Bank Ltd in Lebanon, where he assumed  
 several managerial positions from 1978 until 1991
• Appointed Lecturer at the Lebanese American University (1991) 
• Appointed Lecturer at the Association of Banks in Lebanon 
• Member of the Deliberating Jury for Master’s Degree in Banking Studies
• Participated in various seminars and committees addressing Economic Developments and Strategic Issues 

External Appointments
• Represents Banque BEMO sal in the Board of Directors of Bemo Securitization (BSEC) 
• Member of the Investment Committee in an International Family Office
• Represents a group of investors in the Board of Directors of an International Development Company

DR. RIAD OBEGI | Age 63

Executive Board Member
Chairman & General Manager
Member of the Board Risk Committee
Member of the Board Compliance and AML/CFT Committee

MR. SAMIH SAADE |  Age 69

Executive Board Member
Vice Chairman & General Manager
Member of the Board Risk Committee
Member of the Board Compliance and AML/CFT Committee
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Nationality
Lebanese

Elected
Sharikat Al Istismarat Al Oropia Lil Shark Al Aousat Holding sal was re-elected in May 2019

Academic Achievements
• Bachelor’s degree in Electrical Engineering from the American University of Beirut – 1984
• Master’s Degree in Electrical Engineering from Yale University – 1985
• MBA from INSEAD – 1992

Skills and Experience 
• Chief Transformation Officer at Obegi Chemicals since 2020
• Group Chief Risk Officer at Obegi Group Advisory from 2018 until 2020
• Group Chief Risk Officer at Bank Audi from 2008 until 2018
• Managing Director in charge of Bank Ratings at Moody’s Investors Service for Europe, Middle East and  
 Africa (EMEA) and ex-CIS from 1993 until 2008
• Lead engineer for GTE Communications Systems from 1985 until 1991

External Appointments
• Chairman of Al Wadi Al Akhdar
• Member of the Board of Directors of Obegi Consumer Product Holding

*Sharikat Al Istismarat Al Oropia Lil Shark Al Aousat Holding sal is a holding company that was established in 1994. It is the 

major shareholder at Banque BEMO sal where it owns 61.06% of the Bank’s shares.

Nationality
Lebanese

Elected
Re-elected in May 2019

Academic Achievements
• Master in Business Administration from the Harvard Graduate School of Business Administration, Boston,  
 Massachusetts, USA – 1984 
• Bachelor’s of Arts in Economics and Philosophy from Cornell University, Ithaca, New York, USA – 1980

Skills and Experience 
• CEO of the Unifert Group, Luxemburg/Brussels/Beirut since 2006
• Director of Management Control at Unifert Group S.A. Brussels from 1991 until 2006
• Executive Vice President of Unifert USA Inc. New York, from 1988 until 1991
• Vice President – Finance of Unifert USA Inc. New York, from 1985 until 1988
• Credit analyst at Manufacturers Hanover Trust, New York, from 1980 until 1982

External Appointments
• Chairman of the Board of Directors of Fertitrust S.A. holding company of the Unifert Group in Luxembourg
• Member of the Board of Directors of BEMO Europe Banque Privée S.A. in Luxembourg
• Member of the Board of Directors of Obegi Chemicals Group S.A. in Luxembourg
• Member of the Board of Directors of Tervalis Desarrollo S.A. in Spain
• Member of the Board of Directors of BIPA N.V. (Biological Products for Agriculture) in Belgium
• Member of the Board of Directors of the Beirut Art Centre Association in Lebanon

MR. ADEL SATEL | Age 60

Representing Sharikat Al Istismarat Al Oropia Lil Shark Al Aousat Holding sal* 
in the Board and Board Committees 
Non-Executive Board Member
Member of the Board Risk Committee

MR. PETER HRECHDAKIAN | Age 63

Non-Executive Board Member
Member of the Board Audit and Ethics Committee
Member of the Board Nominating, Remuneration and Corporate 
Governance Committee
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Nationality
Lebanese

Elected
Re-elected in May 2019

Academic Achievements
• Master’s in Business Administration from INSEAD, France – 1990
• Master’s in Electrical Engineering from McGill University, Canada – 1986  
• Bachelor’s in Mechanical Engineering from Concordia University, Canada – 1983
• Board Director Certification from IFC/World Bank – 2018
• Executive and Corporate Coaching Diploma from University of Texas at Dallas – 2016 

Skills and Experience 
• Insurance Control Commission, Lebanon from 2002 until 2015, Head of the Insurance Control Commission  
 (ICC); International Association of Insurance supervisors (IAIS) chairing and serving on several committees;  
 Arab Forum of Insurance Regulatory commissions (AFIRC) - Chairman of AFIRC from 2011 until 2013 and  
 Vice Chairman of AFIRC from 2009 until 2011 
• INDEVCO, Lebanon – Industrial Group: USA, Lebanon, Middle-East from 1998 until 2001; Manager, President  
 Office, assigned to SANITA company
• UNITED GROUP, France from 1994 until 1998
• PricewaterhouseCoopers, France – formerly Coopers & Lybrand; Senior management consultant from 1991  
 until 1994
• CAE Electronics, Canada – world leader in commercial flight simulator manufacturing; Flight Simulation  
 Engineer – Flight systems group from 1986 until 1990
• Executive and corporate Coach since 2016

External Appointments
• Member of the Board of Directors of MEAB Bank; chairperson of Risk Committee and member of Compliance  
 Committee
• Member of the Board of Directors of Al Nisr Al Arabi Insurance Company; chairperson of Risk Committee  
 and member of Governance Committee

Nationality
Lebanese

Elected
Elected in May 2019

Academic Achievements
• Global CEO Program from IESE Business School, Spain – 2013 
• Advanced Management Program from INSEAD, France – 2002 
• Doctorate in Science from University of Orsay - PARIS XI, France – 1988  
• Bachelor’s of Electrical Engineering from American University Of Beirut, Lebanon – 1985 

Skills and Experience 
• Chalhoub Group Dubai, UAE – a leading partner for luxury across the Middle East since 1955; Chief Information  
 Officer from 1998 to 2002; General Manager – Allied Enterprises LLC from 2003 until 2005; Country Manager  
 UAE and Oman from 2006 until 2009; Managing Director UAE from 2010 until 2016; and Chief Operating  
 Officer – Fashion from 2017 until 2018; Country Manager UAE & India starting 2019
• PEPSICO Jeddah, Saudi Arabia; Information Technology Manager from 1995 until 1998 
• Creative Electronic Systems S.A. (C.E.S.) Geneva, Switzerland; Systems Engineer from 1988 until 1990;  
 Project Manager from 1991 until 1995 

External Appointments
• Member of the Dubai Retail Business Group (with active role as Treasurer) 
• Endeavor mentor 

* Mr. Mansour resigned from the Board of Directors in June 2021.

MR. WALID GENADRY | Age 60

Independent Board Member
Chairperson of the Board Compliance and AML/CFT Committee
Chairperson of the Board Digitalization Committee

MR. MANSOUR HAJJAR | Age 58

Independent Board Member
Chairperson of the Board Nominating, Remuneration and Corporate 
Governance Committee
Member of the Board Audit and Ethics Committee
Member of the Board Digitalization Committee
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Nationality
Lebanese

Elected
Re-elected in May 2019

Academic Achievements
• HEC Diploma – Hautes Etudes Commerciales, Jouy en Josas – France (Majeur Entrepreneur)
• Ecole Preparatoire Sainte Genevieve (1 year) 

Skills and Experience 
• CEO and Managing Partner of Obegi Home LLC – Dubai since 2006, where she resides
• CEO of Obegi Better Home s.a.l since 2006
• General Secretary at Banque Saradar, later to become Bank Audi Saradar from 2002 until 2005
• Organizational Consultant at Banque Saradar from 1998 until 2002
• Analyst and Junior Engagement Manager at Mckinsey Consulting Firm – France from 1995 until 1998

External Appointments
• Member of the Board of Directors of Obegi Better Home s.a.l.
• Member of the YPO – Young President Organization since 2016

* Mrs. Karine Obegi resigned from the Board of Directors in March 2021.

Nationality
Lebanese

Elected
Re-elected in May 2019

Academic Achievements
• Ph.D. in Information and Communication Sciences from University of PARIS 2 – Panthéon Assas 
• Master’s Degree in Media & Multimedia IFP from University of PARIS 2 – Panthéon Assas 
• Master of Law from University of PARIS 2 – Panthéon Assas
• Law Studies Institute from University of PARIS 2 – Panthéon Assas 

Skills and Experience 
• Member of the Paris Bar and practicing lawyer since 2003
• Member of the Central European Academy of Sciences, Humanities and Arts 
• Member of the Geographical Society of Paris
• Senior Lecturer at the Department of Political Science at Paris Descartes University since 2011
• Professor in Media Geopolitics and International Economics at HEI-HEP 

MRS. KARINE OBEGI | Age 48

Non-Executive Board Member
Member of the Board Risk Committee

DR. DEREK EL-ZEIN | Age 45

Independent Board Member
Chairperson of the Board Risk Committee
Member of the Board Compliance and AML/CFT Committee
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Nationality
Jordanian

Elected
Re-elected in May 2019

Academic Achievements
• Master’s in Business Administration with a concentration in Finance from University of Liverpool, UK – 2010
• BA Economics from American University of Cairo, Egypt – 1999

Skills and Experience 
• Kabbani Construction Group (KCG), KSA, Chief Financial Officer since November 2013
• Electro Mechanical Contracting Co. – EMCC (a KCG Company), KSA, Chief Commercial Officer from May  
 2010 until May 2011; Deputy CEO from June 2011 until October 2013
• Kabbani Construction Group (KCG), KSA, Assistant General Manager from May 2008 until May 2010
• EVER KSA, KSA, Western Regional Manager and ECM Consultant from January 2006 until May 2008 
• EVER Egypt (ITV Systems), Cairo, Director of Professional Services from June 2003 until December 2005
• Integrated Technologies (Intec), Cairo, Managing Partner from January 2002 until June 2003
• E-Cars, Cairo – Egyptian Company for Cars, Managing Partner from January 2000 until December 2001

Composition
Chairperson : Mr. Yasser Dabbagh
Member : Mr. Peter Hrechdakian
Member : Mr. Mansour Jean Hajjar

Purpose
The Board Audit and Ethics Committee supports the Board in exercising the required due care and diligence mainly 
through overseeing and monitoring several areas: the external auditor(s) while ensuring their independence; the 
soundness and integrity of financial reporting and the corresponding internal controls; in addition to abidance by 
the applicable laws, regulations, standards and best practice guidelines. The Committee is also responsible for 
considering the substantial issues raised during the audit course. Furthermore, the Committee is responsible for 
watching over ethics and conduct, being anticipated as fundamental elements by the Board of Directors.

Meetings
Number of meetings held during 2020: 6

Composition
Chairperson : Mr. Walid Genadry
Member : Dr. Riad Obegi
Member : Mr. Samih Saade
Member : Dr. Derek El-Zein

Purpose
The Board Compliance and AML/CFT Committee advises the Board on regulatory and compliance issues, both 
prevailing and emerging, that might affect the Bank’s business activity. The Committee, also, assists the Board 
in monitoring the policies and procedures’ conformity with the applicable local and international laws on fighting 
money laundering and combating terrorist financing, in addition to completing the overseeing functions with 
regards to implementing any required legal obligations.

Meetings
Number of meetings held during 2020: 4

MR. YASSER DABBAGH | Age 44

Independent Board Member
Chairperson of the Board Audit and Ethics Committee
Member of the Board Nominating, Remuneration and Corporate Governance 
Committee
Member of the Board Digitalization Committee

BOARD AUDIT AND ETHICS COMMITTEE

BOARD COMPLIANCE AND AML/CFT COMMITTEE

BOARD COMMITTEES AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2020
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Composition
Chairperson : Mr. Walid Genadry
Member : Mr. Mansour Hajjar
Member : Mr. Yasser Dabbagh
Member : Mr. Gaby Frangieh

Purpose
On behalf of the Board of Directors, the Board Digitalization Committee assists the Board in fulfilling its 
oversight duties on the Bank’s strategy in relation with the anticipated industry changes and clients’ expectations 
created by digital technology, in addition to completing the Board’s oversight commitments with respect to the 
implementation of technology related projects and information security.

Meetings
Number of meetings held during 2020: 4

Composition
Chairperson : Mr. Mansour Jean Hajjar 
Member : Mr. Yasser Dabbagh
Member : Mr. Peter Hrechdakian

Purpose
The Board Nominating, Remuneration and Corporate Governance Committee aims at identifying and nominating 
qualified candidates for election by the shareholders during the General Assembly whenever required or needed. 
The Committee, as well, oversees the Board and the Board Committees annual self-assessment. In addition, the 
Committee is responsible for recommending and monitoring the implementation of the best practices pursuant 
to the Corporate Governance Guidelines. On the other hand, the Committee assists the Board in reviewing the 
remuneration policy, overseeing the performance of the Senior Management, determining the corresponding 
remuneration, and reviewing the arrangements relating to the succession planning.

Meetings
Number of meetings held during 2020: 4

Composition
Chairperson : Dr. Derek El-Zein
Member : Dr. Riad Obegi
Member : Mr. Samih Saade
Member : Ms. Karine Obegi
Member : Sharikat Al Istismarat Al Oropia Lil Sharek Al Aousat Holding s.a.l represented by Mr. Adel Satel

Purpose
On behalf of the Board of Directors, the Board Risk Committee is responsible for identifying the Bank’s risks 
and considering the appropriate strategies to address them. The Committee is liable to oversee the risk appetite 
and risk tolerance associated with the Bank’s business activities through providing an independent and objective 
analysis. The Committee also reviews policies and procedures relating to identifying, evaluating and mitigating 
the Bank’s major risks, in addition to spotting risk management deficiencies and emerging risks. Moreover, 
the Committee is responsible for monitoring the Bank’s abidance by the prevailing laws and regulations which 
also include major legal and regulatory initiatives, while ensuring effective and timely recommendation and 
implementation of corrective actions where and when required.  

Meetings
Number of meetings held during 2020: 4

BOARD DIGITALIZATION COMMITTEEBOARD NOMINATING, REMUNERATION AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

BOARD RISK COMMITTEE
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REMUNERATION POLICY

Banque BEMO is committed to the group motto “Business with Ethics”. Not only we preach Family Spirit in the 
way we live the Bank, but also consider our clients as associates and our staff as partners.

For this purpose, and for many years, the Bank’s “Nominating, Remuneration and Corporate Governance 
Committee” objective has been upgraded to reflect the requirements of the Central Bank as per basic circular 
133 dated August 06, 2014.

Following are extracts of main objectives and functions of the Committee: 

I. Committee Charter
The Committee’s charter has been amended to include the following prerogatives:

I.1  Ensure adherence to:
a. Corporate Governance Guidelines as approved by the Board
b. Anti-Bribery and Corruption Policy
c. Principles of Banking & Financial Operations with the Clients 

  
I.2 Act as remuneration committee for Senior Management as well as for the entire workforce in line with basic  
 circular 133

I.3 Oversee the HR Management practices and systems applied at the Bank and propose enhancement when  
 deemed appropriate

I.4 Oversee the staff annual budget for the following year and suggest enhancements prior to submitting for  
 the Board of Directors for approval along with the global budget

I.5  Evaluate the total granted remunerations and compare against future expected revenues avoiding any likely  
 negative results

I.6 Decide on the compensation, merit increases, performance bonuses, succession planning or replacement  
 of Senior Management

I.7 Prepare remuneration policy and remuneration system, submit to the Board for approval, supervise and  
 ensure the proper implementation, devise a procedure for remuneration related to the entire workforce,  
 ensure that all the bank employees are aware of BDL circulars related to Remunerations, and that  
 remuneration policy is in line with central Bank of Lebanon requirements

I.8 Review and assess the adequacy of the Remuneration policy and Remuneration system and submit  
 proposals for modification, if any, to the Board for approval 

II. Remuneration Policy
Updated to ensure abidance by regulators requirement as well as meeting the Bank strategic orientation such 
as but not limited to:   

II.1 Comprise all levels and categories of employees working in the Bank and its branches abroad, except the  
 Chairman, the Vice Chairman, the Deputy General Managers, the Assistant General Managers and the  
 managers of Key control functions; and ensure proportionality among the remunerations granted to different  
 levels of employees 

II.2 Cover all categories of remunerations, the conditions of granting such remunerations, in order to enhance  
 effective performance and to achieve the purpose for which remunerations are granted

II.3 Make sure that total remunerations granted by the Bank do not affect its current or future capabilities (in the  
 medium and long-terms), nor its financial position and interests

II.4 Determine the remunerations of each employee according to the Bank overall performance and grant  
 remunerations in light of the performance of both the concerned employee and its work unit

II.5  Set the remunerations of employees entrusted with control functions in a way that does not hinder the  
 objective  and  independent  discharge of  their  duties 

II.6 Detail the extra benefits which form an integral part of remunerations and the process of granting them 

II.7 Stipulate the possibility of resorting to claw backs and deferrals, in cases where this possibility can be  
 applied, and to specify the conditions and circumstances of such cases

II.8  Specify the cases and conditions for merging cash remunerations with other benefits

II.9 Ensure adherence to:
a. Corporate Governance Manual as approved by the Board of Directors
b. Basic Circular 133 issued by the Central Bank of Lebanon
c. Anti-Bribery and Corruption Manual
d. Non Compliance Policy

BANQUE BEMO DISCLOSURES AS PER CENTRAL BANK BASIC CIRCULAR 133 
AS PER CENTRAL BANK BASIC CIRCULAR 133 
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III. Elements adopted as basis for remuneration
The merit and measurable performance is the drive of this remuneration system applied to the entire workforce, 
whereby the Bank is keen to:

III.1 Apply the Competencies Management system to determine the fixed remunerations items such as merit  
 increases

III.2 Apply the Performance Management system to determine the variable remunerations of each employee  
 according to the Bank overall performance and to grant these remunerations in light of the performance of  
 both the concerned employee and its work unit

III.3 Have a clear orientation on remuneration structure and underlying granting conditions that enhance effective  
 performance

III.4 Encourage the sense of teamwork by linking the individual and department short term objectives to the  
 overall Bank’s goals and long-term interests

III.5 Align aggregate compensation structure with the Bank’s performance ensuring that it does not affect the  
 Bank’s current and future capacities, nor its financial position or interests  

IV. Items of Fixed and Variable remunerations

IV.1 Fixed
• Basic: The monthly salary for all staff members subject to annual increase based on merit payable sixteen  
 times per year, or else as per regulations
• Allowances: The monthly allowances granted to employees in line with Collective Labor Agreement, Labor  
 Law and regulators requirements 
• Guaranteed Bonus: Replacing the amount of annual salary increase reserved for “F” 
 directors level whose positions necessitate managerial responsibilities on top of the expertise in the field of  
 their activities, and amount reserved to remunerate high performers/professionals and linked to the Bank  
 achievements and objectives
• Representation Allowance: Lump sum amount granted monthly to employees of “E” and “F” grade  
 level, provided it does not exceed 10% of the annual salary of each employee  

IV.2 Variable
• Bonus: Amount paid at the end of the year for individual achievements based 
 on their performance evaluation as per Performance Management process guidelines based on both financial  
 and non-financial criteria
   
• Incentive: Material reward paid against revenues and additional profits generated from activities that are  
 over and above the performance objectives and could be immediate or of long term nature

• Project Bonus: Amount paid in compensation of new initiative or special project that necessitate extraordinary  
 efforts outside the scope of daily activities

REMUNERATION POLICY

 
Our objective is and remains to earn our clients trust and be transparent and fair to earn our colleagues respect.

V. Information related to remuneration (2020)
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Grade specifications from “A” to “F” follow the grading structure of Association of Banks in Lebanon as per the Collective Labor Agreement 



“Hope is the last thing ever lost.”
Italian Proverb

Management 
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BUSINESS REVIEWS

Enough ink was spilled to describe the horrendous and unprecedented events of the year 2020 that plunged 
the Lebanese people in one of the worst social, financial and economic turmoil in the history of all nations in a 
Covid-19 riddled environment that culminated in the 4th of August port blast.

We will dedicate this section to the lessons learned through the heroic resilience of the Lebanese people at the 
image of our capital city Beirut that will rise again.

Against all odds, and contrary to all logic, the collapse of the system(s) translated into the emergence of a 
panoply of creativity and solidarity that enables us, with retrospect, to assert that the “year of hope” sets the 
cornerstone to rebuild on a healthier basis. Individual, collective and private initiatives at all levels and scales 
proved to be the leading streak for the rejuvenation of the country. The private sector in general and each proud 
and honest Lebanese person at their own level took the bull by the horns and more than efficiently replaced the 
rotten to the roots apparatus and corrupt establishment.

To cite but few, the tremendous heroism of the “white blouses” during the corona peak, the heart lifting solidarity 
of the people in the aftermath of the port explosion, the huge mobilization of the diaspora during the medicine 
and medical supplies shortage, reveal if nothing else our resilience in the face of unbearable ordeals and our 
categorical refusal to surrender.

In the corporate world we learned that telecommuting, virtual meetings and distance management may increase 
productivity and enhance the bottom line.

In the middle of this hurricane, Banque BEMO remained steady in its client centric philosophy. We tried, and to a 
large extent succeeded, to sustain our humane approach. We stood by our clients to provide emergency funding 
to carry out repairs to their damaged residences. We remained available throughout the corona pandemic to 
supply them with needed resources. We refused to become paralyzed and continued to welcome new clients on 
board. We increased our CSR initiatives by supporting NGOs and providing them with the necessary platforms. 
We sought beauty in Art to counterbalance the oppressive hideousness of reality and organized the world class 
exhibition “L’ Art Blessé” – A project by Banque BEMO.

Looking ahead, one may only contemplate darker horizons and deeper abysses. However, this is not counting 
the endless resourcefulness, gigantic ambitions, flamboyant creativeness, steel-clad resilience, and tremendous 
faith of the Lebanese people … and of those we have plenty.

We describe year 2020 as “the year of courage”.
Banque BEMO generally and Corporate Banking Department specifically were in need of all the courage to 
overcome this year challenges in every sense.

On one hand, we strived to manage conflicts and tension carried out from year 2019, and on the other, to 
overcome the severe hit of our Head Office at Pasteur – Gemmayze by the “Port of Beirut Explosion”, and handle 
Covid risk issues. 
With sympathy, we stood by our injured team members to recover, and rapidly succeeded in relocating our Head 
Office, and efficiently activated telecommuting to ensure uninterrupted work remotely to keep our staff safe 
towards Covid. 

With all this hard times, Corporate Banking Department management and the professional relationship managers 
team remained focused to recover operation and kept offering full dedicated services to its customers and 
meeting their needs.

The team also continued managing and collecting substandard/doubtful debts, and excelled in opening new 
lending opportunities to existing and new customer, especially those who were hit by the explosion.
In contrary to others, and with courage and faith, Banque BEMO succeeded once again in servicing the 
community, the economy, and consequently the country even in such difficult circumstances.

Over the course of 2020, the Institutions Business Department strengthened its position by tapping and acquiring 
a large market share within the NGO market in the country. Efforts were also geared towards universities and 
schools as well as embassies. The bank participated via a bid launched by three international agencies aiming at 
providing their beneficiaries with electronic payment instruments.

Besides that and in light of the Bank’s overall strategy to support those who were affected by the Port of 
Beirut explosion, the Institutions Business Department facilitated  the activities of the NGOs and provided them 
with client centric services. Those services did not only cover financial issues  but also coaching in legal and 
governance. In addition , the bank contributed  to the social support of the community through the volunteering 
activities organized by the CSR unit.

Our activities during the year have played a major role in strengthening Banque BEMO’s position in the market 
as a friendly bank, especially among NGOs seeking to establish ourselves as the Reference Bank for both local 
and international agencies. 

Looking forward, we intend to continue to keep pace to maintain good practices and preserve the quality of our 
portfolio, including international agencies and municipalities. Primarily we shall continue to closely assist our 
customers in coping with new challenges, until better days prevail.

PRIVATE BANKING CORPORATE BANKING

INSTITUTIONS BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT
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Lebanon has witnessed recurring setbacks for the past two years that was tragically marked on the 4th of August 
by the explosion of a large amount of ammonium nitrate stored at the Port of Beirut causing the death of 218 
people and about 7,000 injuries, notwithstanding the massive damage in properties.

Following this disastrous event, FID took the initiative and developed a product made specific to clients and 
non-clients who had their properties smashed in the blast and wished to reconstruct them. The product was 
branded the Fast Track loan and entailed of an advance at low rate for a period of 5 years. The latter was offered 
in parallel to the loan of the Central Bank of Lebanon under circular 152. FID handled all submitted forms, met 
with applicants and completed the files in minimum processing time.  

At Banque BEMO, we strongly believe that Beirut will rise again as this year was dedicated to the “Year of 
Courage”.

The Lebanese people have faced and met their share of challenges over history but 2020 was a year like no other 
as the country suffered an unparalleled social, economic and financial crises during a period of a global pandemic 
that suddenly and swiftly disrupted the lives of people in virtually every country, industry, company, community 
and family in the world.  By the end of the year, the country’s crisis was deepened by the 4th of August Beirut 
Port explosion that left the city and its people in total despair and apprehension over the present and future of 
their children, families and beloved country. 

Facing the 2020 challenges, the bank’s first response was to act swiftly to safeguard the health of its employees 
and clients and to guarantee continuity of services. Maximum use was made of teleworking and flexible teams, 
as well as reorganizing workplaces and ensuring they were safe. The bank was able to successfully maintain a 
high level of service to its clients thanks to the expertise and commitment of its employees combined with the 
efforts and investments were made in recent years on the digital transformation front.

Facing an unprecedented situation after the 4th of August explosion, and despite being directly affected by the 
explosion in its several premises, the bank opted to stand firm by its Client Centric approach and refused but to 
be close to the Lebanese people in general, and to its clients in particular. In doing so, the bank supported the 
different NGOs and initiatives, funded home repairs and collected donations for students and schools that were 
heavily affected by the explosion. 

Things have undoubtedly changed as the unprecedented challenges have clearly re-shaped the world, our 
country, the banking sector and our lines of businesses. However, the Lebanese people proved yet again their 
capability to survive and demonstrated a model of solidarity, resilience and rigidity that astonished the whole 
world. The challenges were remarkable, but the department’s experience, expertise and vibrant nature allowed 
it to mould its character and identity, and channel its activities and approaches towards establishing a better 
understanding of the clients’ new and continuously changing needs and objectives. The above, along with years 
of the department’s commitment to its “personalized touch with the clients” approach, enabled us to pave our 
way in time of extreme uncertainties. Looking forward, and despite the obvious dimness, we continue to believe 
that the Lebanese people, equipped by their ambitions, strengths, tolerance, solidarity and creativity, will create 
the foundation for the “Phoenix” to rise again.

FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS TREASURY AND CAPITAL MARKETS
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In order to ensure the efficiency and satisfaction of employees with this new practice, a survey was conducted 
in this respect and resulted a total of approximately 96% among the 148 employees* who participated that 
“telecommuting is a good tool to be maintained as a new working model being on shift basis or not”.

* (148 employees responded out of 231 employees being the total population at June 2020)

In addition, the HR Management organized virtual sessions related to Corona-virus safety measures aiming at 
increasing awareness on health and well-being to cope with the pandemic challenges. We introduced the “Health 
and Well-being Calendar” as a new section on the Bank digital learning platform E-Motive and downloaded 
specific health awareness topic that employees can access on monthly basis including related articles, tips and 
advices.

Learning and Development: Facilitating and promoting constant trainings

In order to keep-up our learning pace and following the full lockdown at the country, the HR Management placed 
at the disposal of employees’ different learnings topics held digitally, out of which some were organized internally 
by the Bank and other with third parties.

E-Motive: BEMO E-Learning Solution

Similarly to previous years and in line with our commitment to employees’ personal development and career 
growth, we assigned to each employee a “Path” on our E-motive platform including video casts, action tips, 
essentials, and other learning material, which focuses on the need of one major competency based on the 
competencies management gap analysis results.

Moreover, the “Points Accumulation Reward” practice was implemented and accordingly the HRM rewarded 
9 employees for the great effort exerted and time dedicated to invest in their own development, on top of the 
learning path assigned to them.
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Year 2020, considered as year of Courage, was marked by a pandemic, an economic pressure, and the tragic 
explosion of August 4th.
Although the crisis hit the whole country, it affected more specifically the banking sector.
Our challenge at Operations Management was to maintain our operational Excellence, keep our resilience level 
and reinvent ourselves in order to stay up to our client’s expectations while facing an existential disruption.

Since we demonstrated a high level of resilience, we were able to quickly adapt to this new normal chaotic 
situation.

In terms of the pandemic, we successfully implemented our emergency plans and took additional precautionary 
measures to reinforce our capabilities and continue activities with no disruption since operations require groups 
to be gathered. For that we divided Operations workforce into three independent working clusters, with no 
contact among others, working from different premises. This is where our flexibility framework paid off as we 
were able to maintain our level of services to our clients.

In terms of the economic pressure, we acted rapidly to smooth the negative economic impact on our clients. We 
answered their needs promptly and stood by them, to the best of our abilities, in the worst times.  

After the tragic blast of August 4th, our premises were destructed. Nevertheless, in spite of the chaotic and 
unstable situation we were facing and in spite of the injuries that were inflicted on some of our team members, 
the Operations Management was able to resume work from alternate sites without any disruption.

Despite all the instabilities encountered during the year 2020, we managed to keep our error rate next to zero 
and met our clients’ expectations.

All that said, it seems that we have reached rock bottom. However, the bright side of this situation is that once 
we’ve hit rock bottom, the only place to go is up.

Introduction: The year of resilience

The COVID-19 pandemic has affected the whole world and called for rapid and well-considered actions to maintain 
business continuity. During this year and in response of the fast changes, the HR Management department was 
committed to shape its activities in  new and flexible manner to engage and motivate employees while applying 
all measures needed for a safe workplace.

Covid-19: Safety at Work

In coordination with other departments, the HR Management assisted in ensuring a safe and healthful work 
environment for all employees by encouraging the telecommuting as an agile and flexible approach for keeping 
the business running.

OPERATIONS MANAGEMENT

HUMAN RESOURCES MANAGEMENT

DEPLOYED RESOURCES
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The challenges encountered at the financial and political levels during the year 2020 coupled with the deviations 
in the economic activity, due to the spread of the Covid-19 pandemic, compelled the Internal Audit to revise its 
annual Audit Plan, in order to re-prioritize its audit engagements.
In fact, to cope with the constraints faced at the workplace and local environment, the Internal Audit tailored its 
audit approach and scope to specific needs; and introduced new virtual ways for conducting its daily work and 
engagements. 
As such, most of the reviews were performed remotely with high reliance on the data analytics similarly to the 
meetings and discussions with auditees, which were mostly conducted through video conferencing.

Moreover, with the rise of ethical dilemmas amidst the current instability – at a local and international scale – 
the Ethics Ambassador, in collaboration with the Internal Audit Department, hosted online ethics awareness 
sessions to the Bank’s employees and interns. The aim is to promote the importance of Ethics during crisis, to 
reinforce the application of related codes and policies and to preserve an ethical environment at the Bank. 

INTERNAL AUDIT

The year 2020 will be remembered as one of the most challenging years Lebanon had to endure in its recent 
history;  noting that the financial and banking sector is one of the industries that were most affected by the several 
crises faced. It took us at Banque BEMO a proactive approach from a multi-disciplinary team working hand in 
hand under the guidance of a Steering Committee involving members of the Board and Senior Management to 
safely navigate through this unprecedented period of uncertainty.

Managing the increased exposure to major and various risk types from Liquidity risk, to Operational Risk and 
Credit Risk was the Bank’s main focus and concern during 2020 – this was completed successfully thanks to a 
solid Risk Management Framework, an efficient decision making process that was immediately put in place and 
a dedicated team committed to implementing best practices while adapting to new risk mitigating measures.
We are expecting additional challenges  for the coming period where we will be undertaking to preserve what 
was previously built and further strengthening and solidifying the Bank’ risk profile, ensuring the best interest of 
all our stakeholders is served and the Bank’s continuity is secured.

RISK MANAGEMENT

KEY CONTROL FUNCTIONS

Digital Internship Program: Investing in new blood

Since internships are important for university students and can change the trajectories of their professional lives, 
canceling our internship programs was not an option. 

Consequently and despite the pandemic situation, the HR Management moved forward with the internship 
program and developed a new virtual version making Banque BEMO one of the first banks in Lebanon who 
introduced the Digital Internship Program.
 
Our program intended at providing insight on the banking activities and included presentations followed by 
projects in different business lines.

37 interns were registered for our virtual internship program mainly referred by our clients, employees and top 
universities among them 5 students were offered temporary on-site projects. 

Recruitment: 2020 strategy 

In line with every change or strategic development, the HR Management department has a vital role in placing 
right employees at the right place to cope with the change and provide better service to our clients.

Accordingly, 21 new employees across several departments were hired in 2020 in addition to 9 employees who 
were transferred internally to other departments.

All employees being newly hired or transferred from a department to another are subject to a close follow-up 
being through the induction program or appraisals requests in order to ensure their proper integration. 

Banque BEMO aims to foster a strong sense of corporate responsibility among its shareholders, its employees, 
clients and the community, and to create long term and sustainable value. This is further formalized in decisions 
by the Board of Directors showing particular awareness on the importance of contributing to the well-being of 
the community, the development of art and culture, the maintained spirit of solidarity and the significance of 
being an environment friendly organization that helps preserve natural resources and healthy surroundings.
 
For the fourth consecutive year, Banque BEMO confirmed the renewal of its continued support and commitment 
to the Ten Principles of the United Nations Global Compact in the areas of Human Rights, Labor, Environment 
and Anti-Corruption; and to show progress on the Sustainable Development Goals related to Good Health and 
Well-being (SDG 3), Quality Education (SDG 4), Decent Work & Economic Growth (SDG 8), and Climate Action 
(SDG 13). 
 
Despite the unprecedented economic crisis that impacted negatively the whole country and the banking sector, 
The Bank continued and reinforced its efforts to meet its duties of a responsible Bank that supports the welfare 
of all stakeholders. The Corporate Social Responsibility is an obligation and a management objective in line with 
the Bank’s vision, mission and culture.
 

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

Finally, Banque BEMO has set the following statement for the next year “2021 is the Year of Faith; faith in 
ourselves, in each other, in our country and in the future” and this is expanded to its continued commitment to 
the corporate responsibility vital journey.

Please refer to the Communication on Progress 2021, published on the Bank’s website and detailing all the 
initiatives, the progress made, and the measures undertaken to live up to the responsibilities, as well as the 
ongoing commitment to transparent and open non-financial disclosure.
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FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE ANALYSIS

The discussion and analysis that follows covers the consolidated performance of Banque BEMO SAL in 2020, 
based on the audited consolidated financial statements of the Bank as at and for the fiscal years ended December 
31, 2020 and December 31, 2019. The Bank’s consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance 
with the general accounting plan for banks in Lebanon and the regulations of the Central Bank of Lebanon and 
the Banking Control Commission, and include the results of the Bank and its consolidated subsidiaries BEMO 
Securitization SAL and Depository & Custody Company SAL. Where appropriate in the context, references to the 
Bank include the Bank and such consolidated subsidiaries.

All figures are presented in Lebanese Pounds, unless specifically otherwise stated. In each case where the 
US Dollar (USD) currency has been used, the relevant rate for both balance sheet data and income statement 
data was LBP 1,507.5 per USD 1.00, as, throughout the periods covered in this section, the Central Bank has 
maintained its policy of pegging the value of the Lebanese Pound to the U.S. Dollar at a fixed rate of LBP 
1507.5 per USD 1.00. References to foreign currency translation differences or changes reflect the impact of the 
movement of functional currencies in countries of presence against the US Dollar.
Lebanese Banking sector information has been derived from Association of Lebanese Banks reports and data, 
Bankdata Financial Services WLL and the Bank’s internal sources. 

The Bank holds its accounts in Lebanese Pounds (LBP) in accordance with regulatory requirements.
Due to the difficulty in obtaining foreign currencies as a result of the deterioration in the economic situation 
pursuant to the default of the Lebanese Government on paying its outstanding external debt, a parallel market to 
the official rate of 1,507.5 USD/LBP has emerged, which differs significantly from the latter. 
In addition, the Central Bank of Lebanon introduced the Platform Rate (Sayrafa) as well as the USD/LBP bank 
withdrawal rate where the latter rates can be used in particular circumstances and for specific requests. 
In its preparation of the financial statements and subsequent analysis included, the Bank strictly abided to the 
laid down regulatory standards as set by the Central Bank of Lebanon and pertaining to the constitution of 
provisions, calculation of solvency requirements and use of the official rate set at 1,507.5 USD/LBP in terms of 
calculating the equivalent in Lebanese Pounds (LBP).

The Bank’s consolidated assets increased by 36.11% as at December 31, 2020 in comparison to December 
31, 2019 noting that during the same period and according to data released by BDL, total assets falloff of the 
Lebanese Banking Sector reached 13.26%. BEMO’s consolidated Total assets by end of 2020 reached LBP 
3,484,895 million (US$ 2,311.70 million) as compared to LBP 2,560,311 million (US$ 1,698.38 million)as at 
December 31, 2019 increasing by LBP 924,584 million (US$ 613.32 million).

I. FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE ANALYSIS 

Banque BEMO places high importance on maintaining a strong compliance culture when carrying out its 
activities, while holding itself to highest standards and values.  The Bank is committed to adhere to all applicable 
international and local laws and regulations and to manage compliance risks responsibly. The Bank has an 
independent compliance function in place that complies with Banque du Liban Circular No 128 dated 12/01/2013. 
The Compliance department preserves its ISO 9001:2015 certification on “compliance with law and regulations”. 
Along with that, internal and external auditors inspect periodically the compliance and anti-money laundering 
measures. 

The year 2020 has more than ever unveiled challenges to the Compliance department. Facing these challenges, 
the department enforced its standards and persevered to adhere to all applicable international and local laws and 
regulations. In line with its commitment to the global effort for fighting money laundering and terrorist financing, 
the scrupulous approach of Banque BEMO to combat money laundering practices intensified especially with the 
new market challenges and disruptions that emerged as a result of parallel currency markets.

A robust program to comply with domestic and international tax practices as well as a comprehensive sanction 
compliance program are in place, to ensure strict abidance by all the local and international requirements.
The AML/CFT Unit, among its many functions and activities, consists of overseeing customer due diligence, 
enhanced due diligence, suspicious and prohibited transaction monitoring and reporting. The unit has a thorough 
approach concerning customer on boarding, due diligence, know you customer (KYC), and risk classification 
standards. It is to be noted that all business relationships are subject to the approval of the “Customer 
Acceptance Committee”. Every year the AML/CFT Policies and Procedures are updated to reflect changes in 
laws and regulations, products, and organizational changes. 

Adding to that, employees are extensively trained and given continuous AML/CFT Compliance awareness 
sessions to be acquainted to the latest developments in money laundering and terrorist financing trends in order 
to protect the Bank and its stakeholders from the concealment of illicit funds.

On another hand, the Legal Compliance Unit (LCU) ensures that all the Bank’s departments are aware of and 
follow all applicable laws and regulations including data protection legislation, internal policies and procedures 
and best business practices. The LCU scrupulously monitors that all statutory and regulatory requirements are 
duly implemented in the bank’s systems, processes, procedures and other governance documents. The LCU is 
also in charge of identifying and preventing legal risks, and taking the required measures to mitigate these risks, 
in order to avoid statutory and regulatory sanctions, financial losses, and reputational damages.

COMPLIANCE
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Loan Portfolio

The Bank’s loans and advances to customers (including related parties) were equivalent to LBP 595,022 million 
(US$ 394.71 million) as at December 31, 2020 falling from LBP 807,147 million (US$ 535.42 million) as at 
December 31, 2019 reflecting a year-on-year decrease of 26.28%. 

Analysis of the Loan Portfolio by type of Borrower and Loan Classification (including related parties)

The following table sets forth the breakdown of the bank’s loans (Gross), by classification, as at December 31, 
2020 and 2019:

LBP Million  

Variation

Regular Loans 543,458 760,464 -28.54%

Substandard & Doubtful Loans 114,274 82,013 39.35%

Accrued Interest receivable 143 1,644 -91.30%

Total gross loans 657,875 844,121 -22.06%

 

Expected Credit Losses (ECL) on Regular Loans (20,390) (8,966) 127.41%

ECL / Substandard & Doubtful Loans (42,463) (28,008) 51.61%

Total net loans 595,022 807,147 -26.28%

ECL on Regular loans/ Regular loans (%) 3.75 1.18

ECL on Subst. & Doubtful loans/Subst. & Doubtful loans 37.16 34.15

Net Subst. & Doubtful loans / Total Net loans (%) 12.07 6.69

2020 2019 20-19

Cash, compulsory reserve and central banks constitute the largest uses of funds in terms of total assets where 
their share stood at 63.70% in 2020 coming up from 36.40% in 2019 followed by Loans and advances to 
customers that constituted 17.07% of total assets in 2020 (31.53% in 2019). Financial assets and Investment 
securities constituted 12.36% in 2020 (18.02% in 2019). Deposits with Banks and Financial Institutions reached 
3.11% of total assets in 2020 as compared to 5.61% in 2019. The economic crisis is still affecting the distribution 
of the balance sheet whereas loans to customers are declining on the expense of Cash, Reserve & central banks. 

Loans and advances to customers (including related parties) decreased by 26.28% to read LBP 595,022 million 
(US$ 394.71 million) as at December 31, 2020 as compared to LBP 807,147 million (US$ 535.42 million) as at 
December 31, 2019. Deposits with banks and financial institutions amounted to LBP 108,444 million (US$ 71.94 
million) in 2020 as compared LBP 143,731 million (US$ 95.34 million) in 2019. Other assets were equivalent to 
LBP 108,403 million (US$ 71.91 million) in 2020 as compared to LBP 125,224 million (US$ 83.07 million) in 2019. 
The decline is due to the reclassification of the investment in BBSF to an investment at fair value through other 
comprehensive income, where as of December 31, 2020 the Group no longer exercise any significant influence 
on its investee as a result of the exit from both direct and indirect representation of the Board of Directors of 
the investee.

LBP Million  

Change

Cash, compulsory reserve and central banks 2,219,932 931,979 138.20%

Deposits with banks and financial institutions 108,444 143,731 -24.55%

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 10,881 70,528 -84.57%

Loans and advances to customers* 595,022 807,147 -26.28%

Investment securities and assets under leverage 430,655 461,426 -6.67%

Bank acceptances 11,558 20,276 -43.00%

Other assets and investment in associates 108,403 125,224 -13.43%

Total Assets 3,484,895 2,560,311 36.11%

Customer Deposits* 2,602,625 1,829,355 42.27%

Engagement by acceptances 11,585 20,323 -43.00%

Deposits and borrowings from banks and financial institutions and 
leverage arrangements

411,367 332,638 23.7%

Subordinated Bonds 91,590 90,450 1.26%

Other Liabilities 72,455 40,553 78.66%

Total Liabilities 3,189,622 2,313,319 37.87%

Total Shareholders’ Equity 295,273 246,992 19.55%

Total Liabilities & Equity 3,484,895 2,560,311 36.11%

Net Income (Loss) for the Year 1,652 -12,353 N/A

2020 2019 20-19

Major Balance Sheet Items

*Loans and advances to customers as well as customer deposits include related parties accounts.
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Total Loans 2020
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The Bank seeks to diversify the credit risk of its loan portfolio by distributing loans among the different sectors of 
the economy, with a focus on sectors that are considered to be representing acceptable risks. As at December 31, 
2020, up to 42.87% of the loans are extended to businesses with trading activities in various consumer products, 
18.60% to manufacturing, 17.42% to real estate development (including prime contractors of private residential 
and commercial buildings duly covered  by first degree mortgages and assignment of project proceeds), and the 
remaining 21.11% to other economic sectors.  

With respect to the Lebanese Banking Sector, and as per the Central Bank’s December 2020 Economic Bulletin, 
31.4% of the credits are extended to trade and services activities, 10.1% to manufacturing, 14.7% to real estate 
development and 43.8% to other economic sectors (including individuals) as at December 31, 2020. The main 
difference between the Bank and the sector is the Bank’s minimal share related to retail/individual lending as it 
does not fall under the Bank’s Target Market Criteria. 

Analysis of the Loan Portfolio by Economic Sector

The following table sets forth the breakdown of the Bank’s loan portfolio by economic sector as at December 31, 
2020 and 2019 (excluding provisions for credit losses provision for loan impairment):

The Bank’s loan portfolio is characterized by a high level of dollarization matching the currency composition of the 
sources of funds. In December 31, 2020, 96.07% of total loans were denominated in foreign currencies versus 
96.75% in December 31, 2019 while the Lebanese banking sector average reached 59.50% as at December 31, 
2020 (as per the figures released by the Association of Banks in Lebanon & BDL’s December 2020 Economic 
Bulletin).  

Analysis of the Loan Portfolio by Currency 

The following table sets forth the breakdown of the Bank’s loan portfolio by currency as at December 31, 2020 
and 2019:

Loans and advances to customers LBP (million) US$ (mln) Euro (mln) Other 
(mln)

As at December 31, 2020 (C/V in LBP) 23,371 487,562 84,002 87

As at December 31, 2019 (C/V in LBP) 26,194 617,749 158,706 4,498
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The Bank’s conservative and prudent credit policy as well as the continuous monitoring of the Bank’s asset 
quality resulted in ameliorating the ratio of “Net Subst. & Bad loans / Total Net loans” at a low of 12.07% by 
the end of 2020 as compared to 6.69% in 2019 as highlighted in the table above despite the economic drastic 
situation. In 2020, the ECL on substandard and bad loans exceeded one third of the substandard and bad loans. 
It is to be noted that on top of existing provisions, such facilities are secured by prime collateral where necessary 
foreclosures and liquidations are being applied. 

The Bank’s substandard and doubtful loans and due to the financial crisis, witnessed an increase by 39.34% 
amounted to LBP 114,274 million (US$ 75.80 million) as at December 31, 2020 compared LBP 82,013 million 
(US$ 54.40 million) as at December 31, 2019. Provision for expected credit losses on Substandard & Doubtful 
Loans amounted to LBP 42,463 (US$ 28.17 mln) as at December 31, 2020, compared to LBP 28,008mln (US$ 
18.58 mln) as at December 31, 2019 reflecting an increase of 51.61%. The coverage ratio (ECL/Substandard & 
Doubtful loans) for 2020 was equivalent to 37.16% as compared to 34.15% for 2019. Substandard & Doubtful 
Loans net of provision allowance reached LBP 71,811 million (US$ 47.64 million) at the end of 2020 as compared 
to LBP 54,005 million (US$ 35.82 million) at the end of 2019, reflecting a 32.97% year-on-year increase. 
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The total loan portfolio is spread over 1,150 clients, with 16.17% of the clients covering 92.11% of the loan 
portfolio as at December 31, 2020.  The Bank manages the diversification of its portfolio to avoid undue credit 
risk concentrations. 

Industry and sectorial analyses are also incorporated within the overall credit risk management framework. In 
this respect, the Bank seeks to continually update lending and financing guidelines based on periodic reviews 
and updates of industry and sectorial risk factors and economic outlooks. This facilitates the better management 
of credit concentration risks.

Analysis of the Loan Portfolio by Counterparty type

The following table sets forth below the outstanding loan balances by counterparty type as at December 31, 
2020 and 2019 (carrying amount net of provision for expected credit loss):

Building on the Bank’s strategic direction to mainly service prime corporations (locally & regionally) – mainly top 
ranked tiers in each respective industry – the table above is an indication of the Target Market Criteria of client 
selection whereby more than 76% of the overall Loans & Advances exposure is allocated to corporate customers 
as at December 31, 2020. 

LBP Million  
Variation Share of 

Total Loans

Counterparty type 2020 2019 20-19 2020

Performing Retail customers – stages 1 & 2: 67,327 84,253 -20.09% 11.32%

   - Housing Loans 37,904 51,109 -25.84% 6.37%

   - Personal loans 7,656 6,060 26.34% 1.29%

   - Overdrafts 21,096 23,929 -11.84% 3.55%

   - Other 671 3,155 -78.73% 0.11%

Performing corporate customers – stages 1 &2: 455,741 667,245 -31.70% 76.59%

   - Large enterprises 306,565 407,971 -24.86% 51.52%

   - Small and medium enterprises. 149,176 259,274 -42.46% 25.07%

Non-performing loans – stage 3: 71,811 54,005 32.97% 12.07%

   - Substandard 61,746 47,202 30.81% 10.38%

   - Bad & Doubtful 10,065 6,803 47.95% 1.69%

Accrued interest receivable 143 1,644 -91.30% 0.02%

Total 595,022 807,147 -26.28% 100%

Net Carrying amount

LBP Million

Maturity 2020 2019 20-19 2020 2019

Accounts with no maturity 439,605 581,749 -24.43% 73.88% 72.07%

Up to 3 months 142,716 217,491 -34.38% 23.98% 26.95%

3 to 12 months. 966 6,613 -85.39% 0.16% 0.82%

12 months and above. 11,735 1,294 806.88% 1.97% 0.16%

Total 595,022 807,147 -26.28% 100% 100%

Bracket # of 
Clients

% to 
Total 

Clients

LBP 
million

% to Total  
Loans

# of 
Clients

% to Total 
Clients

LBP 
million

% to 
Total  

Loans

Less than LL 500 
mln*..

964 83.83% 51,891 7.89% 814 75.09% 61,487 7.30%

From LL 500 mln – LL 
5 bln..

153 13.30% 298,527 45.39% 233 21.50% 368,203 43.70%

Over LL 5.0 bln... 33 2.87% 307,313 46.72% 37 3.41% 412,787 49.00%

Total... 1,150 100.0% 657,731 100.0% 1,084 100.0% 842,477 100.0%

Similar to the current market practice in Lebanon, the major portion of the Bank’s loan portfolio is of short-
term nature (overdrafts), with maturities rarely exceeding the 12 months period reflecting a credit management 
strategy that aims at matching the maturities of the Bank’s sources of funds and its corresponding uses of funds, 
while maintaining adequate levels of liquidity. It is to be noted that the raise of loans above 1 year is related to 
acceptances.

Additionally, 25% of loans granted by the Bank carry floating interest rates with minimum floor rates applied 
mitigating the bank’s exposure to interest rate risk. 

Analysis of the Loan Portfolio by Size (excluding collective provision for credit losses and accrued interest 
and provision for credit losses)

The following table sets forth below classifies the outstanding loan balances by size as at December 31, 2020 
and 2019:

Analysis of the Loan Portfolio by Maturity

The following table sets forth the breakdown of the Bank’s loan portfolio by maturity as at December 31, 2020 
and 2019: 

Variation Share

20192020Outstanding Loan Balance

*including numerous incidental debtor accounts
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As per the breakdown of the above table, as at December 31, 2020, the main concentration in terms of the Loan 
Portfolio is in Lebanon where 98.46% of loans and advances are granted. 

The following tables sets forth the breakdown of the Bank’s investment securities portfolio at amortized cost as 
at December 31, 2020 and 2019: 

Financial assets held at Amortized Cost:

Total Financial Assets held at Amortized Cost were equivalent to LBP 411,354 million (US$ 272.87 million) for the 
year 2020 compared to LBP 423,273 million (US$ 280.78 million) for the year 2019 decreasing by 2.82% year-
on-year. 36.82% of the latter assets are investments in Lebanese Treasury Bills and Government Bonds, while 
65.39% are investments with the Central Bank of Lebanon (Certificates of Deposits) at the end of 2020. Total 
financial assets held at Amortized Cost represented respectively 11.80% and 16.53% of total assets at the end 
of 2020 and 2019.

With respect to the currency composition of Financial Assets held at Amortized Cost, the latter was as follows 
as at December 31, 2020 and 2019:

The graph above reveals that the share of Foreign Currency Base Accounts accounted for 77.16% of total financial 
assets held at Amortized Cost in 2020 compared to 63.65% at the end of 2019. In comparison, the share of LBP 
Base Accounts Decreased to 22.84% in 2020 coming from 36.35% by the end of 2019.

(LBP Million) 2020 Share 2019 Share

Lebanese treasury bills 32,551 7.91% 84,701 20.01%

Lebanese government bonds 118,924 28.91% 99,624 23.54%

Certificate of deposit issued by Central Bank 268,971 65.39% 224,266 52.98%

Corporate Bonds 4,467 1.09% 20,596 4.87%

Accrued interest receivable 3,798 0.92% 6,827 1.61%

Provision for expected credit losses -17,357 -4.22% -12,741 -3.01%

Total Financial Assets held at Amortized Cost 411,354 100% 423,273 100%
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The chart above shows that the bank is still maintaining adequate coverage on loans and advances extended to 
customers, where total collateral/total net loans represent 31.88% in 2020 versus 33.19% in 2019.

Distribution of Loan Portfolio by Geographical Area

The following Graph shows the distribution of the Bank’s Loan Portfolio by geographic area as at December 31, 
2020 & 2019:

Collateralization of Loans 

The following table sets forth the breakdown of the fair value of collateral held by the Bank covering the performing 
loans and advances granted to customers as at December 31, 2020 and 2019:

Total Loans 2020

LBP (million)

US$ (million)

Euro (million)

Other (million)

82%

14%

4%0%

Total Loans 2019

LBP (million)

US$ (million)

Euro (million)

Other (million)

77%

1%

20%

3%

Collateralization of Loans 

Analysis of the Loan Portfolio by Economic Sector
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Customers’ Deposits in Lebanese Pounds accounted for only 7.89% of total deposits as of December 31, 2020, 
with the remaining balance being in foreign currency deposits. Such an allocation, coupled with the relatively 
lower interest rates on foreign currency deposits resulted in an acceptable average cost of funds. 

The average cost of funds on customers’ deposits at amortized cost (including related party deposits) during the 
last 3 years was as follows:

Customers’ Deposits by Size

The following table sets forth the Bank’s customers deposits by size as at December 31, 2020 and 2019: 

Customers’ Deposits by Maturity

The following table sets forth the distribution of the Bank’s customers’ deposits by initial stated maturity as at 
December 31, 2020 and 2019:

Year Average Rate LBP (%) Average rate FCY (%)

2020 4.85 2.11

2019 9.02 5.03

2018 7.43 4.40

By size in LBP 
million

Amount % % to Total 
No. of 

customers

Amount % % to Total 
No. of 

customers

LBP 
million

% to 
Total  

Loans

< 200 million.. 311,991 11.99 72.05 165,180 9.03 72.05 61,487 7.30%

200 million – 1.50 
Billion..

1,165,448 44.78 23.10 645,607 35.29 23.10 368,203 43.70%

Over 1.5 Billion. 1,125,186 43.23 4.85 1,018,568 55.68 4.85 412,787 49.00%

Total 2,602,625 100% 100% 1,829,355 100% 100% 842,477 100.0%

20192020

Maturity 2020 % 2019 %

Accounts with no maturity. 1,436,711 55.20 536,075 29.30

Up to 3 months.. 982,157 37,74 802,712 43.88

3 to 12 months 115,901 4.45 333,303 18.22

12 months and above. 67,856 2.61 157,265 8.60

Total 2,602,625 100% 1,829,355 100%

The Bank’s funding resources continue to be mainly driven by customers’ deposits accounting for 74.68% of the 
Bank’s total liabilities and shareholders’ equity at December 31, 2020, compared to 71.45%  at December 31, 
2019 while the remaining are accounted for by bank deposits 11.80%, subordinated debt 2.63%, other liabilities 
& Acceptances 2.41% and shareholders’ equity 8.48%. 

Time Deposits represent the largest portion of the Bank’s deposits, owing to the private and corporates that are 
selected by the nature of the banking operations and the business model of the Bank. 
The following graph depicts the breakdown of the Bank’s Customers’ Deposits by currency as at December 31, 
2020 and 2019:
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It is to be noted that the bank has documented an investment policy approved and reviewed regularly by ALCO 
and the Board of Directors detailing the investment strategy and subsequent asset allocation and limits in line 
with the Supervisory Authorities prerogatives.
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Key regulatory changes

Regulatory ECL for other exposures remain 
unchanged, i.e. exposures in foreign currency with 
BDL 1.89%; exposures in Lebanese Pounds with BDL 
and Lebanese treasury bills in Lebanese Pounds 0%.

By February 28, 2021 (extended), banks should 
complete a 20% increase of the common equity tier 
I capital as at December 31, 2018 through issuing 
new foreign currency capital instruments as well as 
other approaches that meet the criteria for inclusion 
as regulatory capital. The BDL Central Council may 
consider for banks to complete 50% of this capital 
increase through transfer of real estate by the 
shareholders, provided these a liquidated within 5 
years.

Banks can include the revaluation surplus of real 
estate properties in Common Equity Tier I capital 
instead of in Tier II, subject to BDL approval on the 
revaluation. The deadline set by the regulator for the 
revaluation of real estate is December 31, 2021.

Banks should refrain from dividend distribution, 
should capital adequacy ratios fall below 7% for 
common equity Tier I ratio; 10% for tier I ratio; and 
12% for total capital ratio. Furthermore, if the capital 
conservation buffer on common equity falls below 
2.5% of risk weighted assets during 2020 and 2021, 
banks should rebuild the gap by end of 2024, by a 
minimum of 0.75% per year, starting 2022 years 
according to an approved plan by the Banking Control 
Commission of Lebanon. 

As discussed in Note 26, the Bank’s Extraordinary 
General Assembly of shareholders held on March 
2, 2020 & November 30, 2020 called the required 
20% Equity increase in the form of additional cash 
contribution from shareholders for the amount of 
USD27million (LBP41.16billion).
Up to December 31, 2020, the Bank’s shareholders 
secured USD27million (LBP41.16billion) in the form of 
cash contribution of which:
(i) USD14.3million (LBP21.6billion) was approved by  
 BDL and included in the Equity 
(ii) USD12.9million (LBP19.5billion) is still pending  
 BDL approval .

During 2020, the Group did not reevaluate its real 
estate properties and no new revaluation surplus 
were considered in the Group’s equity. However, its 
existing approved revaluation surplus of real estate 
properties for LBP16.9billion was included in the 
Group’s Common Tier I as at December 31, 2020 
which was included in Tier II for LBP8.9billion as at 
December 31, 2019.
• No dividends were distributed during the year.
• The Group did not draw down its capital  
 conservation buffer as at December 31, 2020.

Short-term deposits with maturities up to 3 months and accounts with no maturity accounted for around 93% of 
total customers’ deposits while deposits with maturities of up to 12 months exceeded 97% of total customers’ 
deposits as at December 31, 2020. 

Capital and Capital Adequacy

Minimum capital requirements:

The adequacy of the group’s capital is monitored using, among other measures, the rules and ratios established 
by the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (BIS rules/ratios) as adopted by the Central Bank of Lebanon, 
which is the lead supervisor of the Group.

The following are the applicable regulatory capital ratios:

SCOPE OF APPLICATION OF CENTRAL BANK CAPITAL ADEQUACY CALCULATION

The Central Bank of Lebanon issued intermediary circular No.567 dated August 26, 2020 introducing several 
changes in the calculation of the regulatory capital adequacy ratios. These key changes are discussed below 
along with the Group’s compliance thereto:

Key regulatory changes

Common Tier 1 
Capital Ratio

Tier 1 Capital 
Ratio

Total Capital 
Ratio

As at December 31, 2019 and 2020

Minimum required capital ratios 4.50% 6.00% 8.00%

With the full capital conservation buffer of 2.5% 7.00% 8.50% 10.50%

Increasing the regulatory ECL on Lebanese 
government bonds in foreign currency from 9.45% to 
45% and allowing the constitution of the regulatory 
ECL progressively over a period of five years starting 
from 2020,  noting that the BDL Central Council may 
accept to extend the term to ten years for banks that 
manage to complete the 20% cash contribution to 
capital before December 31, 2020.

The Group applied the following ECL levels on 
exposures to Lebanese sovereign and Central Bank in 
these financial statements as at December 31, 2020: 
- Central Bank exposures in foreign currencies:  
 1.01%
- Central Bank exposures in Lebanese Pound: 0%
- Sovereign exposures in foreign currencies: 19.62%
- Sovereign exposures in Lebanese Pound: 0% 
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Risk Weighted Assets composition: 

The Capital Adequacy measurement after application of corresponding risk weights based on the aforementioned 
approaches is detailed in the following table:

Capital Adequacy

(LBP million) 2020 2019

Credit Risk Weighted Assets – Standardized Approach 2,768,628 2,446,545
  Sovereign Risk 1,922,486 1,353,238

  Banks Risk. 31,316 44,481

  Public Sector Entities 24 18

  Loans to Corporate Clients 323,611 459,385

  Loans to SMEs 132,134 221,019

  Other Retail Loans 21,324 31,066

  Residential Loans. 11,282 14,090

  Commercial Real Estate Loans 98,604 123,846

  Securitization 2,353 20,088

  Non-Performing Loans 67,095 44,055

  Other Assets 158,490 135,260

Market Risk Weighted Assets – Standard 
Measurement Approach

26,879 27,164

   Interest Rate Risk (Trading Book) 206 3,979

   Equity Price Risk (Trading Book) 21,068 20,060

   FX Risk. 5,605 3,125

   Commodities Risk (Not applicable)

Operational Risk– Basic Indicator Approach 177,086 147,726

Total Risk Weighted Assets.. 2,972,593 2,621,435

Total Capital Ratio 13.07% 10.26%

Tier 1 Capital Ratio.. 10.66% 7.08%

Net Common Equity Tier 1... 8.16% 5.07%

Key regulatory changes

As exceptional measures, 100% of ECL on Stage 
1 and Stage 2 exposures (except those against 
sovereign and BDL exposures in local and foreign 
currency), may be added to common equity Tier I 
capital. These will be gradually amortized to 75% in 
2022, 50% in 2023 and 25% in 2024.

The application of these exceptional measures as at 
December 31, 2020 led to the increase of the Group’s 
level of Common Equity Tier I by LBP20.9billion and to 
the decrease of its Tier II by LBP6.4billion compared 
to December 31, 2019.

Eligible Capital for Solvency Calculation

LBP Million  

Components of Eligible Capital 2020 2019

Common Equity Tier 1

Common stock – Paid in Capital 77,810 77,810

Cash Contribution to Capital 29,105 29,105

Eligible Reserves 70,624 70,440

Retained Earnings 31,497 53,645

Revaluation on investments at FVOCI 211 0

Revaluation of Fixed Assets 16,914 0

Common Equity Tier 1 226,161 231,000

Less: Deductions/Regulatory Adjustments

Less: Treasury Shares (3,655) (3,679)

Less: Intangible assets (710) (730)

Less: Provision on fixed assets taken in recovery of bad 
debts 

0 (1,228)

Less: Common Shares 0 (10,177)

Less: Revaluation on investments at FVOCI (211) (360)

Unfavorable change in fair value of investments at FVOCI 0 (81,935)

Provision on ECL - Stage 1 & Stage 2 20,935 0

NET Common Equity Tier 1 242,520 132,891

Additional Tier 1 

Perpetual, Non-Cumulative Preferred Shares 74,305 52,642

TOTAL Tier 1 (A) 316,825 185,533

Supplementary Capital – Tier 2

Subordinated Bonds 49,748 67,837

Revaluation of fixed assets 0 8,916

50% of the cumulative favorable change in FVOCI 106 180

Provision on ECL - Stage 1 21,697 6,386

TOTAL Tier 2 (B) 71,550 83,319

Total Eligible Capital (A+B) 388,735 268,852
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Net Interest Income

Interest income decreased by 27.1% to LBP 139,678 million (US$ 92.66 million) in 2020 as compared to LBP 
191,718 million (US$ 127.18 million) in 2019, similarly to interest expense that decreased by 46.4% to LBP 65,935 
million (US$ 43.74 million) in 2020 as compared to LBP 122,927 million (US$ 81.54 million) in 2019. As a result, 
net interest income received by the Bank for 2020 increased by 4.5% as compared to 2020. The increase was 
mainly due to the drop in credit interest rates. 

Interest and Similar Income

The following table sets forth a breakdown of the Bank’s interests and similar income for the years ending 
December 31, 2020 and 2019:

Total Interest received was equivalent to LBP 139,678 million (US$ 92.66 million) in 2020 as compared to LBP 
191,718 million (US$ 127.18 million) in 2019 reflecting a year-on-year decrease of 27.14%. This fall was primarily 
due to a decrease in interest from loans and advances to customers which amounted LBP 40,891 million (US$ 
27.13 million) in 2020 as compared to LBP 83,368 million (US$ 55.30 million) in 2019 declining by 50.95% 
noting that in 2020 it constituted 29.3% of total interest and similar income as compared to 43.5% in 2019. The 
decrease was also driven by the interest received from investment securities which reached LBP 28,475 million 
(US$ 18.89 million) in 2020 as compared to LBP 42,170 million (US$ 27.97 million) in 2019. Interest Received 
from loans to and deposits with banks, financial institutions and Central Bank increased by 5.43% to LBP 69,126 
million (US$ 45.85 million) in 2020 compared to LBP 65,565 million (US$ 43.49 million) in 2019. 

Interest and Similar Charges

The following table sets forth a breakdown of the Bank’s interests and similar charges for the years ending 
December 31, 2020 and 2019:

LBP Million  

LBP Million  

Variation

Variation

From loans and advances to customers 40,891 83,368 -50.95%

From loans to and deposits with banks, financial 
institutions and Central Bank

69,126 65,565 +5.43%

From investment securities (Amortized cost & FVOCI) 28,475 42,170 -32.48%

Other... 1,186 615 +92.85%

Total 139,678 191,718 -27.14%

Banks and financial institutions.. 8,565 15,627 -45.19%

Customers’ deposits. 49,941 101,057 -50.58%

Subordinated bonds. 5,971 5,955 +0.27%

Shareholders’ cash contribution to capital 1,263 - -

Lease liability 195 289 -32.53%

Total.. 65,935 122,928 -46.36%

2020

2020

2019

2019

20-19

20-19

The table below summarizes the maturity profile of the Bank’s assets and liabilities and the related maturity gaps 
for 2020 and 2019:

The basis of the remaining period at the relevant balance sheet date is mainly determinant of the contractual 
maturities of assets and liabilities not taking into consideration the effective maturities of many of the Bank’s 
liabilities indicated by the track record of deposit retention at the Bank and subsequent continuous availability 
of liquid funds. The Bank’s foreign currency placements maintained with international banks carry a maturity of 
three months or less. Moreover, the Bank’s loans and advances portfolio is mainly of a short-term nature. 

FINANCIAL RESULTS 

Net Income

The Bank’s net income recorded profit of LBP 1.65 billion (US$ 1.10 million) in 2020 as compared to a loss of 
LBP 12.35 billion (US$ 8.19 million) in 2019. The upsurge in income is mainly due to the increase in net fees and 
commission income and the reduction in provisions for ECL

The following table sets forth a breakdown of the Bank’s net income for the period under analysis: 

In LBP millions Accounts 
with no 

maturity

Up to 3 
months

From 3 
months 

to 1 year

From 1 year 
to 3 years

From 3 
years to 5 

years

From 5 to 
10 years

2020 maturity gap 201,052 (597,100) (89,428) 203,991 114,783 388,137

2020 cumulative maturity gap 201,052 (396,048) (485,476) (281,485) (166,702) 221,435

2019 maturity gap 241,250 (476,459) (292,601) 73,947 205,372 393,453

2019 cumulative maturity gap 241,250 (235,209) (527,810) (453,863) (248,491) 144,962

LBP Million  

Variation

Interest income 139,678 191,718 -27.1%

Tax on Interest (10,677) (8,451) -26.3%

Interest expense (65,935) (122,928) -46.4%

Net interest income (after tax) 63,066 60,340 +4.5%

Net fees and commission income 19,577 8,905 +119.8%

Gain on exchange and other operating income* 7,395 9,781 -24.4%

Provisions for ECL (32,967) (47,725) -30.9%

Salaries (27,426) (21,866) +25.4%

General operating expenses (16,205) (15,184) +6.7%

Other expenses (including tax expenses) (11,788) (6,603) +78.5%

Net Income 1,652 (12,353) N/A

2020 2019 20-19

*including numerous incidental debtor accounts
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Net interest and other (losses)/gains on FVTPL portfolio decreased 72.89% to LBP 629 million (US$ 0.42 
million) in 2020 from LBP 2,320 million (US$ 1.54 million) in 2019. With respect to the foreign exchange income 
generated, the latter decreased to LBP 656 million (US$ 0.44 million) as at December, 31 2020 reflecting a year-
on-year decrease of 86.16% as compared to LBP 4,739 million (US$ 3.14 million) as at December, 31 2019. Other 
operating income improved to reach LBP 6,111 million (US$ 4.91 million) in 2020 as compared to LBP 2,721 
million (US$ 1.80 million) in 2019 recording a 124.59% increase. 

Net loan loss provisions

The following table sets forth a breakdown of the Bank’s net provisions for expected credit losses for the years 
ending December 31, 2020 and 2019: 

The Bank’s total general expenses augmented by 20.8% to LBP 49,683 million (US$ 32.96 million) in 2020 
compared to LBP 41,140 million (US$ 27.29 million) in 2019. Staff costs were augmented to LBP 27,426 million 
(US$ 18.19 million) in 2020 as compared to LBP 21,866 million (US$ 14.50 million) in 2019 reflecting a year-on-
year increase of 25.4%. Administrative expenses also grew to LBP 16,205 million (US$ 10.75 million) in 2020 as 
compared LBP 15,184 million (US$ 10.07 million) in 2019.     

The Bank’s cost-to-income ratio decreased to 55.18% in 2020 compared to 52.06% in 2019.

General Expenses

The following table sets forth a breakdown of the Bank’s general expenses for the years ending December 31, 
2020 and 2019:

LBP Million  

LBP Million  

Variation

Variation

Deposits with Central Bank 2,066 14,242 -85%

Deposits with banks and FI 132 (199) -

Loans and advances to customers 25,879 22,479 +15%

Financial assets at Amortized Cost 4,616 10,291 -55%%

Financial assets at Fair Value Through Other 
Comprehensive Income

0 830 -

Other assets. 274 81 238%

Total 32,967 47,725 -30.92%

Staff costs.. 27,426 21,866 +25.4%

Administrative expenses.. 16,205 15,184 +6.7%

Depreciation & amortization 2,500 2,628 -4.9%

Other (income)/expense. 3,552 1,462 143.0%

Total 49,683 41,140 +20.8%

2020

2020

2019

2019

20-19

20-19

Interest and similar charges recorded LBP 65,935 million (US$ 43.74 million) in 2020 as compared to LBP 122,928 
million (US$ 81.54 million) in 2019 reflecting a year-on-year decrease of 46.36%. The decrease is mainly due to 
the drop witnessed in interest paid on customers’ deposits which fell to LBP 49,941 million (US$ 33.13 million) 
in 2020 compared to LBP 101,057 million (US$ 67.04 million) in 2019 constituting 75.74% and 82.81% of total 
interest and similar charges respectively.

Commissions, Fees and Other Revenues

The following table sets forth a breakdown of the Bank’s commissions, fees and other revenues for the years 
ending December 31, 2020 and 2019:

Total commissions, fees and other revenues grew by 119.84% to reach LBP 19,577 million (US$ 12.99 million) in 
2019 as compared to LBP 8,905 million (US$ 5.91 million) in 2019. The major contributors to commissions, fees 
and other revenues in 2020 were service fees on customers’ transactions representing 99% of the total (87% in 
2019), while commissions on documentary credits represented 2.2% (9.8% in 2019), other commissions were 
equivalent to 2.0% (6.3% in 2019), and fees and commissions expenses constituted 4% (same as in 2019). 

Net Profit from Financial Operations

The following table sets forth a breakdown of the net profit from financial operations for the years ending 
December 31, 2020 and 2019:

Total gain on exchange and other operating income dropped to LBP 7,396 million (US$ 4.91 million) as at 
December, 31 2019 as compared to LBP 9,780 million (US$ 6.49million) as at December, 31 2019 reflecting a 
year-on-year decrease of 24.38%. 

LBP Million  

LBP Million  

Variation

Variation

Commissions on documentary credits.. 420 871 -51.78%

Service fees on customers’ transactions and letters of 
guarantee

19,545 7,795 150.74%

Other commissions ..... 388 564 -31.21%

Fees and Commissions expenses. (776) (325) 138.77%

Total 19.577 8,905 119.84%

Net interest and other (losses)/gains on FVTPL portfolio 629 2,320 -72.89%

Foreign exchange income 656 4,739 -86.16%

Other operating income 6,111 2,721 124.59%

Total gain on exchange and other operating income... 7,396 9,780 -24.38%

2020

2020

2019

2019

20-19

20-19
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the Shareholders
Banque BEMO S.A.L.
Beirut, Lebanon

 ADVERSE OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Banque BEMO S.A.L. (the “Bank”) and its subsidiaries 
(the “Group”) which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2020, and the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes 
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant 
accounting policies.

In our opinion, because of the significance of the matters discussed in the “basis for Adverse Opinion” section 
of our audit report, the accompanying consolidated financial statements do not present fairly the consolidated 
financial position of the group as at December 31, 2020, its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated 
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs).
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2020

BASIS OF ADVERSE OPINION 

1. as explained in Note 3, the Group has not applied the requirements of IAS 29 “Financial Reporting in 
Hyperinflationary Economies’ in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 
December 31, 2020. IAS 29 requires that the financial statements, and corresponding figures for previous 
periods, of an entity with a functional currency that  is hyperinflationary, to be stated in the terms of the 
measuring until current at the end of the reporting period. Had the Group applied the requirements of IAS 29 
many of the elements of the accompanying consolidated financial statements, including disclosures, would 
have been significantly impacted. The effects on the consolidate financial statements  of this departure have not 
been determined.

2. Note 1 to the financial statements indicates that there is currently a high degree of uncertainty 
surrounding the Lebanese banking industry and Lebanese economy as a whole, triggered by the severe financial 
crisis and unprecedented economic downturn, the effects of the Covid-19 pandemic and the explosion at Beirut 
Seaport in August 2020. As the situation is rapidly evolving, the magnitude of the possible adverse effects on 
the Lebanese economy and the banking sector, remains unknown and gave rise to unusual practices that are 
not considered to be in the normal course of business in a non-crisis environment as disclosed under Note 1 to 
the consolidated financial statements.   

The audit evidence available to us to confirm the appropriateness of preparing the consolidated financial 
statements on a going concern basis was limited due to the severity of the uncertainties noted above as 
applicable to the Group and within the Lebanese banking sector as a whole resulting from the overwhelming 
systemic risk which could impact the assessment of solvency risk, liquidity and funding risk, currency risk, credit 
risk and profitability and the related future actions and mitigation plans and factors.

This situation indicates that a material uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability 
to continue as a going concern and in the absence of any alternative evidence available to us, we were unable 
to form a view as to the applicability of the going concern basis, the circumstances of which, together with the 
effect on the consolidated financial statements should this basis be inappropriate, could result in the Group 
being unable to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business. The consolidated 
financial statements do not adequately disclose this fact. Our opinion on the Group’s consolidated financial 
statements for the year ended December 31, 2019 was also modified in respect of this matter.   

3. Cash and deposits with Central Banks, which are carried in the consolidated statement of financial 
position at LBP2,220billion, include deposits with the Central Bank of Lebanon of LBP2,095billion. Investment 
securities, which are carried in the consolidated statement of financial position at LBP 431billion, include 
Lebanese government debt securities and certificates of deposits issued by the Central Bank of Lebanon of 
LBP138billion and LBP265billion respectively. Management has not stated deposits with the Central Bank of 
Lebanon, Lebanese government debt securities and certificates of deposits issued by the Central Bank of 
Lebanon net of allowances for expected credit losses which take into account the significant deterioration in 
credit quality since initial recognition which has arisen as a result of the continuing economic crisis in Lebanon 
and the government default on Eurobonds, which constitutes a departure from IFRSs. We were unable to 
determine the adjustments necessary to these amounts. Our opinion in the prior year was also modified in 
respect to deposits in Central Bank of Lebanon. 

4.               Deposits with banks and financial institutions, which are carried in the consolidated statement of financial 
position at LBP108billion, include deposits with local banks of LBP29billion (2019: LBP57billion). Investment 
securities, which are carried in the consolidated statement of financial position at LBP431billion includes 
investment debt securities originated by the Lebanese private sector of LBP4billion (2019: LBP20.3billion). 
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The Bank’s records indicate that had management stated the cumulative change in fair value of investment 
securities at the difference between the fair value of investments through other comprehensive income and the 
cost of those investments, an amount of LBP7billion would have been required to reduce cumulative change in 
fair value of investment securities. Accordingly, retained earnings would have been increased by LBP 7 billion.

10. Investment securities, which are carried in the statement of financial position at LBP431billion, includes 
Lebanese Government Bonds and Certificates of Deposits issued by the Central Bank of Lebanon of LBP17billion 
and LBP46billion respectively. Note 10 to the consolidated financial statements discloses that the Lebanese 
Government Bonds and Certificates of Deposits issued by the Central Bank of Lebanon have been transferred 
from financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income to financial assets at amortized cost. 
Management has implemented a decision taken subsequent to the reporting date to reclassify Lebanese 
Government Bonds and Certificates of Deposits issued by the Central Bank of Lebanon from financial assets 
at fair value through other comprehensive income to financial assets at amortized cost, which constitutes a 
departure from IFRSs. Had management not implemented the aforementioned decision taken subsequent to the 
reporting date, the disclosure in note 10 to the financial statements would not have reflected this transfer and the 
Lebanese Government Bonds and Certificates of Deposits issued by the Central Bank of Lebanon would have 
been measured at fair value and not at amortized cost. We were unable to determine the adjustments necessary 
to these amounts.

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Ethics Standards 
Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) together with the Code of 
Ethics of the Lebanese Association of Certified Public Accountants that are relevant to our audit of the financial 
statements and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and 
the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 

basis for our adverse opinion.

 

EMPHASIS OF MATTER

We draw attention to:

Note 1 of the consolidated financial statements, which describes that the Group’s assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies are translated to Lebanese Pounds in accordance with the accounting policy 
on foreign currency transactions detailed in note 3 of the financial statements i.e. at the official exchange rate 
prevailing at the end of the reporting period and that the realization of these assets and the settlement of these 
liabilities, could be materially different. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.  

Management has not stated deposits with local banks and investment debt securities originated by the Lebanese 
private sector  net of allowances for expected credit losses which take into account the full impact of the 
economic crisis and political turmoil in Lebanon, which constitutes a departure from IFRSs. We were unable 
to determine the adjustments necessary to these amounts. Our opinion in the prior year was also modified in 
respect of this matter.

5. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, which are carried in the consolidated statement of 
financial position at LBP11billion include Lebanese treasury bills, Lebanese government debt securities, shares 
and corporate bonds domiciled in the Republic of Lebanon of LBP240million, LBP22million and LBP10billion 
respectively (2019: LBP240million, LBP72.5million, LBP9.9billion respectively). Investment securities, which 
are carried in the consolidated statement of financial position at LBP431billion, include financial assets at fair 
value through other comprehensive income of LBP667million domiciled in the Republic of Lebanon (2019: 
LBP4.8billion of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income domiciled in the Republic 
of Lebanon and LBP31.8billion of Lebanese government debt and certificates of deposit denominated in USD 
issued by the Central Bank of Lebanon) Management has stated the aforementioned financial assets at fair 
value by using inputs into the determination of fair value which are not indicative of economic reality and market 
conditions existing in Lebanon at the reporting date, which constitutes a departure from IFRSs. We were unable 
to determine the adjustments necessary to this amount. Our opinion in the prior year was also modified in 
respect of this matter.

6. Note 48 of the financial statements discloses the fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial 
liabilities measure at amortized cost. The inputs used by Management to determine the fair value of the Group’s 
financial assets and financial liabilities disclosed in this note are not indicative of economic reality and market 
conditions existing at the reporting date, which constitutes a departure from IFRSs. We were unable to determine 
the adjustments necessary to the amounts disclosed in note 48.

7. Loans and advances to customers and related parties which are carried in the consolidated statement 
of financial position at LBP595billion represent loans and advances where the credit risk is predominantly 
concentrated in Lebanon and is affected as a result of the monetary and economic crisis that the country is facing 
since the last quarter of 2019. Certain loans and advances have not been stated net of an allowance for expected 
credit losses which takes into account all circumstances and available information at the reporting date, which 
constitutes a departure from IFRSs. Our opinion in the prior year was also modified in respect of this matter.

8. Investment securities, which are carried in the statement of financial position at LBP431billion, includes 
an investment at fair value through other comprehensive income of LBP18billion which had previously been 
classified as an investment in associate. Management did not measure the investment at its fair value at the date 
of its reclassification to an investment at fair value through other comprehensive income and has not stated the 
investment at fair value at the reporting date but has stated it at its carrying amount as at December 31, 2019 
using the equity method of accounting, which constitutes a departure from IFRSs. We were unable to determine 
the adjustments necessary to this amount. 

9. Cumulative change in fair value of investment securities is carried in the statement of financial position at 
LBP7billion. Management has stated cumulative changes in fair value of investment at a portion of a previously 
recognized regulatory deferred liability and not at the difference between the fair value of investments through 
other comprehensive income and the cost of those investments, which constitutes a departure from IFRSs.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our 
audit of the consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2020. Except for the matters 
described in the ‘Basis for adverse opinion’ section of our report, we have determined that there are no other 
key audit matters to communicate in our report.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF MANAGEMENT AND THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE 
FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements 
in accordance with IFRSs, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the  Group’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using 
the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated 
financial statements.
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BANQUE BEMO S.A.L.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

ASSETS   
  

December 31,

Cash and deposits with central banks 5 2,219,931,948 931,979,199

Deposits with banks and financial institutions 6 108,444,168 143,730,871

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 7 10,881,435 70,528,075

Loans and advances to customers and related parties 9 595,021,738 807,146,836

Investment securities 10 430,655,222 461,426,158

Customers’ liability under acceptances 11 11,557,983 20,275,850

Investments in an associate 13 - 23,974,070

Assets acquired in satisfaction of loans 14 2,907,009 4,221,423

Property and equipment 15 77,295,897 75,646,659

Right-of-use assets 8 1,963,010 3,182,393

Intangible assets 16 709,660 729,135

Other assets 17 25,527,076 17,470,655

Total Assets 3,484,895,146 2,560,311,324

Documentary and commercial letters of credit 40 308,913 4,632,966

Guarantees and standby letters of credit 40 47,915,113 70,852,154

Forward exchange contracts 40 277,074,262 295,878,599

FIDUCIARY DEPOSITS 41 11,333,877 32,439,095

THE ACCOMPANYING NOTES 1 TO 50 FORM AN INTEGRAL PART OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes 2020

LBP’000

2019

LBP’000

LIABILITIES

LIABILITIES

December 31,

BANQUE BEMO S.A.L.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

THE ACCOMPANYING NOTES 1 TO 50 FORM AN INTEGRAL PART OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Deposits and borrowings from 

 banks and financial institutions 18 411,367,297 332,638,121

Customers and related parties 

 accounts at amortized cost 19 2,602,624,632 1,829,354,951

Liability under acceptances 11 11,584,624 20,323,049

Other term borrowings 20 21,886,586 13,391,505

Lease liability 8 2,446,066 3,066,667

Other liabilities 21 43,236,375 18,779,484

Provisions 22 4,886,130 5,315,454

   3,098,031,710 2,222,869,231

 

Subordinated bonds 23 91,589,918 90,450,000

Total liabilities  3,189,621,628 2,313,319,231

Share capital 24 77,810,000 77,810,000

Treasury shares 24 (3,654,740) (3,679,126)

Preferred shares 25 52,641,854 52,641,854

Shareholders› cash contribution to capital 26 50,767,759 29,104,984

Reserves 27 70,623,239 70,440,239

Retained earnings  21,286,200 47,889,535

Currency translation adjustment 13 - 520,277

Revaluation surplus (net) 15 16,914,064 16,914,064

Cumulative change in fair value of 

 investment securities (net) 10,13 7,232,339 (32,297,405)

Profit/(loss) for the year  1,652,337 (12,352,792)

Equity attributable to the shareholders of the bank  295,273,052 246,991,630

Non-controlling interests  466 463

Total equity    295,273,518  246,992,093

Total Liabilities and Equity   3,484,895,146  2,560,311,324

Notes 2020

LBP’000

2019

LBP’000
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BANQUE BEMO S.A.L.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
 

THE ACCOMPANYING NOTES 1 TO 50 FORM AN INTEGRAL PART OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes 2020

LBP’000

Year ended,December 31,

2019

LBP’000

Interest income  30   139,677,865  191,718,322

Less:  Tax on interest  30  (10,677,089)  (8,450,824)

Interest income (net of tax)    129,000,776  183,267,498

Interest expense  31  (65,934,689) (122,927,755)

Net interest income  63,066,087 60,339,743

   

Fee and commission income 32  20,353,748  9,229,775

Fee and commission expense 33   (776,847) (325,172)

Net fee and commission income  19,576,901  8,904,603

 

Net interest and other gains on financial assets 

 at fair value through profit or loss  34 628,570  2,319,982

Gain on exchange    655,813  4,739,217

Other operating income, (net) 35 6,111,074  2,721,425

Net financial revenues    90,038,445  79,024,970

Provisions for expected credit losses (net)  36  (32,967,177) (47,724,867)

     

Net financial revenues after allowance 

 for expected credit losses    57,071,268  31,300,103

 

Staff costs  37  (27,426,027) (21,865,931)

Administrative expenses 38 (16,205,119) (15,184,238)

Tax on revenues 21 (4,115,000) -

Depreciation and amortization  15,16  (2,500,216)  (2,628,489)

Depreciation of right-of-use assets 8  (1,280,018) (1,279,629)

Other (expense)/income , net  22  1,843,724 (181,639)

    (49,682,656) (41,139,926)

     

Profit/(loss) before income tax    7,388,612 (9,839,823)

Income tax expense  21  (5,736,272) (2,512,919)

Profit/(loss) for the year     1,652,340 (12,352,742)

Attributable to:

Equity holders of the Group   1,652,337 (12,352,792)

Non-controlling interests   3  3     50 

  1,652,340 (12,352,742)

   

Basic and diluted earning per shares   39   21/69     -

BANQUE BEMO S.A.L.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

THE ACCOMPANYING NOTES 1 TO 50 FORM AN INTEGRAL PART OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes 2020

LBP’000

Year ended,December 31,

2019

LBP’000

Profit/(loss) for the year   1,652,340 (12,352,742)

Other comprehensive income («OCI»):

Items that may be reclassified 

 subsequently to profit or loss:

Gain arising from currency translation adjustment  13  -   41,016

Change in fair value of investment securities  10 B, 13  -  (22,742,717)

Transfer from deferred Liability   7,232,339   -

Net other comprehensive loss for the year  7,232,339 (22,701,701)

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the yea    8,884,679 (35,054,443)

Attributable to:

Equity holders of the Group   8,884,676 (35,054,493)

Non-controlling interests    3  50

  

   8,884,679 (35,054,443)
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BANQUE BEMO S.A.L.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY  

THE ACCOMPANYING NOTES 1 TO 50 FORM AN INTEGRAL PART OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Balance at January 1, 2019 62,248,000 (3,619,239)  52,641,854  29,104,984 62,635,782 16,942,104 479,261 (9,554,688) 46,974,064 28,439,048 286,291,170 413 286,291,583

Capital increase (Note 24) 15,562,000 - - - - - - - (15,562,000) - - -  - 

Total comprehensive loss  - - - - - - 41,016 (22,742,717) - (12,352,792) (35,054,493) 50 (35,054,443) 

Allocation of income for the year 2018 - - - - 7,804,457 (28,040) - - 20,662,631 (28,439,048) - - - 

Dividends paid (Note 29) - - - - - - - - (3,693,375) - (3,693,375) - (3,693,375)

Acquisition of treasury shares (net) (Note 24) - (59,887) - - - - - - - - (59,887) - (59,887)

Other adjustments - - - - - - - - (33,994) - (33,994) - (33,994)

Others – Investment in an associate (Note 12) - - - - - - - - (457,791) - (457,791) - (457,791)

Balance at December 31, 2019 77,810,000 (3,679,126) 52,641,854 29,104,984 70,440,239 16,914,064 520,277 (32,297,405) 47,889,535 (12,352,792) 246,991,630 463 246,992,093

Cash contribution to capital (Notes 19 &26) - - - 21,662,775 - - - - - - 21,662,775 - 21,662,775

Total comprehensive income 2020 - - - - - - - - - 1,652,337 1,652,337 3 1,652,340

Allocation of income for the year 2019 - - - - 183,000 - - - (12,535,792) 12,352,792 - - -

Acquisition of treasury shares (net) - 24,386 - - - - - - - - 24,386 - 24,386

Reversal of accumulated change in fair value of 

 financial assets at other comprehensive income (Note 10) - - - - - - - 30,768,813 - - 30,768,813 - 30,768,813

Loss of significant influence of the Group 

 over the associate (Note 13) - - - - - - - - (23,890,169) - (23,890,169) - (23,890,169)

Reversal of currency translation adjustment (Note 13) - - - - - - 23,587,519 - - - 23,587,519 - 23,587,519

Reversal of change in fair value of investment 

 securities held by the former associate (Note 13) - - - - - - - 1,528,592 - - 1,528,592 - 1,528,592

Reversal of regulatory deferred liability (Note 21) - - - - - - (24,107,796) 7,232,339 16,875,457 - - - -

Reversal of provision for impairment of investment

  in an associate (Note 13) - - - - - - - - (7,052,831) - (7,052,831) -  (7,052,831)

Balance at December 31, 2020 77,810,000 (3,654,740) 52,641,854 50,767,759 70,623,239 16,914,064 - 7,232,339 21,286,200 1,652,337 295,273,052 466 295,273,518

  Equity Attributable to the Bank 

THE ACCOMPANYING NOTES 1 TO 50 FORM AN INTEGRAL PART OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

        Change      
    Shareholders’    in Fair  (Loss)/      
    Cash Legal  Currency Value of  Profit  Non-   
 Share Treasury Preferred Contribution and Other  Revaluation Translation Investment Retained for the  Controlling
 Capital Shares Shares to Capital Reserves Real Estate Adjustment Securities Earnings Year Total Interest Total

 LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000

  Equity Attributable to the Bank 
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BANQUE BEMO S.A.L.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS  

THE ACCOMPANYING NOTES 1 TO 50 FORM AN INTEGRAL PART OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

THE ACCOMPANYING NOTES 1 TO 50 FORM AN INTEGRAL PART OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes 2020

LBP’000

Year ended,December 31,

2019

LBP’000

Cash flows from operating activities:

Profit/(loss) before tax  7,388,612  (9,839,823)

Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortization 15,16   2,500,216  2,628,489

Depreciation right of use 8  1,280,018  1,279,629

Other movements   -  (34,025)

Interest expense – Finance lease liability 8  195,027  288,945

Provision for contingencies 22  625,613  196,585

Write back of provision for contingencies 22 (2,229,825) (393,288)

Assets acquired in satisfaction of loans 14 1,314,414 (1,314,414)

Provision for expected credit losses, (net) 36  32,967,177  47,724,867

Non-controlling interests   -   50

Provision/(write-back of provision) for employees’ 

 end-of-service indemnities 22  1,275,399 (864,354)

Unrealized loss on financial assets at 

fair value through profit or loss 34 (596,152)  25,047

Equity income from investment in associates 13  -  (2,026,661)

Gain from sale of property and equipment  2,987  2,987

Increase in deposits with central 

banks, banks and financial institutions   64,319,807  35,440,205

Decrease in loans to banks and financial institutions   -  7,627,631

(Decrease)/increase in investment securities at fair value 

 through profit or loss  60,242,792 (22,906,117)

Decrease in investment securities  74,569,568  10,404,762

Decrease in loans and advances to customers and related parties   186,246,049  267,651,452

Net decrease/(increase) in other assets   (8,319,170)  1,109,389

(Decrease)/increase in non-interest earning compulsory reserve    (15,608,033) (2,174,657)

Increase in due to banks and financial institutions   78,729,176  86,272,353

Increase/(decrease) in other borrowings   8,495,081 (2,323,989)

Decrease in customers› and related parties ‹ deposits at amortized cost   773,269,681 (141,547,251)

Net increase in other liabilities   21,735,376  5,433,133

Net decrease in provisions   -  (31,926)

Settlement of employees’ end-of-service indemnity  (148,437) (354,883)

Taxes paid   (2,512,919) (5,362,231)

Net cash generated by/(used in) operating activities  1,285,742,457 276,911,905

 

THE ACCOMPANYING NOTES 1 TO 50 FORM AN INTEGRAL PART OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes 2020

LBP’000

Year ended,December 31,

2019

LBP’000

Cash flows from investing activities:    

  

 Acquisition of treasury shares (net)  24,386 (59,887)

 Acquisition of property and equipment 15 (4,160,778) (17,364,289)

 Proceeds from sale of property and equipment  354,535  12,074

 Intangible assets 16  (326,723) (115,109)

Net cash used in investing activities  (4,108,580) (17,527,211)

     

 

Cash flows from financing activities:    

 Dividends paid 29  -  (3,693,375)

 Settlement of lease liability 8 (860,646) (1,684,300)

 Shareholders’ cash contribution to capital   21,662,775   - 

 Subordinated bonds 23  1,139,918 (5,073,886)

Net cash (generated by)/used in financing activities   21,942,047 (10,451,561)

     

 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  1,303,575,924 248,933,133

Cash and cash equivalents - Beginning of year 43 427,219,778  178,286,645

Cash and cash equivalents - End of year 43  1,730,795,702  427,219,778
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1. GENERAL INFORMATION

Banque BEMO S.A.L. (the “Bank”) is a Lebanese joint-stock company listed on the Beirut Stock Exchange and 
registered in the Commercial Register under Number 17837 and on the list of banks published by the Central 
Bank of Lebanon under Number 93. The Bank’s headquarters are located in Beirut.

The Bank provides a full range of commercial, corporate and private banking activities through a network of 6 
branches in Lebanon in addition to a branch in Limassol, Cyprus.

Banque BEMO S.A.L. is owned by Sharikat AL Istismarat Al Oropia Lil Shareq Al Aousat (Holding) S.A.L. to the 
extent of 61.06%.

These financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Bank and its subsidiaries (collectively 
referred to as the “Group”) Refer to Note 3(A).

1.1 The Macro Economic Environment 

Since the last quarter of 2019, Lebanon has been witnessing severe events which had and continue to have 
a significant impact on the fiscal, monetary and economic outlook along with their related adverse impact on 
the business community as a whole and the banking system in particular, mainly: social unrest and business 
disruption across the country, series of downgrades to the level of default ranking for private and sovereign credit 
risk by all major rating agencies, restrictions on cash withdrawals and movement of funds in foreign currencies, 
non-ability to transfer funds from local bank accounts in foreign currency to foreign accounts with correspondent 
banks, and the Lebanese Republic default on its Eurobonds due on March 9, 2020 and then the decision to 
discontinue payments on all of its outstanding USD-denominated Eurobonds. The Eurobonds default precludes 
access to international markets for foreign financing, while the domestic banking system is severely impaired.  

The dry up of the dollar inflow to the country, precipitated systemic failures across banking, debt and the exchange 
rate. A significant portion of the Lebanese banks holdings consist of sovereign lending, including deposits with 
Central Bank of Lebanon, which made banks unable to meet their dollar obligations to customers. A de facto 
restriction on outbound transfers and foreign currency cash withdrawals, were imposed to preserve the foreign 
currency left in the country. The difficulty in accessing foreign currencies led to the emergence of a parallel 
market to the official peg whereby the price to access foreign currencies increased, deviating significantly from 
the official peg of 1507.5 LBP/USD. This has resulted in an uncontrolled rise in prices driving high inflation and rise 
in the consumer price index, loss of confidence in the economy and deterioration in the economic fundamentals. 
 

BANQUE BEMO S.A.L.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019

The financial crisis has been intensified by the devastating explosion occurred on August 4, 2020 at the Beirut 
seaport causing severe property damages across a wide area of the capital along with a large number of casualties, 
and the COVID-19 pandemic which particularly hit the tourism sector.

The Central Bank of Lebanon efforts to control foreign exchange and slow the loss of foreign currency reserves, 
led to multiple exchange rates, however unsustainable.

- Official exchange rate (1507.5 LBP/USD): currently maintained in banking transactions and providing foreign 
 currency for the import of fuel oil, wheat, medicine and medical equipment.

- Platform rate - Sayrafa (currently at 3,900 LBP/USD): currently maintained to provide foreign currency for the  
 import of essential food items and raw materials used in food industries.  Also, this rate is currently used for  
 LBP cash withdrawals in small amounts, from foreign currency deposits accounts, based on limits set by  
 banks separately.  

On April 30, 2020, the Lebanese Council of Ministers approved the Lebanese Government’s Financial Recovery 
Plan (the Plan) which includes among other items, reviewing the peg policy, restructuring of the government 
debt, restructuring of the financial system and the banking sector, and international financial assistance. On May 
1, 2020, a formal request for support from the International Monetary Fund (IMF) was addressed to the IMF and 
discussion is still ongoing at the date of issue of the consolidated financial statements with no progress made 
so far.

In this respect the Association of Banks in Lebanon (ABL) has challenged the Government’s Plan for many 
uncertainties associated with the Plan and the assumptions made in it. The ABL submitted an alternative approach 
to tackling the Lebanese economic crisis in general and the banking crisis in particular.

1.2 Central Bank of Lebanon policy initiatives

Since the beginning of the crisis in October 2019, the Central Bank of Lebanon (“BDL”) has issued a series of 
circulars reflecting on policy initiatives and crisis management. Below is brief of the key circulars:

Regulatory framework: 

• Intermediate Circular 567:
 - BDL licensees should apply the following minimum regulatory expected credit loss (“ECL”) ratios, while  
  permitting banks to constitute progressively those ECLs over a period of five years (starting from 2020). The  
  BDL Central Council may consider the extension of the period to 10 years, for banks that manage to  
  complete the 20% cash contribution to capital requirement: 

Foreign currency placements with BDL, including certificates of deposits: 1.89%

Local currency deposits with BDL: 0%

Lebanese government bonds in foreign currencies: 45%

Lebanese treasury bills in local currency: 0%
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 - BDL licensees are allowed not to downgrade loans exposures showing past dues (principal and interest)   
  between February 2020 and December 2020 as a result of COVID-19, unless borrower ceases to operate  
  as a going concern, in which case exposure should be automatically downgraded to Stage 3. 

 - Prohibition of dividends distribution on banks’ common shares for the years 2019 and 2020. 

 - By February 28, 2021 (extended), banks should complete a 20% increase of the common equity tier I  
  capital as at December 31, 2018. The BDL Central Council may consider for banks to complete 50% of this  
  capital increase through transfer of real estate by the shareholders, provided these are liquidated within  
  5 years. 

 - Banks can include the revaluation surplus of property and equipment in Tier I capital, subject to BDL approval  
  on the revaluation.  

 - Banks must comply with the minimum capital adequacy ratios. Bank should refrain from dividend distribution,  
  should these ratios fall below 7% for common equity Tier I ratio; 10% for tier I ratio; and 12% for total capital  
  ratio.
  Furthermore, if the capital conservation buffer on common equity falls below 2.5% of risk weighted assets  
  during 2020 and 2021, banks should rebuild the gap by end of 2024, by a minimum of 0.75% per year,  
  starting 2022. 

 - Banks are required to submit to a comprehensive plan to Central Bank, reflecting own strategies to comply 
   with the regulatory minimum capital requirements, including the timeline to achieve compliance. The plan  
  should incorporate allowances required by the Banking Control Commission of Lebanon against different  
  risks banks are exposed to.    

 - As exceptional measures, 100% of ECL on Stage 1 and Stage 2 exposures (except those against sovereign 
  and BDL exposures in local and foreign currency), may be added to common equity Tier I capital. These will  
  be gradually amortized to 75% in 2022, 50% in 2023 and 25% in 2024.  

• Basic Circular 154:

 - Banks should perform a fair value assessment of their assets and liabilities and set a plan to comply with  
  all applicable regulatory requirements, namely those related to liquidity and capital adequacy, and restore  
  their levels of service which were in place before the economic crisis. Banks should also submit a request  
  to the BDL Central Council to reconstitute/raise their capital to the required levels by the end of the first  
  quarter of the year 2021, where applicable. In this respect, banks shall consider soliciting their depositors  
  to convert their deposits into shares or bonds, provided listing the bank’s shares on the Beirut Stock 
  Exchange. 

 - In order to enhance their offshore liquidity, banks are required to instigate those depositors to repatriate  
  30% (in the case of banks’ key executives and politically exposed persons) and 15% (for other depositors)  
  of their overseas transfers made since July 1, 2017 and exceeding the equivalent of USD 500,000. Funds  
  received will be deposited in special saving accounts for 5 years and will not be subject to compulsory  
  reserve requirements.   
 

  - Banks should secure by February 28, 2021, offshore foreign currency deposits equivalent to a minimum of  
  3% of their total foreign currency as at July 31, 2020.  

• Intermediate Circular 575 approving banks to book exceptionally one third of the capital gains arising from 
the revaluation of assets received in settlement of debts, under Tier II capital subject to the approval of the BDL 
Central Council on the revaluation methodology and raising capital before December 31, 2021 as follows:

 - Add a maximum of one third of the revaluation gains under Tier 2 capital,

 - Increase common equity Tier I capital in cash by an amount at least equivalent to the amount of  
  the revaluation gains booked under Tier II capital.

Monetary and exchange rate policies and socio-economic support:

• Intermediate Circular 536: Stipulates the following measures:

 - Interest earned on by banks on USD Certificates of Deposits issued by BDL, are received 50%-50% in USD  
  and LBP respectively. Similarly, interest on customers deposits denominated in foreign currencies are paid 
  50%-50% in the account currency and LBP respectively.

 - Banks should comply with interest rate ceilings on customer deposits capped at 5% and 8.5% on foreign  
  currency and LBP denominated deposits respectively. 

 - The Beirut Reference Rates (BRR) should reflect the lower deposit rates. 

• Basic Circular 150 exempting banks from compulsory reserve requirements on fresh foreign currency deposits 
 received after April 9, 2020, subject to conditions.  

• Basic Circulars 148 and 151 and Intermediate Circulars 549 and 565 allowing withdrawals of pre-crisis  
 customers’ deposits foreign currency accounts at the BDL platform rate subject to limits set by banks (currently  
 at the rate of LBP3,900 to the USD).   

• Intermediate Circulars 547 and 552 requesting banks to rollover loans to customers in local and foreign  
 currencies maturing between March 2020 to June 2020 up to 5 years at zero interest rate and fees, subject  
 to the bank assessment of the customers’ inability to settle their dues because of the economic situation.  
 BDL also allowed the extension of loans to businesses to fund salaries and operating expenses, at the same  
 terms mentioned above. In return, BDL would extend loans to banks in USD at zero interest rates against  
 those loans to banks’ customers.  

• Basic Circular 152 and Intermediate Circular 569 allowing banks extension of loans up to 5 years at zero  
 interest rate, to help those affected by the Beirut Seaport explosion. In return, BDL would extend loans to  
 banks in USD at zero interest rates against those loans to banks’ customers.
 
• Intermediate Circular 568 requesting banks to accept repayment by resident customers of their USD 
 denominated retail loans (up to USD 800,000 for housing loans and USD 100,000 for retail loans) in local  
 currency at the official exchange rate (LBP 1,507.5 to the USD).
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1.3 The Group’s Financial particulars

The Group’s monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currency, were converted in Lebanese Pound at the official 
exchange rate peg of USD1 = LBP1,507.5 which is the rate that Lebanese banks and other regulated entities are 
legally required to use. As the official exchange rate significantly deviated from the exchange rates in the parallel 
markets, the valuation of assets and liabilities in foreign currencies at a different rate is expected to significantly 
impact the Group’s financial statements once the regulatory authorities adopt a free-floating exchange rate policy 
or implement a new legal exchange mechanism. Foreign currency mismatch is detailed in Note 47(C) to these 
consolidated financial statements.

As at December 31, 2020, the Group’s net credit exposure to Lebanese sovereign debt, including BDL, 
represented 55.85% of total consolidated assets (2019: 55.4%). 

The material uncertainties discussed under Note 1.1 above and the lack of observable indicators, have impacted 
management ability to formulate adequate loss allowances on the Group’s exposures to BDL, Lebanese 
government bonds, deposits with banks, and other financial instruments originated by Lebanese banks and other 
corporate entities. Therefore, the loss allowances recognized in these consolidated financial statements do not 
represent a reasonable estimate of the expected credit losses on these exposures and have not been assessed 
in accordance with IFRS 9. This applies as well to the credit risk Staging of these exposures as disclosed in these 
consolidated financial statements. The basis of the loss allowances recognized by the Group against BDL and 
sovereign exposures is described under Note 47. 

The adverse economic conditions and the severe recession resulted in a significant deterioration of the credit 
quality of the customers’ loans portfolio concentrated in Lebanon since the last quarter 2019 despite the drop 
in the customers’ loans portfolio. The Group’s credit assessment of the customers’ loans portfolio is based on 
information available to management which did not take into account the circumstances prevailing as a result of 
the continuing and aggravating economic crisis and recession which has further deteriorated as a result of the 
explosion in the seaport of Beirut and Covid-19 pandemic. Given the high level of uncertainties, Management is 
unable to estimate in a reasonable manner the impact of these matters on Group’s financial position.

Fair values of financial assets originated in Lebanon have been determined by the Group using notional prices 
quoted on inactive and illiquid markets or using yield curves that are not reflective of economic reality and market 
conditions.  In the absence of reliable data, the Group did not disclose the fair value of financial assets and 
financial liabilities measured at amortized cost as required by IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurements. 

The downgrade of sovereign credit rating, the increase in credit, liquidity, market and operational risks across 
all business sectors, the de-facto capital controls and restrictions on transfers of foreign currency overseas 
exposing the banking sector to litigation, the current and future possible changes to fiscal, economic and political 
conditions as well as changes to the legal and regulatory landscape in the Republic of Lebanon stemming from 
the above events and the declared Government’s Recovery Plan have led to significant uncertainties and the full 
range of effects on the banking sector in general and on the Group’s financial standing is unknown.

Management has significant concerns about the effects that the above matters will have on the equity of the 
Group and the recapitalization needs that will arise once the necessary adjustments are determined and recorded.  

The Group’s Management’s current strategy is to continue operations with limited scope of services and 
transactions, similarly to the banking sector as a whole, as they have since October 17, 2019. 

As disclosed in Note 45 to these consolidated financial statements, the Group’s capital adequacy ratio as 
at December 31, 2020 and 2019, similarly to other applicable regulatory ratios, was calculated based on the 
disclosed figures, and did not take into consideration the adjustments that will result from the uncertainties 
reflected above once these uncertainties become reasonably quantifiable.

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL  
 REPORTING STANDARDS (IFRSs)

2.1 New and amended IFRS that effective for the current year

The Group has applied the following amendments to IFRS which became effective for annual periods beginning 
on or after January 1, 2020:

• Amendments to IFRS 16 Leases: Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions
 In May 2020, the IASB issued Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions (Amendment to IFRS 16). The amendments  
 provide relief to lessees in accounting for rent concessions occurring as a direct consequence of COVID-19,  
 by introducing a practical expedient to IFRS 16. The practical expedient permits a lessee to elect not to assess 
 whether a COVID-19-related rent concession is a lease modification. A lessee that makes this election shall  
 account for any change in lease payments resulting from the COVID-19-related rent concession the same way  
 it would account for the change applying IFRS 16 if the change were not a lease modification. 

• IBOR Transition (Interest Rate Benchmark Reform) 
 In September 2019, the IASB issued Interest Rate Benchmark Reform (Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and 
 IFRS 7) (IBOR reform Phase 1). IBOR reform Phase 1 provides a number of reliefs, which apply to all hedging  
 relationships that are directly affected by interest rate benchmark reform. Such reliefs permit to assume that  
 hedging relationships are unaffected by the uncertainties caused by IBOR reform. This includes assuming that  
 hedged cash flows are not altered as a result of IBOR reform. Also, the reliefs allow to not discontinue  
 hedging relationships as a result of retrospective or prospective ineffectiveness. IBOR Reform Phase 1 also  
 requires additional disclosures in relation to those hedging relationships to which the reliefs are applied.

• Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018–2020 Cycle amending IFRS 1, IFRS 9, IFRS 16, and IAS 41.

• Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards 
 The amendments include consequential amendments to affected Standards so that they refer to the new 
  Framework. Not all amendments, however, update those pronouncements with regard to references to and  
 quotes from the Framework so that they refer to the revised Conceptual Framework. Some pronouncements  
 are only updated to indicate which version of the Framework they are referencing to (the IASC Framework  
 adopted by the IASB in 2001, the IASB Framework of 2010, or the new revised Framework of 2018) or to  
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 indicate that definitions in the Standard have not been updated with the new definitions developed in the  
 revised Conceptual Framework. The Standards which are amended are IFRS 2, IFRS 3, IFRS 6, IFRS 14,  
 IAS 1, IAS 8, IAS 34, IAS 37, IAS 38, IFRIC 12, IFRIC 19, IFRIC 20, IFRIC 22, and SIC-32.

• Amendments to IAS 3 Definition of a business 
 The amendments clarify that while businesses usually have outputs, outputs are not required for an integrated  
 set of activities and assets to qualify as a business. To be considered a business an acquired set of activities  
 and assets must include, at a minimum, an input and a substantive process that together significantly contribute  
 to the ability to create outputs. The amendments remove the assessment of whether market participants  
 are capable of replacing any missing inputs or processes and continuing to produce outputs. The amendments  
 also introduce additional guidance that helps to determine whether a substantive process has been acquired.  
 The amendments introduce an optional concentration test that permits a simplified assessment of whether  
 an acquired set of activities and assets is not a business. Under the optional concentration test, the acquired  
 set of activities and assets is not a business if substantially all of the fair value of the gross assets acquired is  
 concentrated in a single identifiable asset or Portfolio of similar assets. The amendments are applied  
 prospectively to all business combinations and asset acquisitions for which the acquisition date is on or after  
 January 1, 2020.

• Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 Definition of ‘material’ 
 The amendments make the definition of material in IAS 1 easier to understand and are not intended to alter  
 the underlying concept of materiality in IFRS Standards. The concept of ‘obscuring’ material information with 
  immaterial information has been included as part of the new definition. The threshold for materiality influencing  
 users has been changed from ‘could influence’ to ‘could reasonably be expected to influence’. The definition  
 of material in IAS 8 has been replaced by a reference to the definition of material in IAS 1. In addition, the IASB  
 amended other Standards and the Conceptual Framework that contain a definition of ‘material’ or refer to the  
 term ‘material’ to ensure consistency.

The application of the above amendments to IFRS did not have a material impact on the Group’s accounting 
policies, financial position or performance.  

2.2 New and revised IFRS in issue but not yet effective and not early adopted 

At the date of authorization of these financial statements, the Group has not applied the following new and 
revised IFRS Standards that have been issued but are not yet effective:

• Interest Rate Benchmark Reform - Phase 2 Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16:  
 In August 2020 the IASB issued Interest Rate Benchmark Reform - Phase 2 Amendments to IFRS 9,  
 IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16, (IBOR reform Phase 2) to address the accounting issues which arise upon  
 the replacement of an IBOR with a risk-free rate (“RFR”).

 IBOR reform Phase 2 includes a number of reliefs and additional disclosures. The reliefs apply upon the 
 transition of a financial instrument from an IBOR to RFR. As a practical expedient, changes to the basis for  
 determining contractual cash flows as a result of interest rate benchmark reform are required to be treated 
 as changes to a floating interest rate, provided that, for the financial instrument, the transition from the IBOR  
 benchmark rate to RFR takes place on an economically equivalent basis. Effective for annual periods beginning  
 on or after January 1, 2021.

• IFRS 3 — Reference to the Conceptual Framework: Amendments add an explicit statement that an acquirer  
 does not recognize contingent assets acquired in a business combination. Effective for annual periods  
 beginning on or after January 1, 2022.

• IFRS 9 — Financial Instruments: Amendments resulting from annual improvements to IFRS standards 2018- 
 2020 (fees in the ’10 per cent’ test for derecognition of financial liabilities). Effective for annual periods  
 beginning on or after January 1, 2022.

• IAS 16 — Property, Plant and Equipment: Amendments prohibit deducting from the cost of an item of  
 property, plant and equipment any proceeds from selling items produced while bringing that asset to the  
 location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management.  
 Instead, an entity recognizes the proceeds from selling such items, and the cost of producing those items, in  
 profit or loss. Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2022.

• IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets: Amendments specify that the ‘cost of  
 fulfilling’ a contract comprises the ‘cost that relate directly to the contract’. Effective for annual periods  
 beginning on or after January 1, 2022.

• Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: Amendments regarding the classification of  
 liabilities as Current or Non-current. Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023.

• IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts: IFRS 17 supersedes IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts as at January 1, 2023. 
 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023.

• Amendments to IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint  
 Ventures (2011) relating to the treatment of the sale or contribution of assets from and investor to its associate  
 or joint venture. Effective date deferred indefinitely. Adoption is still permitted.

The directors anticipate that these new standards, interpretations, and amendments will be adopted in the Group’s 
financial statements as and when they are applicable and adoption of these new standards, interpretations 
and amendment, may have no material impact on the financial statements of the Group in the period of initial 
application.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of preparation 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRSs) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Lebanese Pound (LBP) which is the Group’s presentation 
and functional currency. All values are rounded to the nearest thousands, except when indicated otherwise. 
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The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the following:

• Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value.
• Equity securities at fair value through other comprehensive income are measured at fair value.
• Derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value.
• Land and buildings acquired prior to 1999 are measured at their revalued amounts based on market prices  
 prevailing during 1999 as permitted by local regulations, to compensate for the inflationary effects prevailing  
 in the earlier years.

Assets and liabilities are grouped according to their nature and presented in the consolidated statement of 
financial position in an approximate order that reflects their relative liquidity.

Hyperinflation in Lebanon

IAS 29 ‘Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies’ does not prescribe when hyperinflation arises, 
however it does provide characteristics of an economic environment of a country which indicate hyperinflation 
and allows judgement as to when restatement of financial statements becomes necessary. Characteristics of 
the economic environment of a country which indicate the existence of hyperinflation include:

• the cumulative inflation rate over three years approaches, or exceeds, 100%;
• the general population prefers to keep its wealth in non-monetary assets or in a relatively stable foreign  
 currency. Amounts of local currency held are immediately invested to maintain purchasing power; 
• the general population regards monetary amounts not in terms of the local currency but in terms of a relatively  
 stable foreign currency. Prices may be quoted in that currency;
• sales and purchases on credit take place at prices that compensate for the expected loss of purchasing power  
 during the credit period, even if the period is short; and 
• interest rates, wages, and prices are linked to a price index.

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the economic environment in Lebanon experienced the acceleration 
of inflation indices, a three-year cumulative inflation rate exceeding 100%, and the significant devaluation of the 
Lebanese Pound. Judgement applied, determine that there were sufficient characteristics in Lebanon to consider 
its economy hyperinflationary as of December 31, 2020.  

The basic principles in IAS 29 is that the financial statements of an entity that reports in the currency of a 
hyperinflationary economy should be stated in terms of the measuring unit current at the balance sheet date. 
Comparative figures for prior period(s) should be restated into the same current measuring unit. 

Restatements are made by applying a general price index. Items such as monetary items that are already stated 
at the measuring unit at the balance sheet are not restated. Other items are restated based on the change in the 
general price index between the date those items were acquired or incurred and the balance sheet date. 

A gain or loss on the net monetary position is included in net income. The restated amount of a non-monetary 
position is reduced, in accordance with appropriate IFRSs when it exceeds its recoverable amount.

The Group has not applied the principles of IAS 29 in the preparation of these financial statements given, among 

other considerations, the significant divergence in market perception of the exchange rate in comparison to the 
official exchange rate; consensus on the use of same general price index across entities that report in Lebanese 
Pound; and any views of relevant regulators including taxation.
 
The principal accounting policies adopted are set out below:

A. Basis of Consolidation:

The consolidated financial statements of Banque BEMO S.A.L. incorporate the financial statements of the Bank 
and the entities controlled by the Bank and its subsidiaries.

Control is achieved when the Bank:

• has power over the investee;
• is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and
• has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Bank reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are 
changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

When the Bank has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, it has power over the investee 
when the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee 
unilaterally. The Bank considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not the Bank’s 
voting rights in an investee are sufficient to give it power, including:

• the size of the Bank’s holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote holders;
• potential voting rights held by the Bank, other vote holders or other parties;
• rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
• any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Bank has, or does not have, the current ability  
 to direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made, including voting patterns at  
 previous shareholders’ meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Bank obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the 
Bank loses control of the subsidiary. Income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the 
year are included in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the date the Bank 
gains control until the date the Bank ceases to control the subsidiary.

Non-controlling interests represent the portion of profit or loss and net assets of subsidiaries not owned directly 
or indirectly by the Bank. Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income (OCI) are attributed 
to the equity holders of the Bank and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling 
interests having a deficit balance. 

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting 
policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies. 
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All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between 
members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity 
transaction. If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it:

• Derecognizes the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary;
• Derecognizes the carrying amount of any non-controlling interests;
• Derecognizes the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity;
• Recognizes the fair value of the consideration received;
• Recognizes the fair value of any investment retained;
• Recognizes any surplus or deficit in profit or loss; and
• Reclassifies the parent’s share of components previously recognized in OCI to profit or loss or retained  
 earnings, as appropriate, as would be required if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or  
 liabilities.

The consolidated subsidiaries as at December 31, 2020 comprise: 

Company Country of 
Incorporation

Date of 
Acquisition  

Incorporation

Percentage of
Ownership

%

Business 
Activities

Bemo Securitization S.A.L. Lebanon 1998 96.00 Securitization & Structured

     Finance

Depository & Custody Company S.A.L. Lebanon 2007 99.90  Depository and custody of 

     securities

Bemo Investment Firm Ltd. Dubai 2013 100 Investment

B. Business Combinations:

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a 
business combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values 
of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree 
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs 
other than those associated with the issue of debt or equity securities are generally recognized in profit or loss 
as incurred.

The consideration transferred does not include amounts related to the settlement of pre-existing relationships. 
Such amounts are generally recognized in profit or loss.
 
Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling 
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if 
any) over the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. 

When the excess is negative the group re-assess whether it has correctly identified all of the assets acquired 
and all of the liabilities assumed and reviews the procedures used to measure the amounts to be recognized at 
the acquisition date. If the assessment still results in an excess of the fair value of net assets acquired over the 
aggregate consideration transferred, these the gain is recognized in profit or loss. 

Non-controlling interests in the net assets (excluding goodwill) of consolidated subsidiaries and associates are 
identified separately from the Group’s equity therein.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share 
of the entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation may be initially measured either at fair value or at the non-
controlling interests’ proportionate share of the recognized amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. 
The choice of measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of non-controlling 
interests are measured at fair value or, when applicable, on the basis specified in another IFRS.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business combination includes assets or liabilities resulting 
from a contingent consideration arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-date 
fair value and included as part of the consideration transferred in a business combination. Changes in the fair value 
of the contingent consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively, 
with corresponding adjustments against goodwill. Measurement period adjustments are adjustments that arise 
from additional information obtained during the ‘measurement period’ (which cannot exceed one year from the 
acquisition date) about facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that do not qualify 
as measurement period adjustments depends on how the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent 
consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent 
settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability is 
remeasured at subsequent reporting dates in accordance with IAS 39, or IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities 
and Contingent Assets, as appropriate, with the corresponding gain or loss being recognized in profit or loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree 
is remeasured to its acquisition-date fair value and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognized in profit or loss. 
Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have previously been recognized 
in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss where such treatment would be appropriate if 
that interest were disposed of.
 
If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the 
combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. 
Those provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement period (see above), or additional assets or 
liabilities are recognized, to reflect new information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed at the 
acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the amounts recognized at that date. 

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity 
transaction.
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C. Foreign Currencies:

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity, transactions in currencies other than the 
entity’s reporting currency (foreign currencies) are recognized at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates 
of the transactions. At the end of each reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies 
are retranslated at the official rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are 
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the official rates prevailing at the date when the fair value 
was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not 
retranslated.

Exchange differences on monetary items are recognized in profit or loss in the period in which they arise except for 
exchange differences on transactions entered into in order to hedge certain foreign currency risks, and except for 
exchange differences on monetary items receivable from or payable to a foreign operation for which settlement 
is neither planned nor likely to occur in the foreseeable future, which are recognized in other comprehensive 
income, and presented in the translation reserve in equity. These are recognized in profit or loss on disposal of 
the net investment.

For the purposes of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign 
operations are translated into U.S. Dollars using official exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting 
period. Income and expense items are translated at the average official exchange rates for the period, unless 
exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that period, in which case the official exchange rates at the dates of 
the transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognized in other comprehensive income 
and accumulated in equity (attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate). Such exchange differences are 
recognized in profit or loss in the period in which the foreign operation is disposed of.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that does not result in the Group losing control over 
the subsidiary, the proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences are re-attributed to non-controlling 
interests and are not recognized in profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets and liabilities acquired arising on the acquisition of 
a foreign operation are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the rate of 
exchange prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Exchange differences arising are recognized in other 
comprehensive income.
 
Cash flows provided by and used in foreign currencies under various activities, as included in the statement of 
cash flows, are converted into Lebanese Pounds at year-end exchange rates, except for cash and cash equivalents 
at the beginning of the year which is converted at the prior year closing exchange rates and the effect of currency 
fluctuation, if any, is disclosed separately.

D. Financial Instruments:

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized in the Group’s statement of financial position when the 
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Recognized financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are 

directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial 
assets and financial liabilities at FVTPL) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or 
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of 
financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognized immediately in profit or loss.

If the transaction price differs from fair value at initial recognition, the Group will account for such difference as 
follows:

• If fair value is evidenced by a quoted price in an active market for an identical asset or liability or based on a  
 valuation technique that uses only data from observable markets, then the difference is recognized in profit or  
 loss on initial recognition (i.e. day 1 profit or loss)

• In all other cases, the fair value will be adjusted to bring it in line with the transaction price (i.e. day 1 profit or  
 loss will be deferred by including it in the initial carrying amount of the asset or liability). 

After initial recognition, the deferred gain or loss will be released to profit or loss on a rational basis, only to the  
extent that it arises from a change in a factor (including time) that market participants would take into account 
when pricing the asset or liability.

E. Financial Assets:

All financial assets are recognized and derecognized on a trade date where the purchase or sale of a financial 
asset is under contract whose terms require delivery of the financial asset within the timeframe established 
by the market concerned, and initially measured at fair value, plus transaction costs, except for those financial 
assets classified as at FVTPL. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets classified 
as at FVTPL are recognized immediately in profit or loss.

All recognized financial assets that are within the scope of IFRS 9 are required to be subsequently measured at 
amortized cost or fair value on the basis of the entity’s business model for managing the financial assets and the 
contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets.
Specifically: 

• Debt instruments that are held within a business model whose objective is to collect the contractual cash  
 flows, and that have contractual cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal  
 amount outstanding (SPPI), are subsequently measured at amortized cost; 

• Debt instruments that are held within a business model whose objective is both to collect the contractual  
 cash flows and to sell the debt instruments, and that have contractual cash flows that are SPPI, are subsequently  
 measured at FVTOCI; 

• All other debt instruments (e.g. debt instruments managed on a fair value basis, or held for sale) and equity  
 investments are subsequently measured at FVTPL. 

However, the Group may make the following irrevocable election / designation at initial recognition of a financial 
asset on an asset-by-asset basis:
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• The Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment that  
 is neither held for trading nor contingent consideration recognized by an acquirer in a business combination  
 to which IFRS 3 applies, in OCI; and 

• The Group may irrevocably designate a debt instrument that meets the amortized cost or FVTOCI criteria as  
 measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch (referred to as the  
 fair value option). 

Debt instruments at amortized cost or at FVTOCI

For an asset to be classified and measured at amortized cost or at FVTOCI, its contractual terms should give rise 
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding (SPPI).

An assessment of business models for managing financial assets is fundamental to the classification of a financial 
asset. The Group determines the business models at a level that reflects how groups of financial assets are 
managed together to achieve a particular business objective. The Group’s business model does not depend on 
management’s intentions for an individual instrument, therefore the business model assessment is performed 
at a higher level of aggregation rather than on an instrument-by-instrument basis.

When a debt instrument measured at FVTOCI is derecognized, the cumulative gain/loss previously recognized in 
OCI is reclassified from equity to profit or loss. In contrast, for an equity investment designated as measured at 
FVTOCI, the cumulative gain/loss previously recognized in OCI is not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss 
but transferred within equity. 

The Group reassesses its business models each reporting period to determine whether the business models 
have changed since the preceding period.
 
Debt instruments that are subsequently measured at amortized cost or at FVTOCI are subject to impairment.

In the current and prior reporting period the Group has applied the fair value option and so has designated debt 
instruments that meet the amortized cost or FVTOCI criteria as measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL 

Financial assets at FVTPL are: 

• assets with contractual cash flows that are not SPPI; or/and 
• assets that are held in a business model other than held to collect contractual cash flows or held to collect  
 and sell; or 
• assets designated at FVTPL using the fair value option. 

These assets are measured at fair value, with any gains/losses arising on remeasurement recognized in profit or 
loss. Fair value is determined in the manner described below.

Reclassifications 

If the business model under which the Group holds financial assets changes, the financial assets affected are 
reclassified. The classification and measurement requirements related to the new category apply prospectively 
from the first day of the first reporting period following the change in business model that results in reclassifying 
the Group’s financial assets.

Impairment

The Group recognizes loss allowances for ECLs on the following financial instruments that are not measured at 
FVTPL:

• deposits at banks;
• loans and advances to banks; 
• loans and advances to customers; 
• customers’ liability under acceptances
• debt investment securities; 
• loan commitments issued; and 
• financial guarantee contracts issued. 

No impairment loss is recognized on equity investments. 

With the exception of Purchased or Originated Credit Impaired (POCI) financial assets (which are considered 
separately below), ECLs are required to be measured through a loss allowance at an amount equal to:

• 12-month ECL, i.e. lifetime ECL that result from those default events on the financial instrument that are  
 possible within 12 months after the reporting date, (referred to as Stage 1); or 

• full lifetime ECL, i.e. lifetime ECL that result from all possible default events over the life of the financial  
 instrument, (referred to as Stage 2 and Stage 3). 

A loss allowance for full lifetime ECL is required for a financial instrument if the credit risk on that financial 
instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition. For all other financial instruments, ECLs are 
measured at an amount equal to the 12-month ECL. 

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of the present value of credit losses. These are measured as the 
present value of the difference between the cash flows due to the Group under the contract and the cash flows 
that the Group expects to receive arising from the weighting of multiple future economic scenarios, discounted 
at the asset’s EIR.

• for undrawn loan commitments, the ECL is the difference between the present value of the difference  
 between the contractual cash flows that are due to the Group if the holder of the commitment draws down  
 the loan and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive if the loan is drawn down; and 
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• for financial guarantee contracts, the ECL is the difference between the expected payments to reimburse the  
 holder of the guaranteed debt instrument less any amounts that the Group expects to receive from the holder,  
 the debtor or any other party. 

The Group measures ECL on an individual basis, or on a collective basis for portfolios of loans that share similar 
economic risk characteristics. The measurement of the loss allowance is based on the present value of the 
asset’s expected cash flows using the asset’s original EIR, regardless of whether it is measured on an individual 
basis or a collective basis

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated 
future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred. Credit-impaired financial assets are referred to as Stage 3 
assets. Evidence of credit-impairment includes observable data about the following events: 

• significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer; 
• a breach of contract such as a default or past due event; 
• the lender of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty,  
 having granted to the borrower a concession that the lender would not otherwise consider;  
• the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties; or 
• the purchase of a financial asset at a deep discount that reflects the incurred credit losses. 

It may not be possible to identify a single discrete event—instead, the combined effect of several events may 
have caused financial assets to become credit-impaired. The Group assesses whether debt instruments that are 
financial assets measured at amortized cost or FVTOCI are credit-impaired at each reporting date. To assess if 
sovereign and corporate debt instruments are credit impaired, the Group considers factors such as bond yields, 
credit ratings and the ability of the borrower to raise funding.

Purchased or originated credit-impaired (POCI) financial assets 

POCI financial assets are treated differently because the asset is credit-impaired at initial recognition. For these 
assets, the Group recognizes all changes in lifetime ECL since initial recognition as a loss allowance with any 
changes recognized in profit or loss. A favourable change for such assets creates an impairment gain.

Definition of default

Critical to the determination of ECL is the definition of default. The definition of default is used in measuring the 
amount of ECL and in the determination of whether the loss allowance is based on 12-month or lifetime ECL, as 
default is a component of the probability of default (PD) which affects both the measurement of ECLs and the 
identification of a significant increase in credit risk.
The Group considers the following as constituting an event of default:

• the borrower is past due more than 90 days on any material credit obligation to the Group; or 

• the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group in full. 
• It is becoming probable that the borrower will restructure the asset as a result of bankruptcy due to the  
 borrower’s inability to pay its credit obligations.

The definition of default is appropriately tailored to reflect different characteristics of different types of assets. 
Overdrafts are considered as being past due once the customer has breached an advised limit or has been 
advised of a limit smaller than the current amount outstanding.

When assessing if the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligation, the Group takes into account both 
qualitative and quantitative indicators. The information assessed depends on the type of the asset, for example 
in corporate lending a qualitative indicator used is the breach of covenants, which is not relevant for retail lending. 
Quantitative indicators, such as overdue status and non-payment on another obligation of the same counterparty 
are key inputs in this analysis. The Group uses a variety of sources of information to assess default which are 
either developed internally or obtained from external sources. 

Significant increase in credit risk

The Group monitors all financial assets, issued loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts that are 
subject to the impairment requirements to assess whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk 
since initial recognition. If there has been a significant increase in credit risk the Group will measure the loss 
allowance based on lifetime rather than 12-month ECL. 

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition, 
the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument at the reporting date based 
on the remaining maturity of the instrument with the risk of a default occurring that was anticipated for the 
remaining maturity at the current reporting date when the financial instrument was first recognized. In making 
this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and 
supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking information that is available without undue cost 
or effort, based on the Group’s historical experience and expert credit assessment including forward-looking 
information. 

Modification and derecognition of financial assets 

A modification of a financial asset occurs when the contractual terms governing the cash flows of a financial 
asset are renegotiated or otherwise modified between initial recognition and maturity of the financial asset. A 
modification affects the amount and/or timing of the contractual cash flows either immediately or at a future 
date. In addition, the introduction or adjustment of existing covenants of an existing loan would constitute a 
modification even if these new or adjusted covenants do not yet affect the cash flows immediately but may affect 
the cash flows depending on whether the covenant is or is not met (e.g. a change to the increase in the interest 
rate that arises when covenants are breached).

When a financial asset is modified the Group assesses whether this modification results in derecognition. In 
accordance with the Group’s policy a modification results in derecognition when it gives rise to substantially 
different terms.

The Group derecognizes a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the asset’s cash flows expire 
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(including expiry arising from a modification with substantially different terms), or when the financial asset and 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset are transferred to another entity. If the Group 
neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the 
transferred asset, the Group recognizes its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it 
may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial 
asset, the Group continues to recognize the financial asset and also recognizes a collateralised borrowing for the 
proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the 
sum of the consideration received and receivable and the cumulative gain/loss that had been recognized in OCI 
and accumulated in equity is recognized in profit or loss, with the exception of equity investment designated 
as measured at FVTOCI, where the cumulative gain/loss previously recognized in OCI is not subsequently 
reclassified to profit or loss.

On derecognition of a financial asset other than in its entirety (e.g. when the Group retains an option to repurchase 
part of a transferred asset), the Group allocates the previous carrying amount of the financial asset between the 
part it continues to recognize under continuing involvement, and the part it no longer recognizes on the basis of 
the relative fair values of those parts on the date of the transfer. The difference between the carrying amount 
allocated to the part that is no longer recognized and the sum of the consideration received for the part no longer 
recognized and any cumulative gain/loss allocated to it that had been recognized in OCI is recognized in profit or 
loss. A cumulative gain/loss that had been recognized in OCI is allocated between the part that continues to be 
recognized and the part that is no longer recognized on the basis of the relative fair values of those parts. This 
does not apply for equity investments designated as measured at FVTOCI, as the cumulative gain/loss previously 
recognized in OCI is not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss.

Exchange of securities

Debt securities exchanged against securities with longer maturities with similar risks, and issued by the same 
issuer, are not derecognized because they do not meet the conditions for derecognition.  Premiums and discounts 
derived from the exchange of said securities are deferred to be amortized as a yield enhancement on a time 
proportionate basis, over the period of the extended maturities.

Repurchase and Reverse Repurchase Agreements

Securities sold under agreements to repurchase at a specified future date (“repos”) are not derecognized from 
the statement of financial position.  The corresponding cash received, including accrued interest, is recognized 
on the statement of financial position reflecting its economic substances as a loan to the Group.  The difference 
between the sale and repurchase prices is treated as interest expense and is accrued over the life of the 
agreement using the effective interest rate method.

Conversely, securities purchased under agreements to resell at a specified date are not recognized in the 
statement of financial position.  The consideration paid, including accrued interest is recorded in the statement 
of financial position reflecting the transaction’s economic substance as a loan by the Group.  The difference 
between the purchase and resale prices is treated as interest income in the statement of profit or loss and is 
accrued over the life of the agreement using the effective interest rate method.

Write-off 

Loans and debt securities are written off when the Group has no reasonable expectations of recovering the 
financial asset (either in its entirety or a portion of it). This is the case when the Group determines that the 
borrower does not have assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the 
amounts subject to the write-off. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event. The Group may apply enforcement 
activities to financial assets written off. Recoveries resulting from the Group’s enforcement activities will result 
in impairment gains.

Presentation of allowance for ECL in the statement of financial position 

Loss allowances for ECL are presented in the statement of financial position as follows:

• for financial assets measured at amortized cost: as a deduction from the gross carrying amount of the assets; 

• for debt instruments measured at FVTOCI: no loss allowance is recognized in the statement of financial  
 position as the carrying amount is at fair value. However, the loss allowance is included as part of the revaluation 
 amount in the investments revaluation reserve; 

• for loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts: as a provision; and 

• where a financial instrument includes both a drawn and an undrawn component, and the Group cannot  
 identify the ECL on the loan commitment component separately from those on the drawn component: the  
 Group presents a combined loss allowance for both components. The combined amount is presented as a  
 deduction from the gross carrying amount of the drawn component. Any excess of the loss allowance over  
 the gross amount of the drawn component is presented as a provision. 

F. Loans and Advances:

Loans and advances are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments, other than 
investment securities, that are not held for trading. Loans and advances are measured at amortized cost net of 
provision for credit losses where applicable.

G. Financial Liabilities and Equity Instruments Issued by the Group:

Debt and equity instruments that are issued are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance 
with the substance of the contractual arrangement.

A financial liability is a contractual obligation to deliver cash or another financial asset or to exchange financial 
assets or financial liabilities with another entity under conditions that are potentially unfavourable to the Group or 
a contract that will or may be settled in the Group’s own equity instruments and is a non-derivative contract for 
which the Group is or may be obliged to deliver a variable number of its own equity instruments, or a derivative 
contract over own equity that will or may be settled other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash (or 
another financial asset) for a fixed number of the Group’s own equity instruments.
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Equity instruments 

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting 
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are recognized at the proceeds received, net of direct 
issue costs.
 
Repurchase of the Group’s own equity instruments is recognized and deducted directly in equity. No gain/loss is 
recognized in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Group’s own equity instruments.

Financial liabilities 

Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities ‘at FVTPL’ or ‘other financial liabilities’.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL 

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the financial liability is (i) held for trading, or (ii) it is designated 
as at FVTPL.

A financial liability is classified as held for trading if:

• it has been incurred principally for the purpose of repurchasing it in the near term; or 
• on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Group manages together  
 and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or 
• it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument. 

A financial liability other than a financial liability held for trading or contingent consideration that may be paid by 
an acquirer as part of a business combination may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if:

• such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would  
 otherwise arise; or 

• the financial liability forms part of a group of financial assets or financial liabilities or both, which is managed and  
 its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with the Group’s documented risk management  
 or investment strategy, and information about the grouping is provided internally on that basis; or 

• it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives, and IFRS 9 permits the entire hybrid  
 (combined) contract to be designated as at FVTPL. 

Financial liabilities at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any gains/losses arising on remeasurement recognized 
in profit or loss to the extent that they are not part of a designated hedging relationship. The net gain/loss 
recognized in profit or loss incorporates any interest paid on the financial liability and is included in the ‘net 
income from other financial instruments at FVTPL’ line item in the profit or loss account.

However, for non-derivative financial liabilities that are designated as at FVTPL, the amount of change in the fair 
value of the financial liability that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability is recognized in OCI, 
unless the recognition of the effects of changes in the liability’s credit risk in OCI would create or enlarge an 

accounting mismatch in profit or loss. The remaining amount of change in the fair value of liability is recognized in 
profit or loss. Changes in fair value attributable to a financial liability’s credit risk that are recognized in OCI are not 
subsequently reclassified to profit or loss; instead, they are transferred to retained earnings upon derecognition 
of the financial liability.

For issued loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts that are designated as at FVTPL all gains and 
losses are recognized in profit or loss.

In making the determination of whether recognizing changes in the liability’s credit risk in OCI will create or 
enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss, the Group assesses whether it expects that the effects of 
changes in the liability’s credit risk will be offset in profit or loss by a change in the fair value of another financial 
instrument measured at FVTPL. This determination is made at initial recognition. 

Other financial liabilities 

Other financial liabilities, including deposits and borrowings, are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction 
costs. Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial liability and of allocating 
interest expense over the relevant period. The EIR is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash 
payments through the expected life of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net 
carrying amount on initial recognition. For details on EIR see the “net interest income section” above.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognizes financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, 
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognized and 
the consideration paid and payable is recognized in profit or loss.

When the Group exchanges with the existing lender one debt instrument into another one with substantially 
different terms, such exchange is accounted for as an extinguishment of the original financial liability and the 
recognition of a new financial liability. Similarly, the Group accounts for substantial modification of terms of an 
existing liability or part of it as an extinguishment of the original financial liability and the recognition of a new 
liability. It is assumed that the terms are substantially different if the discounted present value of the cash flows 
under the new terms, including any fees paid net of any fees received and discounted using the original effective 
rate is at least 10 per cent different from the discounted present value of the remaining cash flows of the original 
financial liability.

H. Offsetting:

Financial assets and liabilities are set-off and the net amount is presented in the consolidated statement of 
financial position when, and only when, the Group has a legal right to set-off the amounts or intends either to 
settle on a net basis or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
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I. Fair Value measurement of financial instruments

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date.

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured by taking into account the characteristics of the asset or liability 
that if market participants would take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability at the 
measurement date.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate 
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that 
would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data 
are available to measure fair value, maximizing the use of relevant observable inputs and minimizing the use of 
unobservable inputs.

For financial reporting purposes, fair value measurement are categorized into level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree 
to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair 
value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

• Level 1 - Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can  
 access at the measurement date;
• Level 2 - Inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset and liability  
 either directly or indirectly; and
• Level 3 - Inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

Fair value is determine as described under 48.

J. Derivative Financial Instruments:

Derivatives are initially recognized at fair value at the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently 
remeasured to their fair value at each reporting date. The resulting gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss 
immediately unless the derivative is designated and effective as a hedging instrument, in which event the timing 
of the recognition in profit or loss depends on the nature of the hedge relationship. 

Embedded Derivatives

Derivatives embedded in other financial instruments or other host contracts with embedded derivatives are 
treated as separate derivatives when their risks and characteristics are not closely related to those of the host 
contracts and the host contract:

• is not measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in profit or loss.
• is not an asset within the scope of IFRS 9.

K. Financial guarantee contracts 

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the 
holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments when due in accordance with the 
terms of a debt instrument.

Financial guarantee contracts issued by a group entity are initially measured at their fair values and, if not 
designated as at FVTPL and not arising from a transfer of a financial asset, are subsequently measured at the 
higher of: 

• The amount of the loss allowance determined in accordance with IFRS 9; and 

• The amount initially recognized less, where appropriate, cumulative amount of income recognized in  
 accordance with the Group’s revenue recognition policies.

The Group has not designated any financial guarantee contracts as at FVTPL.

L. Hedge accounting

The Group designates certain derivatives as hedging instruments in respect of foreign currency risk and interest 
rate risk in fair value hedges, cash flow hedges, or hedges of net investments in foreign operations as appropriate. 
Hedges of foreign exchange risk on firm commitments are accounted for as cash flow hedges. The Group does 
not apply fair value hedge accounting of portfolio hedges of interest rate risk. In addition the Group does not use 
the exemption to continue using IAS 39 hedge accounting rules, i.e. the Group applies IFRS 9 hedge accounting 
rules in full.

At the inception of the hedge relationship, the Group documents the relationship between the hedging instrument 
and the hedged item, along with its risk management objectives and its strategy for undertaking various hedge 
transactions. 
 
Furthermore, at the inception of the hedge and on an ongoing basis, the Group documents whether the hedging 
instrument is effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of the hedged item attributable to the 
hedged risk, which is when the hedging relationships meet all of the following hedge effectiveness requirements:

• there is an economic relationship between the hedged item and the hedging instrument; 
• the effect of credit risk does not dominate the value changes that result from that economic relationship; and 
• the hedge ratio of the hedging relationship is the same as that resulting from the quantity of the hedged item  
 that the Group actually hedges and the quantity of the hedging instrument that the Group actually uses to  
 hedge that quantity of hedged item. 

The Group rebalances a hedging relationship in order to comply with the hedge ratio requirements when 
necessary. In such cases discontinuation may apply to only part of the hedging relationship. For example, the 
hedge ratio might be adjusted in such a way that some of the volume of the hedged item is no longer part of a 
hedging relationship, hence hedge accounting is discontinued only for the volume of the hedged item that is no 
longer part of the hedging relationship.
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If a hedging relationship ceases to meet the hedge effectiveness requirement relating to the hedge ratio but the 
risk management objective for that designated hedging relationship remains the same, the Group adjusts the 
hedge ratio of the hedging relationship (i.e. rebalances the hedge) so that it meets the qualifying criteria again.

In some hedge relationships the Group designates only the intrinsic value of options. In this case the fair value 
change of the time value component of the option contract is deferred in OCI, over the term of the hedge, to the 
extent that it relates to the hedged item and is reclassified from equity to profit or loss when the hedged item 
does not result in the recognition of a non-financial item. The Group’s risk management policy does not include 
hedges of items that result in the recognition of non-financial items, because the Group’s risk exposures relate 
to financial items only.

The hedged items designated by the Group are time-period related hedged items, which means that the amount 
of the original time value of the option that relates to the hedged item is amortized from equity to profit or loss 
on a rational basis (e.g. straight-line) over the term of the hedging relationship.

In some hedge relationships the Group excludes from the designation the forward element of forward contracts 
or the currency basis spread of cross currency hedging instruments. In this case a similar treatment is applied 
to the one applied for the time value of options. The treatment for the forward element of a forward and the 
currency basis element is optional, and the option is applied on a hedge by hedge basis, unlike the treatment 
for the time value of the options which is mandatory. For hedge relationships with forwards or foreign currency 
derivatives such as cross currency interest rate swaps, where the forward element or the currency basis spread 
is excluded from the designation the Group generally recognizes the excluded element in OCI.

Fair value hedges 

The fair value change on qualifying hedging instruments is recognized in profit or loss except when the hedging 
instrument hedges an equity instrument designated at FVTOCI in which case it is recognized in OCI.

The carrying amount of a hedged item not already measured at fair value is adjusted for the fair value change 
attributable to the hedged risk with a corresponding entry in profit or loss. For debt instruments measured at 
FVTOCI, the carrying amount is not adjusted as it is already at fair value, but the part of the fair value gain or 
loss on the hedged item associated with the hedged risk is recognized in profit or loss instead of OCI. When the 
hedged item is an equity instrument designated at FVTOCI, the hedging gain/loss remains in OCI to match that 
of the hedging instrument.

Where hedging gains/losses are recognized in profit or loss, they are recognized in the same line as the hedged 
item. 

The Group discontinues hedge accounting only when the hedging relationship (or a part thereof) ceases to meet 
the qualifying criteria (after rebalancing, if applicable). This includes instances when the hedging instrument 
expires or is sold, terminated or exercised. The discontinuation is accounted for prospectively. The fair value 
adjustment to the carrying amount of hedged items for which the EIR method is used (i.e. debt instruments 
measured at amortized cost or at FVTOCI) arising from the hedged risk is amortized to profit or loss commencing 
no later than the date when hedge accounting is discontinued.

Cash flow hedges 

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives and other qualifying hedging instruments that 
are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges is recognized in the cash flow hedging reserve, a separate 
component of OCI, limited to the cumulative change in fair value of the hedged item from inception of the hedge 
less any amounts recycled to profit or loss.

Amounts previously recognized in OCI and accumulated in equity are reclassified to profit or loss in the periods 
when the hedged item affects profit or loss, in the same line as the recognized hedged item. If the Group no 
longer expects the transaction to occur that amount is immediately reclassified to profit or loss.

The Group discontinues hedge accounting only when the hedging relationship (or a part thereof) ceases to meet 
the qualifying criteria (after rebalancing, if applicable). This includes instances when the hedging instrument 
expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, or where the occurrence of the designated hedged forecast transaction 
is no longer considered to be highly probable. The discontinuation is accounted for prospectively. Any gain/loss 
recognized in OCI and accumulated in equity at that time remains in equity and is recognized when the forecast 
transaction is ultimately recognized in profit or loss. When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, 
the gain/loss accumulated in equity is reclassified and recognized immediately in profit or loss.
 
Hedges of net investments in foreign operations 

Hedges of net investments in foreign operations are accounted for similarly to cash flow hedges. Any gain/loss 
on the hedging instrument relating to the effective portion of the hedge is recognized in OCI and accumulated in 
the foreign currency translation reserve.

Gains and losses on the hedging instrument relating to the effective portion of the hedge accumulated in the 
foreign currency translation reserve are reclassified to profit or loss in the same way as exchange differences 
relating to the foreign operation.

M. Investments in Associates:

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to 
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint control over 
those policies.

The considerations made in determining significant influence are similar to those necessary to determine control 
over subsidiaries.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates, except where the Group has control over the associates’ 
financial and operating policies, are incorporated in the consolidated financial statements using the equity 
method of accounting, except when the investment is classified as held for sale, in which case it is accounted 
for under IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held-for-Sale and Discontinued Operations. Under the equity method, an 
investment in an associate is initially recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost and 
adjusted thereafter to recognize the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the 
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associate. When the Group’s share of losses of an associate exceeds the Group’s interest in that associate, the 
Group discontinues recognizing its share of further losses. Additional losses are recognized only to the extent 
that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, 
liabilities and contingent liabilities of an associate recognized at the date of acquisition is recognized as goodwill. 
The goodwill is included within the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of 
the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost of acquisition, after 
reassessment, is recognized immediately in profit or loss.

The entire carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with 
IAS 36 Impairment of Assets as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and 
fair value less costs to sell) with its carrying amount, Any impairment loss recognized forms part of the carrying 
amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognized in accordance with IAS 36 to the 
extent that the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases.
 
The Group discontinues the use of the equity method from the date when the investment ceases to be an 
associate or when the investment is classified as held for sale. When the Group retains an interest in the former 
associate or joint venture and the retained interest is a financial asset, the Group measures the retained interest 
at fair value at that date and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition. The difference 
between the carrying amount of the associate at the date the equity method was discontinued, and the fair 
value of any retained interest and any proceeds from disposing of a part interest in the associate is included in 
the determination of the gain or loss on disposal of the associate. In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts 
previously recognized in other comprehensive income in relation to that associate on the same basis as would 
be required if that associate had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss 
previously recognized in other comprehensive income by that associate would be reclassified to profit or loss on 
the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss 
(as a reclassification adjustment) when the equity method is discontinued. 

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate but the Group continues to use the equity 
method, the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the gain or loss that had previously been 
recognized in other comprehensive income relating to that reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss 
would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities. 

When a Group entity transacts with an associate of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions 
with the associate are recognized in the Group’s consolidated financial statements only to the extent of interests 
in the associate that are not related to the Group. 

The financial statements of the associates are prepared for the same reporting period of the Group.

N. Property and Equipment:

Property and equipment are stated at historical cost, less accumulated depreciation and impairment loss, if any.

Depreciation is recognized so as to write off the cost or valuation of property and equipment, other than land 
and advance payments on capital expenditures, less their residual values, if any, over the estimated useful lives 
of the related assets. Depreciation is calculated systematically using the straight-line method on the basis of the 
following annual rates:

Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their useful lives estimated at 
five years.

An item of property and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are 
expected from its use or disposal.

The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property and equipment is determined as the 
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognized in profit or loss.

O.  Intangible Assets Other than Goodwill:

Intangible assets other than goodwill, are amortized on a straight-line basis at the rate of 20%. Intangible assets 
are subject to impairment testing. Subsequent expenditure on intangible assets is capitalized only when it 
increases the future economic benefits embodied in the specific asset to which it relates all other expenditure 
is expressed when incurred.

P. Assets acquired in satisfaction of loans:

Real estate properties acquired through the enforcement of collateral over loans and advances, in accordance 
with the Central Bank of Lebanon main circular 78, are initially recognized at their fair value as approved by 
Banking Control Commission and are subsequently measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. 
The acquisition of such assets is regulated by the local banking authorities that require the liquidation of these 
assets within 2 years from Banking Control Commission approval date. In case of default of liquidation, the 
regulatory authorities require an appropriation of a special reserve from the yearly profits reflected in equity.

Rate

%

Property 2.5

Furniture and fixtures 7.5 to 8

Equipment 10 to 12

Computer hardware 20

Installations and leasehold improvements 15 to 20

Vehicles 12 to 20
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Upon sale of repossessed assets, any gain or loss realized is recognized as a separate line item in the statement 
of profit or loss. Gains resulting from the sale of repossessed assets are transferred to reserves to be used for 
capital increase starting in the following financial year. 

Q. Impairment of Tangible and Intangible Assets:

At each statement of financial position date, the carrying amounts of tangible and intangible assets are reviewed 
to determine whether there is any indication that these assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such 
indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated in order to determine the extent of impairment provision 
required, if any.

Recoverable amount is defined as the higher of:

• Fair value that reflects market conditions at the statement of financial position date, less cost to sell, if any.  
 To determine fair value, the Group adopts the market comparability approach using as indicators the current 
 prices for similar assets in the same location and condition.

• Value in use: the present value of estimated future cash flows expected to arise from the continuing use of  
 the asset and from its disposal at the end of its useful life, only applicable to assets with cash generation units. 

If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the 
asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognized immediately in profit or loss, unless 
the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation 
decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is 
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognized for the 
asset (cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognized immediately in profit or 
loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss 
is treated as a revaluation increase.

In this connection, the recoverable amount of the Group’s owned properties and of properties acquired in 
satisfaction of debts, is the estimated market value, as determined by real estate appraisers on the basis of 
market compatibility by comparing with similar transactions in the same geographical area and on the basis of 
the expected value of a current sale between a willing buyer and a willing seller, that is, other than in a forced or 
liquidation sale after adjustment for illiquidity and market constraints.

The impairment loss is charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

R. Employees’ Benefits:

Obligations for contributions to defined employees’ benefits are recognized as an expense on a current basis.

Employees’ End-of-Service Indemnities: (Under the Lebanese Jurisdiction)
The provision for staff termination indemnities is based on the liability that would arise if the employment of  
all the staff were terminated at the statement of financial position date. This provision is calculated in  
accordance with the directives of the Lebanese Social Security Fund and Labor laws based on the number of  
years of service multiplied by the monthly average of the last 12 months remunerations and less contributions  
paid to the Lebanese Social Security National Fund and interest accrued by the Fund.

Defined Benefit Plans: (Under other jurisdictions)
Obligations in respect of defined benefit pension plans is calculated separately for each plan by estimating the 
amount of future benefit that employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods; 
that benefit is discounted to determine its present value, and any unrecognized past service costs and the fair 
value of any plan assets are deducted.

S. Provisions:

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present obligation as a result of a past event, and it is probable 
that the Group will be required to settle that obligation. Provision is measured at the best estimate of the 
consideration required to settle the obligation at the statement of financial position date.

Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying 
amount is the present value of those cash flows determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at 
a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the 
risks specific to the liability.

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a 
third party, the receivable is recognized as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received 
and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

T. Net Interest Income and expense:

Interest income and expense for all financial instruments except for those classified as held for trading or those 
measured or designated as at FVTPL are recognised in ‘Net interest income’ as ‘Interest income’ and ‘Interest 
expense’ in the profit or loss account using the effective interest method. Interest on financial instruments 
measured as at FVTPL is included within the fair value movement during the period, see ‘Net interest and other 
gain on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss’. 

The effective interest rate (EIR) is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash flows of the financial 
instrument through the expected life of the financial instrument or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the 
net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability. The future cash flows are estimated taking into 
account all the contractual terms of the instrument. 

The calculation of the EIR includes all fees paid or received between parties to the contract that are incremental 
and directly attributable to the specific lending arrangement, transaction costs, and all other premiums or 
discounts. For financial assets at FVTPL transaction costs are recognised in profit or loss at initial recognition. 
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The interest income/ interest expense is calculated by applying the EIR to the gross carrying amount of non-
credit impaired financial assets (i.e. at the amortised cost of the financial asset before adjusting for any expected 
credit loss allowance), or to the amortised cost of financial liabilities. For credit-impaired financial assets the 
interest income is calculated by applying the EIR to the amortised cost of the credit-impaired financial assets (i.e. 
the gross carrying amount less the allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs). For financial assets purchased 
or originated credit-impaired (POCI) the EIR reflects the ECLs in determining the future cash flows expected to 
be received from the financial asset.

 
U. Net fee and commission income 

Fee and commission income and expense that are integral to the effective interest rate on a financial asset or 
liability (e.g. commissions and fees earned on loans) are included under interest income and expense.

Other fee and commission income are recognized as the related services are performed.

V. Dividend income

Dividend income is recognized when the right to receive payment is established. Dividends on equity 
instruments designated as at fair value through other comprehensive income are recognized in profit or loss, 
unless the dividend clearly represents a recovery of part of the investment, in which case it is presented in other 
comprehensive income.

W. Income from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Net income from financial instruments at FVTPL includes all gains and losses from changes in the fair value of 
financial assets at FVTPL and related interest income and dividends. 

X. Dividend income

Dividend income is recognized when the right to receive payment is established. Dividends on equity 
instruments designated as at fair value through other comprehensive income are recognized in profit or loss, 
unless the dividend clearly represents a recovery of part of the investment, in which case it is presented in other 
comprehensive income.

Y. Leases:

The Group assesses whether contract is or contains a lease, at inception of the contract. The Group recognises 
a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease arrangements in which it is the 
lessee, except for short-term leases (defined as leases with a lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of low 
value assets. For these leases, the Group recognises the lease payments as an operating expense on a straight-
line basis over the term of the lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern 
in which economic benefits from the leased assets are consumed.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at  the 
commencement date, discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily  determined, 

the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise:

• fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives;
• variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the 
  commencement date;
• the amount expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees;
• the exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the options; and
• payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the exercise of an option to terminate  
 the lease.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line item in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease 
liability (using effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments 
made.

The Group remeasures the lease liability (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use 
asset) whenever:

• the lease term has changed or there is a change in the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which  
 case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate.

• the lease payments change due to changes in an index or rate or a change in expected payment under a  
 guaranteed residual value, in which cases the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease  
 payments using the initial discount rate (unless the lease payments change is due to a change in a floating  
 interest rate, in which case a revise discount rate is used).

• a lease contract is modified and the lease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease, in which case  
 the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate.

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability, lease payments 
made at or before the commencement day, less any lease incentives received and any initial direct costs. They 
are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 

Whenever the Group incurs an obligation for costs to dismantle and remove a leased asset, restore the site 
on which it is located or restore the underlying asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions of 
the lease, a provision is recognised and measured under IAS 37. To the extent that the costs relate to a right-of-
use asset, the costs are included in the related right-of-use asset, unless those costs are incurred to produce 
inventories. 

The right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the underlying 
asset. If a lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use of asset reflects that 
the Group expects to exercise a purchase option, the related right-of-use asset is depreciated over the useful life 
of the underlying asset. The depreciation starts at the commencement date of the lease.
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The right-of-use of assets are presented as a separate line in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group applies IAS36 to determine whether a right-of-use asset is impaired and accounts for an identified 
impairment loss as described in the ‘Impairment of Tangible and Intangible Assets’ policy.

Variable rents that do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the measurement of the lease liability 
and the right-of-use asset. The related payments are recognised as an expense in the period in which the event 
or condition that triggers those payments occurs.

As a practical expedient, IFRS16 permits a lessee not to separate non-lease components, and instead account for 
any lease and associated non-lease components as a single arrangement. The Group has not used this practical 
expedient.

Z. Treasury Shares:

Own equity instruments which are reacquired (treasury shares) are deducted from equity. No gain or loss is 
recognized in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Group’s own equity instruments.

Gains on sale of treasury shares are recorded under a reserve account in equity. Losses in excess of previously 
recognized gains are charged to retained earnings.

AA. Fiduciary Accounts Deposits:

Fiduciary assets are held or invested on behalf of customers on a non-discretionary basis and related risks and 
rewards belong to the account holders. Accordingly, these assets are reflected as off-balance sheet accounts.

BB. Income Tax:

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax. Income tax is recognized 
in the statement of profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognized directly in other 
comprehensive income, in which case it is recognized in other comprehensive income.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in 
the statement of profit or loss because of the items that are never taxable or deductible. The Bank’s liability 
for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the 
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognized on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the statement 
of financial position and the corresponding tax base used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax 
liabilities are generally recognized for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognized to 
the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences 
can be utilized.

CC. Earnings Per Share:

The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) data for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS is calculated 
by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Bank by the weighted average number 
of ordinary shares outstanding during the period. Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the profit or loss 
attributable to ordinary shareholders and the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding for the 
effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares, which comprise share options granted to employees, if applicable.

DD. Cash and Cash Equivalents:

Cash and cash equivalents comprise balances with original contractual maturities of three months or less and 
include: cash and balances with the Central Banks and deposits with banks and financial institutions.

EE. Dividends:

Dividends paid on common and preferred shares on ordinary shares are recognized as a liability and deducted 
from equity when they are approved by the Bank’s shareholders. Interim dividends are deducted from equity 
when they are declared and no longer at the discretion of the Group.

Dividends for the year that are approved after the reporting date are disclosed as an event after the reporting 
date.

FF.  Deferred Restricted Contributions

Restricted contributions derived from special and non-conventional deals arrangement concluded with the 
regulator are deferred until designated conditions for recognition are met. At the time income is received it is 
deferred under “regulatory deferred liability” and applied to the designated purpose according to the regulator’s 
requirements. 

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES
 OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 3, the directors are required 
to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of revenues, expenses, assets 
and liabilities and the accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities that are not readily 
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and 
other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates 
are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period 
of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.
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 A. Critical accounting judgments in applying the Group’s accounting policies:

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgments, 
apart from those involving estimations, which have the most significant effect in the amounts recognized in the 
financial statements.

Going concern:
Notwithstanding the uncertainties resulting from the events and conditions disclosed under Note 1, these 
consolidated financial statements have been prepared based on the going concern assumption which assumes 
that the Group will have adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. The 
Board of Directors are monitoring the situation and believe that they are taking all possible attainable measures 
under these circumstances to maintain the viability of the Group and continue operations in the current business 
environment.  

Deferred tax assets:
Deferred tax assets are recognized in respect of tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit 
will be available against which the losses can be utilized within the regulatory expiration period. Judgment is 
required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing 
and level of future taxable profits. When assessing if it is probable that future taxable profits will be available, 
management considers all available evidence, both negative and positive. In the light of the current circumstances 
and uncertainties described in Note 1, management did not recognize deferred tax assets. 

Business model assessment:
Classification and measurement of financial assets depends on the results of the SPPI and the business model 
test (Refer to the financial assets sections of note 3). The Group determines the business model at a level 
that reflects how groups of financial assets are managed together to achieve a particular business objective. 
This assessment includes judgement reflecting all relevant evidence including how the performance of the 
assets is evaluated and their performance measured, the risks that affect the performance of the assets and 
how these are managed. The Group monitors financial assets measured at amortized cost or fair value through 
other comprehensive income that are derecognized prior to their maturity to understand the reason for their 
disposal and whether the reasons are consistent with the objective of the business for which the asset was held. 
Monitoring is part of the Group’s continuous assessment of whether the business model for which the remaining 
financial assets are held continues to be appropriate and if it is not appropriate whether there has been a change 
in business model and so a prospective change to the classification of those assets. 

Significant increase of credit risk: 
As explained in note 3, ECL are measured as an allowance equal to 12-month ECL for stage 1 assets, or lifetime 
ECL assets for stage 2 or stage 3 assets. An asset moves to stage 2 when its credit risk has increased significantly 
since initial recognition. IFRS 9 does not define what constitutes a significant increase in credit risk. In assessing 
whether the credit risk of an asset has significantly increased the Group takes into account qualitative and 
quantitative reasonable and supportable forward looking information.

Establishing groups of assets with similar credit risk characteristics: 
When ECLs are measured on a collective basis, the financial instruments are grouped on the basis of shared risk 
characteristics. Refer to note 3 for details of the characteristics considered in this judgement. The Group monitors 
the appropriateness of the credit risk characteristics on an ongoing basis to assess whether they continue to 

be similar. This is required in order to ensure that should credit risk characteristics change there is appropriate 
re-segmentation of the assets. This may result in new portfolios being created or assets moving to an existing 
portfolio that better reflects the similar credit risk characteristics of that group of assets. Re-segmentation of 
portfolios and movement between portfolios is more common when there is a significant increase in credit risk 
(or when that significant increase reverses) and so assets move from 12-month to lifetime ECLs, or vice versa, 
but it can also occur within portfolios that continue to be measured on the same basis of 12-month or lifetime 
ECLs but the amount of ECL changes because the credit risk of the portfolios differ.

Models and assumptions used: 
The Group uses various models and assumptions in estimating ECL. Judgement is applied in identifying the 
most appropriate model for each type of asset, as well as for determining the assumptions used in these models, 
including assumptions that relate to key drivers of credit risk. 

B. Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty:

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at 
the reporting date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities within the next financial year.

The Group based their assumptions and estimates on parameters available when the financial statements were 
prepared. Existing circumstances and assumptions about future developments, however, may change due to 
market changes or circumstances arising beyond the control of the Group. Such changes are reflected in the 
assumptions when they occur.

Establishing the number and relative weightings of forward-looking scenarios for each type of product/
market and determining the forward looking information relevant to each scenario:
When measuring ECL the Group uses reasonable and supportable forward looking information, which is based 
on assumptions for the future movement of different economic drivers and how these drivers will affect each 
other.

Probability of default:
PD constitutes a key input in measuring ECL. PD is an estimate of the likelihood of default over a given time 
horizon, the calculation of which includes historical data, assumptions and expectations of future conditions.
 
Loss Given Default: 
LGD is an estimate of the loss arising on default. It is based on the difference between the contractual cash 
flows due and those that the lender would expect to receive, taking into account cash flows from collateral and 
integral credit enhancements.

Determining the lease term
In determining the lease term, management considers all facts and circumstances that create an economic 
incentive to exercise an extension option, or not exercise a termination option. Extension options (or periods 
after termination options) are only included in the lease term if the lease is reasonably certain to be extended (or 
not terminated). 
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The assessment is reviewed if a significant event or a significant change in circumstances occurs which affects 
this assessment and that is within the control of the lessee. 

Determining Fair Values:
The determination of fair value for financial assets for which there is no observable market price requires the 
use of valuation techniques as described in Note 47. For financial instruments that are traded infrequently and 
have little price transparency, fair value is less objective, and requires varying degrees of judgment depending on 
liquidity, concentration, uncertainty of market factors, pricing assumptions and other risks affecting the specific 
instrument.

Unobservable inputs are used to measure fair value to the extent that observable inputs are not available, thereby 
allowing for situations in which there is little, if any, market activity for the asset or liability at the measurement 
date. However, the fair value measurement objective should remain the same; that is, an exit price from the 
perspective of market participants. Unobservable inputs are developed based on the best information available 
in the circumstances, which may include the reporting entity’s own data.

Impairment of Non-financial Assets
Impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, 
which is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The fair value less costs of disposal 
calculation is based on available data from binding sales transactions, conducted at arm’s length, for similar 
assets or observable market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the asset. The value in use calculation 
is based on a DCF model. The cash flows are derived from the budget for the next five years and do not include 
restructuring activities that the Group is not yet committed to or significant future investments that will enhance 
the asset’s performance of the CGU being tested. The recoverable amount is sensitive to the discount rate 
used for the DCF model, as well as the expected future cash inflows and the growth rate used for extrapolation 
purposes. 

5. CASH AND DEPOSITS WITH CENTRAL BANKS

2020

LBP’000

Year ended,December 31,

2019

LBP’000

Cash on hand 36,083,885  14,266,307

 Current accounts with Central Bank of Lebanon

 (of which compulsory reserves LBP34.84billion

 in 2020 and LBP19.2billion in 2019) 1,285,449,537  225,486,653

 Current accounts with others central banks 70,415,839  1,750,753

 Term placements with Central Bank of Lebanon 441,047,970  298,428,495

 Term placements with Central Bank of Lebanon 

 subject to leverage arrangements (Note 12) 386,940,000  386,940,000

 Accrued interest receivable 18,195,813  21,241,787

  2,238,133,044  948,113,995

 Provision for expected credit losses (Note 36) (18,201,096) (16,134,796)

  2,219,931,948  931,979,199

6. DEPOSITS WITH BANKS AND FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

Compulsory deposits with central banks are not available for use in the Group’s day-to-day operations.

Cash compulsory reserves with Central Bank of Lebanon represent non-interest earning deposits in Lebanese 
Pounds computed on the basis of 25% and 15% of the average weekly sight and term customers’ deposits in 
Lebanese Pounds subject to certain exemptions in accordance with the local banking regulations.

Current accounts with other central banks include an amount of EUR37million (C/V LBP68.5billion) as at December 
31, 2020 deposited by the Bank’s branch in Limassol with the Central Bank of Cyprus upon the latter’s request. 
During 2020, the Central Bank of Cyprus requested from the Bank’s branch in Limassol to place and maintain ,at 
all times, with the Central Bank of Cyprus an amount equal to the total customers’ guaranteed deposits held by 
the branch including accrued interest.   

Current accounts with other central banks include as well an amount of EURO628,638 (C/V LBP1.16billion) as at 
December 31, 2020 (LBP1.14billion as at December 31, 2019) deposited in accordance with banking laws and 
regulations in Cyprus which require banks to maintain at the Central Bank of Cyprus mandatory deposits in Euro 
to the extent of 1% (1% as at December 31, 2019) of banks’ and customers’ deposits maturing in less than two 
years, after deducting a fixed amount of Euro100,000.

Term placements with Central Bank of Lebanon include an amount of LBP388billion as at 
December 31, 2020 (LBP257billion as at December 31, 2019) representing the equivalent in foreign currencies of 
amounts deposited in accordance with local banking regulations which require banks to maintain interest earning 
placements in foreign currency to the extent of 15% of customers’ deposits in foreign currencies, certificates of 
deposit and borrowings obtained from non-resident financial institutions. 

2020

LBP’000

December 31,

2019

LBP’000

Checks in course of collection 22,306,100  21,234,138

 Current accounts  68,161,723  53,482,648

 Current accounts - related parties 1,450,476  1,340,358

 Term placements 2,875,289  32,783,285

 Margin accounts 13,956,781  35,020,569

 Accrued interest receivable 1,708  45,978

  108,752,077  143,906,976

 Provision for expected credit losses (Note 36) (307,909) (176,105)

  108,444,168  143,730,871 
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Deposits with banks and financial institutions are distributed between resident and non-resident as follows 
(excluding accrued interest and provision for expected credit losses):

Deposits with banks and financial institutions include deposits in the amount of LBP26.04billion subject to right 
of set-off by the related correspondents against trade finance and other facilities at 2020 year end (LBP4.39billion 
against trade finance and other facilities as at December 31, 2019).

Margin accounts and pledged deposits are blocked against trade finance and treasury transactions (Refer to Note 44).

Deposits with banks and financial institutions are distributed between resident and non-resident as follows:

2020

LBP’000

2020

LBP’000

December 31,

December 31,

2019

LBP’000

2019

LBP’000

Resident  29,463,945  57,002,778

 Non-resident  79,286,424  86,858,220

   108,750,369  143,860,998

Resident 29,463,945  57,002,778

 Non-resident  79,286,424  86,858,220

  108,750,369 143,860,998

The positive change in fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss in the amount of LBP596million 
(LBP25million in 2019) is recorded under “Net interest and other gains/(losses) on financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss” (Note 34) in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

7. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

8. RIGHT OF USE OF ASSETS/LEASE LIABILITY 

December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019

  Foreign   Foreign   
 LBP Currency  LBP Currency   
 Base Base  Base Base   
 Accounts Accounts Total Accounts Accounts Total 

 LBP’000 LBP’000  LBP’000 LBP’000  LBP’000  LBP’000

Quoted equity securities - 10,533,857 10,533,857 - 10,029,999  10,029,999
Lebanese treasury bills 239,666 - 239,666 240,463 -   240,463
Foreign treasury bills - -  - -  59,847,750  59,847,750
Lebanese Government bonds - 21,594 21,594 -  72,560  72,560
Corporate bonds  - 67,838 67,838 -   329,550   329,550
Accrued interest receivable  6,204 12,276 18,480 6,099 1,654  7,753
 245,870 10,635,565 10,881,435 246,562 70,281,513  70,528,075

Right of Use

LBP’000

Lease Liability

LBP’000

Balance as at January 1, 2019 4,462,022  4,462,022

Depreciation expense (1,279,629)  -

Interest expense -   288,945

Settlements -  (1,684,300)

Balance as at December 31, 2019 3,182,393  3,066,667

New Lease 60,635  45,018

Depreciation expense (1,280,018)  -

Interest expense -   195,027 

Settlements -  (860,646)

Balance as at December 31, 2020 1,963,010  2,446,066

Current Portion  763,273

Non-Current Portion  1,682,793

    2,446,066
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9. LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS  
    AND  RELATED  PARTIES

December 31, 2020

2020

December 31, 2019

Performing retail
customers - Stages 1 & 2:

Housing loans  38,113,314 (209,835) 37,903,479 51,318,996 (210,635)  51,108,361
Personal loans 7,810,916 (155,000)  7,655,916  6,114,178 (53,833)  6,060,345
Overdrafts 21,437,466 (341,880) 21,095,586 24,070,836 (141,411)  23,929,425
Other 674,267 (3,289) 670,978 3,156,829 (1,751)  3,155,078
       
Performing corporate 
customers - Stages 1 & 2:

Large enterprises 316,973,020 (10,408,037) 306,564,983 411,616,572 (3,645,438) 407,971,134
Small and medium enterprises 158,448,219 (9,271,908) 149,176,311 264,186,846 (4,913,319) 259,273,527
       
Non-performing loans - Stage 3:       

Substandard 89,181,311 (27,435,259) 61,746,052 66,823,252 (19,621,250) 47,202,002
Bad and doubtful 25,092,851 (15,027,730) 10,065,121 15,189,520 (8,386,252) 6,803,268
       
Accrued interest receivable 143,312 - 143,312 1,643,696 - 1,643,696
 657,874,676 (62,852,938) 595,021,738 844,120,725 (36,973,889) 807,146,836

Excellent and Strong (A+) 133,196 -   -   133,196

Good and Satisfactory(A) 758,359 - -   758,359

Adequate (A-) 157,620 -  -  157,620

Marginal and Vulnerable (B & B-) - 19,340,774     19,340,774 

Substandard and doubtful (C,D,&E) - -  42,462,989  42,462,989

Total gross carrying amount 1,049,175 19,340,774 42,462,989  62,852,938

  Provision Net  Provision Net  
 Carrying for expected Carrying Carrying for expected Carrying  
 Amount credit losses Amount Amount credit losses Amount  

 LBP’000 LBP’000  LBP’000 LBP’000  LBP’000  LBP’000

The allocation of provision for expected credit losses by grade to their respective stage is presented as follows:

     Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
   12 month Lifetime Lifetime 
       ECL ECL ECL Total  

  LBP’000 LBP’000  LBP’000  LBP’000

The movement of the provision for expected credit loss for the credit impaired loans and advances during 2020 
and 2019 is represented as follows:

2019

Excellent and Strong (A+) 179,125   - -   179,125

Good and Satisfactory (A) 1,311,604 -   -   1,311,604

Adequate (A-) 418,191 -  -  418,191

Marginal and Vulnerable (B & B-) - 7,057,467 -   7,057,467

Substandard and doubtful (C, D, & E) - -  28,007,502  28,007,502

Total 1,908,920 7,057,467 28,007,502  36,973,889

Loss allowance as at January 1, 2020 1,908,920 7,057,467 28,007,502  36,973,889
Transfer to Stage 2 (73,569) 73,569 -    -
Transfer to Stage 3 (6,699) (2,633,960) 2,640,659 - 
 
Movement due to changes in balance and
   credit risk within the same stage (882,351)   14,843,698 11,814,828  25,776,175
New financial assets originated or purchased 
Loss allowance as at December 31, 2020 102,874 - -   102,874
 1,049,175 19,340,774 42,462,989  62,852,938

Loss allowance as at January 1, 2019 2,965,829 2,397,832 9,131,634  14,495,295
Transfer to Stage 2 (232,070) 232,070  -    -
Transfer to Stage 3 (139,353) - 139,353   -
Movement due to changes in balance and
   credit risk within the same stage (722,443) 4,427,565 18,736,515 22,441,637
New financial assets originated or purchased 36,957 - -   36,957
Loss allowance as at December 31, 2019 1,908,920 7,057,467 28,007,502  36,973,889

     Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
   12 month Lifetime Lifetime 
       ECL ECL ECL Total  

  LBP’000 LBP’000  LBP’000  LBP’000

     Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
   12 month Lifetime Lifetime 
       ECL ECL ECL Total  

  LBP’000 LBP’000  LBP’000  LBP’000

     Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
   12 month Lifetime Lifetime 
       ECL ECL ECL Total  

  LBP’000 LBP’000  LBP’000  LBP’000
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The changes in the carrying amounts of loans and advances to customers that contributed to changes in loss 
allowances is detailed as follows (excluding accrued interest):

Gross carrying amount as at January 1, 2020 655,488,243 104,976,014 82,012,772  842,477,029

Changes in gross carrying amount:

Transfer to Stage 2 (31,848,115) 31,848,115 -   -

Transfer to Stage 3 (2,900,056) (48,025,128) 50,925,184 -

Financial assets that have been derecognised (210,421,419) (192,571) (18,666,003) (229,279,993)

New financial assets originated or purchased 44,534,328 - -   44,534,328

Carrying amount as at December 31, 2020 454,852,981 88,606,430 114,271,953  657,731,364

Carrying amount as at January 1, 2019 1,009,056,866 54,549,253 46,476,463  1,110,082,582

Changes in gross carrying amount:

Transfer to Stage 2 (65,759,703) 65,759,703 -   -

Transfer to Stage 3 (28,032,453) (13,447,443) 41,479,896 -

Financial assets that have been derecognized (275,775,058) (1,885,499) (5,943,587) (283,604,144)

New financial assets originated or purchased 15,998,591 -   -  15,998,591

Carrying amount as at December 31, 2019 655,488,243 104,976,014 82,012,772  842,477,029

     Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
   12 month Lifetime Lifetime 
       ECL ECL ECL Total  

  LBP’000 LBP’000  LBP’000  LBP’000

     Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
   12 month Lifetime Lifetime 
       ECL ECL ECL Total  

  LBP’000 LBP’000  LBP’000  LBP’000

Financial assets at amortized

   cost (A)  101,044,029 323,868,084 424,912,113 155,427,093 273,759,232  429,186,325

Accrued interest receivable  2,021,289 1,777,187 3,798,476 3,649,563 3,177,853  6,827,416

Provision for expected 

  credit losses (7,275) (295,858) (303,133) (9,873) (7,542,061) (7,551,934)

Provision for expected credit 

   losses on Lebanese Government

   Bonds recorded in LBP (6,774,733) (6,783,064) (13,557,797) (3,243,870) - (3,243,870)

Provision for expected credit 

   losses on Certificates of deposit 

  denominated in F/cy recorded 

   in LBP (2,331,729) (1,164,035) (3,495,764) (1,945,366) -  (1,945,366)

 93,951,581 317,402,314 411,353,895 153,877,547 269,395,024  423,272,571

Financial assets at fair value

   through other comprehensive 

   income (B)  615,120 18,686,207 19,301,327 615,120 36,935,154  37,550,274

Accrued interest receivable  - - - - 603,313  603,313

 615,120 18,686,207 19,301,327 615,120 37,538,467 38,153,587

 94,566,701 336,088,521 430,655,222 154,492,667 306,933,491  461,426,158

10. INVESTMENT SECURITIES

December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019

 LBP C/V of F/Cy Total LBP C/V of F/Cy Total 

 LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000 
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A. Financial assets at amortized cost are broken down as follows:

Lebanese treasury bills  32,550,562 - 32,550,562 - - - -  -

 Lebanese Government bonds  - - - - 118,924,484 (6,783,064) 112,141,420 -

 Provision for expected credit losses on Lebanese 

  Government Bonds recorded in LBP  - (6,774,733) (6,774,733) - - - -    -

 Certificates of deposit issued by Central Bank of Lebanon  68,340,422 - 68,340,422 2,020,362 200,630,047 (1,164,035) 199,466,012  1,641,670

 Provision for expected credit losses on Certificates of 

  deposit denominated in F/cy recorded in LBP  - (2,331,729) (2,331,729) - - - -  -

 Corporate bonds  153,045 (7,275)  145,770 927 4,313,553 (295,858) 4,017,695  135,517

  101,044,029 (9,113,737) 91,930,292 2,021,289 323,868,084 (8,242,957) 315,625,127  1,777,187

b Lebanese treasury bills 84,700,917 - 84,700,917 1,631,244 - - -  -

Lebanese Government bonds - - - - 99,623,935 (6,282,654) 93,341,281  1,623,895

Provision for expected credit losses on Lebanese 

   Government Bonds recorded in LBP - (3,243,870) (3,243,870) - - - -   -

Certificates of deposit issued by Central Bank of Lebanon 69,226,176 - 69,226,176 1,989,308 155,039,596 (1,009,620) 154,029,976  1,308,848

Provision for expected credit losses on Certificates of 

   deposit denominated in F/cy recorded in LBP - (1,945,366) (1,945,366) - - - -  -

Corporate bonds 1,500,000 (9,873) 1,490,127 29,011 19,095,701 (249,787) 18,845,914 245,110

 155,427,093 (5,199,109) 150,227,984 3,649,563 273,759,232 (7,542,061) 266,217,171  3,177,853

  December 31, 2020

  December 31, 2019

Amortized
Cost

LBP’000

Amortized
Cost

LBP’000

Provision for
Expected

Credit Losses

LBP’000

Provision for
Expected

Credit Losses

LBP’000

Net
Carrying
Amount

LBP’000

Net
Carrying
Amount

LBP’000

LBP Base Accounts

LBP Base Accounts

  December 31, 2020

  December 31, 2019

Provision for
Expected

Credit Losses

LBP’000

Provision for
Expected

Credit Losses

LBP’000

Net
Carrying
Amount

LBP’000

Net
Carrying
Amount

LBP’000

Accrued
Interest

Receivable

LBP’000

Accrued
Interest

Receivable

LBP’000

C/V of F/Cy Base Accounts

C/V of F/Cy Base Accounts

Accrued
Interest

Receivable

LBP’000

Accrued
Interest

Receivable

LBP’000

Amortized
Cost

LBP’000

Amortized
Cost

LBP’000
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     Provision 
     for 
     Expected Net   

   Nominal Amortized Credit Carrying   
   Value Cost Losses Amount Yield  

   LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000  LBP’000  %

The remaining periods to maturity of financial assets at amortized cost, denominated in Lebanese Pounds 
excluding accrued interest, are as follows:

Lebanese treasury bills:

Up to one year 2,277,000 2,268,141 - 2,268,141  -

1 year to 3 years 14,121,850 14,188,324 -  14,188,324  -

3 years to 5 years 13,378,700 16,094,097 - 16,094,097  -

5 years to 10 years - - -  -   -

 29,777,550 32,550,562 - 32,550,562  

Certificates of deposit issued     
by Central Bank of Lebanon:      

    

1 year to 3 years 1,000,000 1,000,623 -  1,000,623   -

3 years to 5 years 10,000,000 10,263,410 - 10,263,410  -

5 years to 10 years 53,000,000 57,076,389 - 57,076,389  -

 64,000,000 68,340,422 -  68,340,422  

Corporate bonds:      
1 year to 3 years 1,500,000 153,045 (7,275) 145,770  -

 1,500,000 153,045 (7,275) 145,770  

Provision for expected credit losses:     

Provision for expected credit losses     

recorded in LBP on Lebanese       

    

Government bonds  - - ( 6,774,733) ( 6,774,733)  

Provision for expected credit losses       

recorded in LBP on Certificates       

of deposit denominated in F/CY - - (2,331,729) (2,331,729)   

 - -  (9,106,462) (9,106,462)  

 95,277,550 101,044,029 (9,113,737)  91,930,292 

December 31, 2020

LBP Base Accounts

     Provision 
     for 
     Expected Net   

   Nominal Amortized Credit Carrying   
   Value Cost Losses Amount Yield  

   LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000  LBP’000  %

Lebanese treasury bills:

Up to one year 53,680,000 54,255,716 - 54,255,716  7.33%

1 year to 3 years 12,557,500 12,615,293 -   12,615,293  7.18%

3 years to 5 years 10,377,550 10,462,374 -  10,462,374  7.23%

5 years to 10 years 6,842,500 7,367,534 - 7,367,534  7.82% 

 83,457,550 84,700,917 -  84,700,917 

Certificates of deposit issued
by Central Bank of Lebanon:

1 year to 3 years 1,000,000 1,012,029 -  1,012,029  7.71%

3 years to 5 years 10,000,000 10,382,107 -  10,382,107  7.94%

5 years to 10 years 53,000,000 57,832,040 -  57,832,040  8.21%

 64,000,000 69,226,176 -  69,226,176 

Corporate bonds:

1 year to 3 years 1,500,000 1,500,000 (9,873) 1,490,127  8.00%

 1,500,000 1,500,000 (9,873) 1,490,127 

Provision for expected credit losses:

Provision for expected credit losses 

  recorded in LBP on Lebanese 

  Government bonds  - - (3,243,870) (3,243,870)  

Provision for expected credit losses 

  recorded in LBP on Certificates 

  of deposit denominated in F/CY - - (1,945,366) (1,945,366)

 - - (5,189,236) (5,189,236)

 148,957,550 155,427,093 ( 5,199,109) 150,227,984

December 31, 2019

LBP Base Accounts
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Contractual Maturity

The remaining periods to maturity of financial assets at amortized cost, denominated in Foreign Currencies 
excluding accrued interest, are as follows:

Lebanese Government bonds:      

Up to one year 6,783,750 6,532,110 ( 372,570) 6,159,540 -

1 year to 3 years 6,138,540 6,201,349 ( 353,705) 5,847,644  -

3 years to 5 years 60,073,875 57,124,438 ( 3,258,191) 53,866,247  -

5 years to 10 years 53,878,050 47,136,082 ( 2,688,488) 44,447,594  -

Beyond 10 years 2,110,500 1,930,505 ( 110,110) 1,820,395  -

 128,984,715 118,924,484 ( 6,783,064) 112,141,420   

      

  

Certificates of deposit issued by
Central Bank of Lebanon:      

1 year to 3 years 123,615,000 123,574,955 ( 716,969) 122,857,986  -

3 years to 5 years 53,064,000 54,344,442 ( 315,301) 54,029,141 -

5 years to 10 years 7,537,500 7,635,651 ( 44,301) 7,591,350  -

Beyond 10 years 15,075,000 15,075,000 ( 87,464) 14,987,536 -

 199,291,500 200,630,048 ( 1,164,035) 199,466,013 

      

    

Corporate Bonds:      

Up to one year 1,638,325 1,631,945 ( 111,932) 1,520,013  -

1 year to 3 years - - -  -  

3 years to 5 years 1,356,750 1,356,750 ( 93,057) 1,263,693 -

5 years to 10 years 1,348,849 1,324,858 ( 90,869) 1,233,989  -

 4,343,924 4,313,553 ( 295,858) 4,017,695  

 332,620,139 323,868,085 ( 8,242,957) 315,625,127  

December 31, 2020

F/Cy Base Accounts 

     Provision 
     for 
     Expected Net   

   Nominal Amortized Credit Carrying   
   Value Cost Losses Amount Yield  

   LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000  LBP’000  %

     Provision 
     for 
     Expected Net   

   Nominal Amortized Credit Carrying   
   Value Cost Losses Amount Yield  

   LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000  LBP’000  %

Lebanese Government bonds:

1 year to 3 years 6,783,750 6,061,251 ( 141,789) 5,919,462  9.23%

3 years to 5 years 31,657,500 28,716,649 ( 1,538,486) 27,178,163  7.04%

5 years to 10 years 72,269,550 64,846,035 ( 4,602,379) 60,243,656  7.64%

 110,710,800 99,623,935 ( 6,282,654) 93,341,281

     

Certificates of deposit issued by 
Central Bank of Lebanon:

1 year to 3 years 58,792,500 58,792,500 ( 382,858) 58,409,642  6.25%

3 years to 5 years 71,154,000 73,525,960 ( 478,802) 73,047,158  6.77%

Beyond 10 years 22,612,500 22,721,136 ( 147,960) 22,573,176  7.20%

 152,559,000 155,039,596 ( 1,009,620) 154,029,976

Corporate Bonds:

Up to one year 1,342,625 1,342,625 ( 17,563) 1,325,062 7.00%

1 year to 3 years 9,890,940 9,888,541 ( 129,350) 9,759,191  6.27%

5 years to 10 years 7,914,375 7,864,535 ( 102,874) 7,761,661  6.54%

 19,147,940 19,095,701 ( 249,787) 18,845,914  

 282,417,740 273,759,232 ( 7,542,061) 266,217,171

December 31, 2019

F/Cy Base Accounts 
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The movement of financial assets at amortized cost, denominated in Lebanese Pounds excluding accrued 
interest, is summarized as follows:

Balance January 1, 84,700,917 67,280,810 1,490,127 ( 3,243,870)  150,227,984

Redemptions  ( 53,680,000) - ( 1,337,082) -  ( 55,017,082)

 Net variation in premium  1,529,645 ( 885,754) - -  643,891

 Provision for expected credit losses  - - ( 7,275) -  ( 7,275)

 Provision for expected credit losses 

   recorded in LBP on Lebanese 

   Government bonds  - - - ( 3,530,863) ( 3,530,863)

 Provision for expected credit losses 

   recorded in LBP on Certificates of 

   deposit denominated in F/CY  - ( 386,363) -  -  ( 386,363)

 Balance December 31, 32,550,562 66,008,693 145,770 ( 6,774,733)  91,930,292

Balance January 1, 94,952,104 70,109,509 1,500,000 -   166,561,613

Additions  182,000 - -  -  182,000

Redemptions  ( 9,830,000) - - -  ( 9,830,000)

Net variation in premium  ( 1,172,530) ( 883,333) - -  ( 2,055,863)

Write-back/(provision) for  

   expected credit losses  569,343 - ( 9,873) -  559,470

Provision for expected credit losses 

   recorded in LBP on Lebanese 

   Government bonds - - - ( 3,243,870) ( 3,243,870)

Provision for expected credit losses 

   recorded in LBP on Certificates of 

   deposit denominated in F/CY - ( 1,945,366) -  - ( 1,945,366)

Balance December 31, 84,700,917 67,280,810 1,490,127 ( 3,243,870)  150,227,984

2020

2019

Lebanese
Treasury

Bills

LBP’000

Lebanese
Treasury

Bills

LBP’000

Certificates 
of Deposit issued

by the Central
Bank of Lebanon

LBP’000

Certificates 
of Deposit issued

by the Central
Bank of Lebanon

LBP’000

Corporate
Bonds

LBP’000

Corporate
Bonds

LBP’000

Lebanese
Government

Bonds

LBP’000

Lebanese
Government

Bonds

LBP’000

Total

LBP’000

Total

LBP’000

The movement of financial assets at amortized cost, denominated in Foreign Currencies excluding accrued 
interest, is summarized as follows:

On February 23, 2021 the Group’s ALCO committee approved to reclassify retrospectively as of December 31, 
2020, at cost, Lebanese government bonds and certificates of deposit issued by the Central Bank of Lebanon 
denominated in U.S. Dollars from fair value through other comprehensive income to financial assets at amortized 
cost.

2020

2019

Balance January 1  93,341,281 154,029,976 18,845,914 266,217,171

Reclassification from financial assets 

   at fair value through other 

   comprehensive income  17,057,017 45,929,404 1,589,040  64,575,461

Redemptions  - - ( 16,397,521) ( 16,397,521)

Net variation in premium  2,243,132 ( 338,953) 26,332  1,930,511

Provision for expected credit losses  ( 500,010) ( 154,415) ( 46,070) ( 700,495)

Balance December 31  112,141,420 199,466,012 4,017,695 315,625,127

Balance January 1  91,019,072 154,762,153 15,911,153  261,692,378

Additions  6,783,750 - 5,669,940  12,453,690

Redemptions   - - ( 2,503,162)  (2,503,162)

Net variation in premium  796,463 ( 578,914) 17,770  235,319

Provision for expected credit losses  ( 5,258,004) ( 153,263) ( 249,787)  (5,661,054)

Balance December 31  93,341,281 154,029,976 18,845,914  266,217,171

    Certificates     
    Lebanese of Deposit issued   

   Government by the Central Corporate  
   Bonds Bank of Lebanon Bonds Total   

    LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000  LBP’000 

    Certificates     
    Lebanese of Deposit issued   

   Government by the Central Corporate  
   Bonds Bank of Lebanon Bonds Total   

    LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000  LBP’000 
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B. Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income are broken down as follows:

Unquoted equity securities 615,120 615,120 25,739,038 18,686,207

Unquoted equity securities  615,120 615,120 950,714 950,714  - 

Lebanese Government bonds - - 17,057,018  8,235,335  169,377

Certificates of deposit issued   

  by Central Bank of Lebanon - - 45,929,404 23,576,396  380,181

Corporate bonds - - 4,865,941 4,172,709  53,755

  615,120 615,120 68,803,077 36,935,154  603,313

December 31, 2020

  December 31, 2019 

LBP Base Accounts

LBP Base Accounts

C/V of F/Cy Base Accounts

C/V of F/Cy Base Accounts

       
       
           

    Fair   Fair   
   Cost Value Cost Value   

   LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000  LBP’000  

         

        Accrued 
    Fair  Fair Interest 
   Cost Value Cost Value Receivable 

   LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000  LBP’000  LBP’000

Unquoted equity securities, include an amount of LBP901million representing the Group’s investment in “La 

Banque Outarde”. During November 2017, the Group acquired 3,500 shares of La Banque Outarde in Senegal 

“LBO S.A.” whose capital is divided into 100,000 shares of CFA100,000 each following the approval of the Central 

Bank of Lebanon on March 31, 2016. The total acquisition of the Group amounted to CFA350million constituting 

3.5% of “LBO S.A” capital. The Group recorded the investment in Euro for the equivalent amount of EUR534,000 

(C/V LBP989million) as at December 31, 2020 (C/V LBP901million as at December 31, 2019).

Lebanese Government bonds:     
1 year to 3 years 91,978 45,217  6.20%
3 years to 5 years  9,996,980 4,876,784  7.02%
5 years to 10 years  5,051,908 2,368,885  6.59%
Above 10 years  1,916,152 944,449  7.71%
  17,057,018 8,235,335  
Certificates of deposit issued 
 by Central Bank of Lebanon:
Up to one year
1 year to 3 years  4,410,628 2,596,820  6.41%
3 years to 5 years  41,518,776 20,979,576  6.51%
 45,929,404 23,576,396
Corporate bonds:
1 year to 3 years  3,056,941 3,069,220  6.47%
5 years to 10 years  1,809,000 1,103,489  7.09%
 4,865,941 4,172,709
 67,852,363 35,984,440 

       
       
           

    Fair      
   Cost Value Yield    

   LBP’000 LBP’000 %    

Balance January 1, 2020  8,235,335 23,576,396 4,172,709 950,714  36,935,154

Reclassification to financial 

  assets at amortized cost ( 17,057,017) ( 45,929,404) ( 1,589,040) -  ( 64,575,461)

Transfer from Investment in an associate  - - -  17,645,343  17,645,343

Sales  - - (  2,583,669) - (2,583,669)

Effect of exchange rates changes  - - - 90,151  90,151

Reversal of change in fair value of financial

  assets at fair value through other

  comprehensive income 8,570,220 22,198,593 - -   30,768,813

Reclassification of provision for 

   expected credit  losses to financial 

   assets at amortized cost 251,462 154,415 - -  405,877

Balance December 31,2020  -  -  -   18,686,208  18,686,208

2019

2020

The remaining periods to maturity of debt financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income, 

denominated in Foreign Currencies excluding accrued interest, is as follows:  

The movement of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income, denominated in Foreign 

Currencies excluding accrued interest, is summarized as follows:

    Certificates     
     of Deposit     
    Lebanese issued by the  Unquoted   
    Government Central Bank Corporate Equity   
    Bonds of Lebanon Bonds Securities Total 

   LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000  LBP’000  LBP’000
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Balance January 1  23,102,111 40,251,907 3,081,423 946,230  67,381,671

Additions  - - 2,130,574 -   2,130,574

Sales  ( 10,854,000) - ( 333,777) -  (11,187,777)

Net variation in premium  962,540 240,888 18,148 -   1,221,576

Effect of exchange rates changes   - - -  4,484  4,484

Change in fair value of financial assets at fair

   value through other comprehensive income ( 4,975,316) ( 16,916,399) ( 723,659) -  ( 22,615,374)

Balance December 31  8,235,335 23,576,396 4,172,709 950,714  36,935,154

2019

    Certificates     
     of Deposit     
    Lebanese issued by the  Unquoted   
    Government Central Bank Corporate Equity   
    Bonds of Lebanon Bonds Securities Total 

   LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000  LBP’000  LBP’000

11. LIABILITY UNDER ACCEPTANCES

12.  ASSETS UNDER LEVERAGE ARRANGEMENT WITH 
        THE CENTRAL BANK OF LEBANON

Acceptances represent documentary credits which the Group has committed to settle on behalf of its customers 
against commitments by those customers (acceptances) in the gross amount of LBP11.5billion net of allowance 
for expected credit losses in the amount of LBP27million. The commitments resulting from these acceptances 
are stated as a liability in the statement of financial position for the same gross amount.

2020

LBP’000

December 31,

2019

LBP’000

Assets under leverage arrangements:   

Term placements with Central Bank of Lebanon 386,940,000  386,940,000

Lebanese Treasury bills at amortized cost  64,821,975  64,821,975

  451,761,975 451,761,975

Less: 

Leverage arrangements  ( 451,761,975) (451,761,975)

  -   - 

13. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE

Assets under leverage arrangement consisting of term placements in LBP with the Central Bank of Lebanon 
and Lebanese Treasury bills (earning 10% interest) originated from and are pledged against the corresponding 
leverage arrangements with the Central Bank of Lebanon for the same amounts in LBP (bearing 2% interest), 
purpose of which is to provide yield adjustment on certain transactions related to either fresh deposits in foreign 
currency or sale of foreign currency against LBP placed in term deposits at the Central Bank of Lebanon and/or 
Government securities in foreign currency.  The leverage and related pledged assets mechanism resulted in a 
yield enhancement on the following financial assets:

During 2019, the Bank signed with Central Bank of Lebanon a netting agreement allowing to offset the “assets 
under leverage arrangement” versus the borrowing from the Central Bank. The agreement covered financial 
assets and liabilities resulting from transactions that took place before the netting agreement date that have 
not yet matured.  As such the Bank has presented “term deposits with Central Bank of Lebanon” and term 
borrowing from Central Bank of Lebanon” on a net basis for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 for 
comparative purpose.

The assets under leverage arrangements and the corresponding leverage liabilities were offset as they will be 
settled on a net basis.

As of December 31, 2020 the Group no longer exercise any significant influence on its investee as a result of the 
exit from both direct and indirect representation of the Board of Directors of the investee.

As a result, investment in an associate has been reclassified to an investment at fair value through other 
comprehensive income 

2020

LBP’000

December 31,

December 31,

2019

LBP’000

Term placements with Central Bank of Lebanon 301,123,125  301,123,125

Lebanese Government bonds at amortized cost 60,781,040  60,781,040

  361,904,165  361,904,165

Banque Bemo Saudi Fransi S.A. Syria 22 -   23,974,070

    - 23,974,070  

 

   Country of Interest Carrying Carrying
   Incorporation Held Value Value 

    % LBP’000  LBP’000 
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The movement of the above investment in an associate is as follows:

The movement of the currency translation adjustment for the years 2020 and 2019 is as follows:

The summarized consolidated financial statements of the former associate, Banque Bemo Saudi Fransi S.A. 
(investee), for the year ended December 31, 2019 are provided below:

2020

LBP’000

2020

LBP’000

2019

LBP’000

2019

LBP’000

2019 
(Unaudited) 

LBP’000

Balance January 1 23,974,070  23,102,054

Reversal of deferred tax liability (Note 21)  ( 501,838)   - 

Reversal of accumulated share in profit of an associate ( 23,890,169)   - 

Share in profit of an associate (Note 35) -   2,026,661

Currency translation in adjustment for the year -  41,016

Reversal of currency translation adjustment 23,587,519   - 

Reversal/change in fair value of investment securities 1,528,592 (737,870)

Transfer to financial assets at fair value through 

   other comprehensive income  ( 17,645,343)   - 

Reversal of provision for impairment of

 investment in an associate ( 7,052,831)   - 

Other adjustment -  ( 457,791)

Balance December 31 -   23,974,070

Balance January 1  520,277  479,261

 (Reversal)/additions ( 520,277)  41,016

 Balance December 31 -   520,277

Total Assets 1,111,787,885

Total Liabilities 1,002,304,608

Equity of the group    108,973,046

Equity attributable to non controlling interests    510,231

December 31,

Summarized consolidated statement of profit or loss:

Assets acquired in satisfaction of loans have been acquired through foreclosure of security over loans and 
advances.

The acquisition of assets in settlement of loans in Lebanon is regulated by the banking regulatory authorities and 
these assets should be liquidated within 2 years. In case of default of liquidation, a regulatory reserve should be 
appropriated from the yearly net profits. This regulatory reserve is reflected under equity. In this connection, an 
amount of LBP183million was appropriated in 2020 from 2019 income. 

The movement of assets acquired in satisfaction of loans during 2020 and 2019 is detailed as follows:

2019 
(Unaudited) 

LBP’000

LBP’000

Interest income 58,012,847

Interest expense  (16,645,558)

Fees and commission income  12,215,631

Fees and commission expense   (899,551)

Administrative expenses   (8,365,067)

Staff costs   (18,308,958)

Provision for expected credit losses   (26,317,656)

Other provisions, net 8,364,749

Depreciation and amortization expense   (2,862,785)

Unrealized gain/(loss) on capital revaluation, net 99,208

Others 4,039,097

  9,331,957

Ending balance, December 2018 ,31  2,907,009

Additions  1,314,414

Ending balance, December 2019 ,31  4,221,423

Disposals  ( 1,314,414)

Ending balance, December 2020 ,31  2,907,009

Year Ended  December 31,

14. ASSETS ACQUIRED IN SATISFACTION OF LOANS
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15. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Gross Amount:

 Balance, January 1, 2019 15,141,331 18,361,036 2,727,037 7,249,394 787,344 11,627,699 24,229,594  80,123,435

 Additions - - 119,407 383,748 6,211 35,586 16,819,337  17,364,289

Disposal/write-off - - ( 9,729) ( 117,155) ( 8,442) - ( 4,235) ( 139,561)

 Transfers between categories - - - - - 172,307 ( 172,307)  - 

Balance December 31, 2019 15,141,331 18,361,036 2,836,715 7,515,987 785,113 11,835,592 40,872,389  97,348,163

Additions - - 262,731 996,763 - 196,086 2,705,198  4,160,778

Disposal - - ( 889) ( 265,707) - ( 2,532,169) ( 292,111) ( 3,090,876)

Balance December 31, 2020 15,141,331 18,361,036 3,098,557 8,247,043 785,113 9,499,509 43,285,476  98,418,065

Accumulated Depreciation:

Balance, January 1, 2019 - 2,197,386 2,165,087 5,765,591 419,579 9,010,529 -   19,558,172

Additions  - 710,144 85,634 505,841 71,511 894,702 -   2,267,832

Write-off on disposal  - - ( 8,206) ( 107,854) ( 8,440) - - ( 124,500)

Balance December 31, 2019  - 2,907,530 2,242,515 6,163,578 482,650 9,905,231  -   21,701,504

Additions  - 712,093 71,921 528,099 63,946 777,959 -   2,154,018

Write-off on disposal  - - ( 616) ( 225,450) - ( 2,507,288) -  ( 2,733,354)

Balance December 31, 2020  - 3,619,623 2,313,820 6,466,227 546,596 8,175,902 -   21,122,168

Carrying Amount:

December 31, 2020 15,141,331 14,741,413 784,737 1,780,816 238,517 1,323,607 43,285,476  77,295,897

December 31, 2019 15,141,331 15,453,506 594,200 1,352,409 302,463 1,930,361 40,872,389  75,646,659

        Installations Advances
     Computer  and Leasehold on Capital
  Land Buildings Furniture Equipment Vehicles Improvement Expenditures Total 

  LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000   LBP’000 LBP’000  LBP’000 
 

The Bank’s Board of Directors approved on July 20, 2016 the acquisition of 5,307m2 of property located on plot 
number 660 located in Medawar for a total consideration of USD20,945,000 (C/V LBP32billion) for the purpose 
of establishing the Bank’s head quarters.

The addition to advances on capital expenditures during the year 2020 include an amount of LBP2.3billion related 
to the works performed in the newly acquired premises on plot 660 located in Medawar. Moreover, additions 
include an amount of LBP218.6million related to the works performed on the leased premises in Achrafieh used 
to accommodate the personnel of the Bank’s branch of Gemmayzé which was severely damaged following the 
Beirut Sea Port explosion on August 4, 2020.

Additions to computer equipment in the amount of LBP997million represents the Group’s purchase during 2020 
of laptops, ups and storage solutions.

During June 2020, the Group evacuated the leased branch in Riad El Solh. Accordingly, the Group wrote off 
property and equipment with a net book value of LBP25million included under line “Disposals/write-off”.

The addition to advances on capital expenditures during the year 2019 in the amount of LBP17billion, represents 
the 6th and 7th payments totaling USD6,283,500 (C/V LBP9.5billion) on plot number 660 as per acquisition 
contract, as well as the 4th and 5th payments totaling USD1,426,000 (C/VLBP2.15billion) on the additional 
sections of plot number 660 purchased in April 2018. This caption comprise as well advances on construction 
works during 2019 for the amount of USD4.7million (C/V LBP7billion).
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16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

17. OTHER ASSETS

Purchased
Software

Cost:

 Balance, January 1, 2019  5,100,232

 Acquisitions  115,109

 Balance December 31, 2019  5,215,341

 Acquisitions  326,723

 Balance December 31, 2020  5,542,064

Amortization:

 Balance, January 1, 2019  4,125,549

 Amortization of the year  360,657

 Balance December 31, 2019  4,486,206

 Amortization of the year  346,198

 Balance December 31, 2020  4,832,404

Carrying Amount:

 December 31, 2020  709,660

 December 31, 2019  729,135

Exchange difference on fixed exchange position 231,654  231,654

Fair value of forward exchange contracts -   2,466,154

Stamps 87,888  71,128

Receivables from securitization operations 1,685,914  2,224,163

Receivables from an associate and a related party bank 2,722,190  2,141,058

Prepayments 3,464,631 2,781,102

Advances to employees 2,279,033 33,000

Receivables from the Central Bank of Lebanon (a) 3,683,873   - 

Receivables from a financial institution – credit and 

operations (Net of provision) 3,873,276  2,282,715

Receivables from National Social Security Fund 2,466,501  1,317,416

Sundry accounts receivable  5,032,116  3,922,265

   25,527,076  17,470,655

2020

LBP’000

2019

LBP’000

December 31,

18. DEPOSITS AND BORROWINGS FROM BANKS AND FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

Current deposits of banks and financial institutions 15,946,146  14,051,213

 Current deposits – Related parties 343,858,137  132,979,889

 Money market deposits 16,304,450  83,505,687

 Money market deposits - Related parties 33,937,654  95,007,130

 Accrued interest payable 1,320,910  7,094,202

  411,367,297  332,638,121

2020

LBP’000

2019

LBP’000

December 31,

Provision for doubtful receivables of LBP108million was set up during 2020 against receivables from the National 
Social Security Fund (LBP227million for the year 2019). Total provision as at
December 31, 2020 amounts to LBP1,055million (LBP1,051million as at December 31, 2019).

Receivables from an associate and a related party bank represent amounts paid by the Group on behalf of 
these related entities. The outstanding receivables are subject to interest at the annual rates of 6.5% and 4.5% 
respectively. Interest income earned during the year 2020 amounted to LBP122million recorded under interest 
income in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income (LBP122million during 2019) (Note 30).

(a) Receivables from the Central Bank of Lebanon represents the aggregate amount due to the Group as a result 
of the conversion by customers of restricted foreign currency deposits into LBP at the platform rate of LBP3,900 
in accordance with BDL Circular # 151 dated April 21, 2020.
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Less than LBP200million 165,179,649 9.03   72.05

From LBP200million to LBP1.5billion 645,607,604 35.29   23.10

Over LBP1.5billion 1,018,567,698 55.68   4.85

  1,829,354,951 100.00   100.00

19. CUSTOMERS AND RELATED PARTIES ACCOUNTS AT AMORTIZED COST

Deposits from customers:

 Current and demand deposits 1,369,546,970  502,387,866

 Term deposits 1,173,505,151  1,249,750,040

 Collateral against loans and advances 17,705,092 43,529,749

Margins and other accounts:

 Margins for irrevocable import letters of credit 2,205  712,737

 Margins on letters of guarantee 5,652,409  3,579,348

 Other margins 10,667,005  11,860,451

 Margins on trading transactions  1,802,761  3,403,160

Escrow accounts – advance on cash contribution

 to capital (Note 26) 19,499,512   - 

Accrued interest payable: 4,243,527  14,131,600

 Total 2,602,624,632  1,829,354,951

Less than LBP200million 311,990,625 11.99   63.45

From LBP200million to LBP1.5billion 1,165,448,439 44.78   32.85

Over LBP1.5billion 1,125,185,568 43.23  3.70

  2,602,624,632 100.00  100.00

2020

LBP’000

Total 
Deposits

LBP’000

Total 
Deposits

LBP’000

% to Total 
Deposits

%

% to Total 
Deposits

%

2019

LBP’000

% to 
Total No. of
Customers

%

% to 
Total No. of
Customers

%

December 31,

  December 31, 2020 

  December 31, 2019 

Deposits from customers are allocated by brackets of deposits as follows:

   LBP Base Accounts  F/Cy Base Accounts 

  Average Average Average Average
  Balance of Interest Balance of Interest Cost
  Deposits Rate Deposits Rate of Funds 

  LBP’000 % LBP’000 % LBP’000

20. OTHER TERM BORROWINGS

Other term borrowings  21,886,586  13,391,505

  21,886,586 13,391,505

Balance January 1 13,391,505  15,247,943

 Additions/(settlements) 8,495,075 (1,856,438)

 Balance December 31 21,886,580 13,391,505

2020

LBP’000

2020

LBP’000

2019

LBP’000

2019

LBP’000

December 31,

Term deposits as at December 31, 2020 include fiduciary deposits received from a non-resident related party 
bank in the amount of LBP2.23billion (LBP2.17billion as at December 31, 2019).

The average balances of customers’ deposits at amortized cost, including related party deposits, and related cost 
of funds over the last 3 years were as follows:

Other term borrowings, represent borrowing from Central Bank of Lebanon in LBP being facilities in accordance 
with Central Bank of Lebanon Basic Decision No. 6116 of March 7, 1996 and its amendments by which the Group 
benefited from credit facilities granted against loans the Group has granted, at its own risk, to its customers, 
pursuant to certain conditions, rules and mechanism.

The movement of other term borrowings, excluding accrued interest, during 2020 and 2019 is summarized as 
follows:

 2020 167,634,337 4.85 1,991,915,527  2.11   49,940,727

 2019 152,693,430 9.02 1,538,211,438 5.03   101,056,845

 2018 165,435,961 7.43 1,796,131,166 4.4   86,434,512

C/V of F/Cy Base AccountsLBP Base Accounts
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21. OTHER LIABILITIES

Fair value of forward exchange contracts 6,753,495   - 

Current tax liability (a) 4,371,853  2,288,992

 Regulatory deferred liability (b) -  -

 Deferred tax liability (Note 13) -   501,838

 Withheld tax on salaries 819,615  434,845

 Withheld tax on interest 615,895  1,118,653

 Lumpsum tax on turnover (c) 4,115,000  -

 Due to the Social Security National Fund 352,722  274,805

 Checks and incoming payment orders in course of settlement 705,084  414,245

 Clients prefunded accounts 3,884,909   - 

 Accrued expenses  4,962,991  5,455,899

 Accrued interest payable – cash contribution to capital (Note 26) 1,136,672   - 

 Sundry accounts payable (d) 6,213,743  3,015,512

 Other taxes payable (e) 5,189,396  5,274,695

  43,236,375 18,779,484

Profit before income tax  11,503,612 (9,839,823)

Add: Non-deductible expenses/losses 23,533,745  28,935,526

Less:  

Non-taxable revenues/gains ( 673,661) (4,355,459)

Income of Cyprus branch and subsidiaries ( 1,010,753) (1,909,935)

Taxable income for the year 33,352,943  12,830,309

Enacted tax rate in Lebanon  17%   17%

  5,670,000 2,181,153

Add: Income tax provision - branches and subsidiaries 66,272  331,766

Income tax expense  5,736,272  2,512,919

Less: Cyprus income tax paid during the year (1,371,789) (231,297)

  4,364,483 2,281,622

Brought forward balance from non-resident branch 7,370  7,370

Current tax liability 4,371,853  2,288,992

2020

LBP’000

2020

LBP’000

2019

LBP’000

2019

LBP’000

December 31,

(a) The determination of income tax of the Group is presented as follows:

(b) During the year 2016, as a result of several transactions derived from the special and non-conventional 

deals arrangement with the Central Bank of Lebanon, the Group received a surplus recorded under “Regulatory 

deferred liability”. In accordance with the Central Bank of Lebanon Intermediary Circular number 446 dated 

December 30, 2016, the Bank appropriated an amount of LBP24.11billion to offset currency translation losses 

resulting for the investment in an associate up to December 31, 2019 (Note 13).

As a result of the loss of significant influence over the associate and change in classification of the investment 

(Note 13), the Group reversed the regulatory deferred liability in the amount of LBP16.8billion and LBP7billion 

to retained earnings and change is fair value of investment at fair value through other comprehensive income, 

respectively.

As of December 31, 2020 the Group no longer exercise any significant influence on its investee as a result of the 

exit from both direct and indirect representation of the Board of Directors of the investee. As a result, investment 

in an associate has been reclassified to an investment at fair value through other comprehensive income (Note 

13) and the regulatory deferred liability in the amount of LBP24.11billion which was formerly used to offset the 

currency translation adjustment resulting from the Group’s investment in the non-resident associate was offset 

up to 70% against retained earnings in the amount of LBP16.87billion and up to 30% against cumulative change 

in fair value of investment classified at fair value through other comprehensive income as per BDL circular 544.

(c) Based on decision No. 245 dated June 7, 2020, published on November 12, 2020 in the official gazette and 

article 20 of the budget law No. 6, a 2% lump sum tax on banks, financial institutions and brokerage firms turnover 

for the year 2019 is imposed with an effective date in year 2020. The new tax amounted to LBP4.12billion as at 

December 31, 2020

(d) Sundry accounts payable include dormant customers’ accounts in the Limassol Branch with aggregate 

balances of LBP2.5billion (USD1,425,196 and EUR182,950) transferred to Beirut during 2020 to be settled in 

transferrable funds when claimed by the related customers.

(e) Other taxes payable include the 7% taxes payable by the Group on credit interest accounts, which increased 

to 10% effective August 1, 2019.

The Bank’s tax returns for fiscal years 2015 to 2020 remain subject to review and assessment by the tax 

authorities. Any additional liability depends on the outcome of these reviews.

The tax returns of the Group’s Lebanese subsidiaries since fiscal year 2015 remain subject to review and 

assessment by the tax authorities. Any additional liability depends on the outcome of these reviews.
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22. PROVISIONS

Provisions consist of the following:

The movement of provision for staff end-of-service indemnity is as follows:

The movement of the provision for contingencies was as follows:

During the year 2020, the Group wrote-back provisions that were set-up in previous years for unforeseen liabilities 
and contingencies.

Provision for employees’ end-of-service indemnities 4,098,820  2,967,570

Provision for contingencies 398,597  2,002,809

Provision for loss on foreign currency position 285,654  285,654

Provision for expected credit losses (Note 36) 103,059  59,421

  4,886,130 5,315,454

Balance January 1 2,967,570  4,201,680

Additions/(write-back) (Note 37) 1,275,399 (864,354)

Settlements ( 148,437) (354,883)

Exchange difference 4,288 (14,873)

Balance December 31  4,098,820  2,967,570

Balance January 1 2,002,809  2,199,512

Additions 625,613  196,585

Write-back ( 2,229,825) (393,288)

Balance December 31 398,597  2,002,809

2020

LBP’000

2020

LBP’000

2020

LBP’000

2019

LBP’000

2019

LBP’000

2019

LBP’000

December 31,

23. SUBORDINATED BONDS

24. SHARE CAPITAL

This caption consists of the following:

In its meeting held on June 25, 2019 the Board of Directors ratified the increase of the Bank’s capital as resolved 
by the Extraordinary General Assembly of Shareholders in their meeting held on May 6, 2019 whereby the 
Bank’s capital increased by LBP 15,562,000,000 from LBP62,248,000,000 to LBP77,810,000,000 and this by 
transferring the equivalent amount of the increase from the retained earnings account to the capital and by 
issuing 15,500,000 nominal shares of LBP1,004 each, distributed to the shareholders each according to their 
percentage of ownership in the Bank’s capital.

Pursuant to the issuing of Central Bank of Lebanon Intermediate Circular No. 532 on November 4, 2019, the 
general assembly held on March 2, 2020 approved the increase of the Bank’s capital by 10% of Common 
Equity Tier One calculated as of December 31, 2018 through cash contributions in US Dollars in the amount of 
USD14,370,000 to be followed by a second increase of the Bank’s capital by 10% through cash contributions 
before end of year 2019.

The exceptional general assembly of shareholders approved in its meeting held on September 5, 2017 the 
issuance of subordinated bonds in the amount of USD35million divided into 3,500 bonds of USD10,000 nominal 
value each. These bonds were issued on December 7, 2017, mature on January 4, 2024, and are subject to an 
annual interest of 7% payable on June 30 and December 31 of each year.

The exceptional general assembly of shareholders approved in its meeting held on October 24, 2014 the issuance 
of subordinated bonds in the amount of USD25million divided into 2,500 bonds of USD10,000 nominal value 
each. These bonds were issued on December 15, 2014 and mature on January 4, 2021 and are subject to an 
annual interest rate of 6% payable on December 31 and June 30 of each year.

Interest expense on subordinated bonds for the year ended December 31, 2020 amounting to LBP5.97billion is 
recorded under “Interest expense” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss (LBP5.95billion for the year 
ended December 31, 2019) (Note 31).

In accordance with banking laws and regulations, subordinated bonds are considered as Tier II capital for the 
purposes of computation of Risk Based Capital Ratio, to be amortized over a period of 5 years till maturity.

Subordinated bonds 90,450,000  90,450,000

Accrued interest 1,139,918   -

  91,589,918 90,450,000

2020

LBP’000

2019

LBP’000

December 31,
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The Bank’s capital as at December 31, 2020 and 2019 is composed of 77,500,000 issued shares of LBP1,004 
each authorized and fully paid and divided as follows:

• Listed Shares : 51,400,000 
• Unlisted Shares : 26,100,000 

The movement of treasury shares during 2020 and 2019 was as follows:

Balance - January 1 1,315,415 3,679,126 1,025,131  3,619,239

 (Disposal)/acquisition, net  ( 11,857) ( 24,386) 31,501  59,887

 Distribution  - -  258,783  - 

 Balance - December 31 1,303,558 3,654,740 1,315,415  3,679,126 

2020 2019
       
       
           

   # of Shares Amount # of Shares Amount   

     LBP’000   LBP’000  

25. PREFERRED SHARES

26. SHAREHOLDERS’ CASH CONTRIBUTION TO CAPITAL

On December 19, 2013, the Group issued Non-cumulative Perpetual Preferred Shares in the amount of 
USD35million (LBP52billion) on the basis of 350,000 shares at USD100. The Group offered discounts to preferred 
shares subscribers for the aggregate amount of USD80,960 (LBP122million). These preferred shares generate 
dividends at an annual rate of 7%.

The shareholders’ cash contribution to capital for the amount of LBP29billion (USD19,306,788) as at December 

31, 2019 represents cash injections made the shareholders in the form of shareholders’ cash contribution to 

capital, each to the extent of his/her shareholding in the Bank’s equity. Effective 2011, the General Assembly of 

shareholders approved to call-off interest on the above cash contribution to capital.

During 2020, the Bank followed the requirements of the Central Bank of Lebanon regarding the increase in 

common equity Tier I as at December 31, 2018 by 20% in foreign currencies by December 31, 2020 which was 

later extended to February 28, 2021. The Bank’s Extraordinary General Assembly of shareholders held on March 

2, 2020 called the first payment of cash contribution from shareholders in the amount of USD14,370,000 (C/V 

LBP21.67billion) subject to a yearly interest of 7% payable from unrestricted profits after securing the approval of 

27. RESERVES

the Central Bank of Lebanon.  The Bank accrued for the interest on the new cash contribution in the amount of 

LBP1.13billion as at December 31, 2020 recorded under other liabilities (Note 21).

On November 30, 2020, the Bank’s Extraordinary General Assembly of shareholders called the second payment 

of cash contribution from shareholders in the amount of USD12,935,000 (C/V LBP19billion) subject to a yearly 

interest of 3% payable from unrestricted profits after securing the approval of the Central Bank of Lebanon. The 

second payment of cash contribution to capital was approved by the Central Bank of Lebanon subsequent to 

the report date during March 2021. Accordingly, an amount of BP29billion which will be allocated for the second 

payment of the shareholder’s cash contribution to capital in alignment with Central Bank of Lebanon intermediate 

circular 532 is recorded in an escrow account under customers and related parties accounts at amortized cost 

as at December 31, 2020 

(Note 19).

In light of the above, cash contribution to capital amounted of LBP51billion as at December 31, 2020  (LBP29billion 

as at December 31, 2019).

This sort of financial instrument is accounted for in foreign currency and therefore allows hedging against 

national currency exchange fluctuation. According to local banking regulations, cash contribution to share capital 

is considered as Tier I capital.

(a) In accordance with the requirements of the Lebanese Money and Credit Law, the Group transfers since its 
inception 10% of its net income to the legal reserve account. This reserve is not available for distribution.

Legal reserve (a) 14,380,571  14,410,572

Free reserves 10,590,677  11,449,314

Non-distributable reserve  44,210,825  43,352,187

Reserve for assets acquired in satisfaction of loans (Note 14) 1,441,166  1,228,166

  70,623,239 70,440,239

2020

LBP’000

2019

LBP’000

December 31,
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28. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

29. DIVIDENDS PAID

Profit of the Bank 1,477,192 -   1,477,192

Profit/(loss) of subsidiaries: 

Bemo Securitization S.A.L. 17,660 -  17,660

Depository and Custody Company S.A.L 16,967 3  16,970

Bemo Investment Firm Ltd. 140,518 -   140,518

Total 1,652,337 3  1,652,340

Profit of the Bank ( 12,373,515) -  ( 12,373,515)

Profit/(loss) of subsidiaries:

Bemo Securitization S.A.L. ( 190,971) -  ( 190,971)

Depository and Custody Company S.A.L. 49,848 50  49,898

Bemo Investment Firm Ltd. 161,846 -   161,846

Total ( 12,352,792) 50  (12,352,742)

Group’s
Share

LBP’000

Group’s
Share

LBP’000

 Non- Controlling
Interests

LBP’000

 Non- Controlling
Interests

LBP’000

Total

LBP’000

Total

LBP’000

Year Ended
December 31, 2020

Year Ended
December 31, 2019

The consolidated profit for the year is allocated as follows between the Bank and its subsidiaries:

USD7 per preferred share paid by the Bank in 2019  -   3,693,375

  -   3,693,375

 

2020

LBP’000

2019

LBP’000

30. INTEREST INCOME

31. INTEREST EXPENSE

Term deposits with central banks (Note 5) 63,796,880  59,647,411
Deposits with banks and financial institutions 4,535,597  5,682,968
Deposits with related party banks and financial institutions 793,924  234,519
Financial assets at amortized cost 24,905,791  35,074,280
Financial assets at fair value through 
other comprehensive income 3,569,167  7,096,070
Loans and advances to customers 40,868,867  83,320,948
Loans and advances to related parties 21,938  47,504
Interest realized on impaired loans 
 and advances to customers (Note 9) 1,185,701  614,622
  139,677,865  191,718,322
Withheld taxes (Note 3W) (10,677,089) (8,450,824)
  129,000,776 183,267,498

Interest expense on:
 Borrowings from Central Bank of Lebanon (Note 20) 396,223  268,168
 Deposits and borrowings from banks and financial institutions 3,890,655  8,277,615
 Deposits and borrowings from related  
   party banks and financial institutions 4,278,149  7,081,557
 Customers’ accounts at amortized cost 49,833,552  99,495,614
 Related parties’ accounts at amortized cost 107,175  1,561,231
 Shareholders’ cash contribution to capital (Note 26) 1,262,969   - 
 Subordinated bonds (Note 23) 5,970,939   5,954,625
 Interest expense –lease liability (Note 8) 195,027  288,945
  65,934,689  122,927,755

2020

LBP’000

2020

LBP’000

2019

LBP’000

2019

LBP’000

Year Ended
December 31, 2019

Year Ended
December 31, 2019

Interest income on the Group’s trading portfolio is included under “Net interest and other gains/(losses) on 
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss” (Note 34).
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32. FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME

33. FEE AND COMMISSION EXPENSE

Commission on documentary credits 420,736  871,207

Commission on letters of guarantee 1,310,455  1,516,274

Commission on other customers’ transactions 11,011,382  1,186,025

Service fees on customers’ transactions 7,223,573  5,092,531

Other 387,602  563,738

  20,353,748 9,229,775

Commission on transactions with banks and financial institutions 228,980  75,259

Commission on transactions with related party banks 34,256   - 

Other  513,611  249,913

  776,847 325,172

2020

LBP’000

2020

LBP’000

2019

LBP’000

2019

LBP’000

Year Ended
December 31, 2019

Year Ended
December 31, 2019

Commission on other customers’ transactions for the year 2020 in the amount of LBP11billion, represents 
commissions earned on clients’ cash and foreign currency transactions for debt settlement and other purposes.

35. OTHER OPERATING INCOME/(LOSS), (NET)

34. NET INTEREST AND OTHER GAINS / (LOSSES) ON 
       FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS 

Share in profit of an associate (Note 13) - 2,026,661

Revenues and commissions from securitization operations 5,983,426  2,520,569

Realized loss from sale of assets at fair value through other 

comprehensive income -  (1,857,681)

 Other 127,648  31,876

  6,111,074  2,721,425

Dividends received on equity securities 3,770  623,557

 Interest received on debt securities 40,866  161,412

 Unrealized gain (Note 7) 596,152  25,047

 Realized (loss)/gain ( 12,218)  1,509,966

  628,570 2,319,982

2020

LBP’000

2020

LBP’000

2019

LBP’000

2019

LBP’000

Year Ended
December 31, 2019

Year Ended
December 31, 2019



158 159|   ANNUAL REPORT 2020 ANNUAL REPORT 2020   |    

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36. PROVISION FOR EXPECTED CREDIT LOSSES, NET

38. ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

37. STAFF COSTS

Balance as of January 1, 2019 1,891,849 375,311 14,495,295 2,450,349 471,478 60,760 897,500  207,434  20,849,976 

Additions  14,242,947 - 22,478,594 10,290,821 830,132 - 231,347 -   48,073,841 

Write-back  - ( 199,206) - - - ( 1,755) - ( 148,013) ( 348,974)

Balance as of December 31, 2019 16,134,796 176,105 36,973,889 12,741,170 1,301,610 59,005 1,128,847 59,421  68,574,843

Additions   2,066,300 131,804 25,879,049 4,615,524 - - 263,226 43,638  32,999,541

Write-back   - - - - - ( 32,364) -   -  ( 32,364)

Write-off  - - - - ( 1,301,610) - - - ( 1,301,610)

Balance as of December 31, 2020 18,201,096 307,909 62,852,938 17,356,694 - 26,641 1,392,073 103,059  100,240,410

     Financial
     assets at      
 Deposits  Deposits   fair value   Indirect
 with  with banks Loans and Financial assets through other   and   
 central  and financial advances to classified at comprehensive  Other unutilized   
 banks  institutions customers amortized cost income Acceptances assets facilities Total 

 LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000

Travel and entertainment 101,284  385,317
Advertisement and publicity 1,451,786  1,065,336
Professional fees 3,459,136  3,242,186
Maintenance and repairs 2,167,807  1,848,335
Electricity and fuel 397,537  451,979
Telephone expenses 474,838  476,620
Printing and stationary 580,288  326,455
Rent and building services  1,082,161  786,226
Insurance 529,798  426,516
Subscriptions 2,198,315  1,789,556
Gifts and donations 351,645  293,837
Attendance fees 425,228  340,587
Fees and taxes 888,523  1,361,516
Other 2,096,773  2,389,772
  16,205,119 15,184,238

Salaries and related charges 23,128,800  20,541,652
 Social security contributions 3,021,828  2,188,633
 Provision/(write-back of provision) for employees’ 
 end-of-service indemnities (net) (Note 22) 1,275,399  (864,354)
  27,426,027 21,865,931

2020

LBP’000

2020

LBP’000

2019

LBP’000

2019

LBP’000

Year Ended
December 31, 2019

Year Ended
December 31, 2019

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders 
of the Group by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.

The following table shows the income and share data used in the basic earnings per share calculation:

39. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Number of common shares outstanding during the year 77,500,000  77,500,000

Weighted average number of treasury shares ( 1,326,134) (1,176,289)

Weighted average number of common shares 

  adjusted for the effect of treasury shares 76,173,866  76,323,711

Net profit/(loss) attributable to equity holders of the Group 1,652,337 (12,352,792)

 Net (loss)/profit attributable to equity holders of the Group 1,652,337 (12,352,792)

 Basic earnings per share in LBP   21/69   - 

 Diluted earnings per share in LBP 21/69    -

2020

LBP’000

2020

LBP’000

2019

LBP’000

2019

LBP’000
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS WITH 
        OFF-BALANCE SHEET RISKS

41. FIDUCIARY DEPOSITS

42. BALANCES / TRANSACTIONS 
        WITH RELATED PARTIES

The guarantees and standby letters of credit and the documentary and commercial letters of credit represent 
financial instruments with contractual amounts representing credit risk. The guarantees and standby letters of 
credit represent irrevocable assurances that the Group will make payments in the event that a customer cannot 
meet its obligations to third parties and are not different from loans and advances on the financial position. 
However, documentary and commercial letters of credit, which represent written undertakings by the Group 
on behalf of a customer authorizing a third party to draw drafts on the Group up to a stipulated amount under 
specific terms and conditions, are collateralized by the underlying shipments documents of goods to which they 
relate and, therefore, have significantly less risks.

Forward exchange contracts outstanding as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 represent positions held for 
customers’ accounts and at their risk. The Group entered into such instruments to serve the needs of customers. 

In the ordinary course of its activities, the Group conducts transactions with related parties including shareholders, 
directors, subsidiaries and associates. Balances with related parties excluding accrued interest and balances 
eliminated on consolidation consist of the following:

Fiduciary deposits from customers invested in other banks 2,018,030  7,243

Fiduciary deposits for wealth management 8,933,545  23,764,720

Fiduciary deposits from customers invested in loans granted 

 to other customers 382,302  8,667,132

  11,333,877 32,439,095

2020

LBP’000

2019

LBP’000

December 31, 

43. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Interest rates charged on balances outstanding are the same as applicable rates that would be charged in an 
arm’s length transaction. Secured loans and advances are covered by real estate mortgages to the extent of 
LBP995million as at December 31, 2020 (LBP995million and LBP25million respectively as at December 31, 
2019).

The remuneration of executive management team amounted to LBP7.17billion during 2020 (LBP6.3billion during 
2019).

Cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the cash flows statement consist of the following:

Term placements with central banks and banks and financial institutions represent inter-bank placements with 
an original term of 90 days or less.

Shareholders, directors and other key management

personnel and close family members:

 Direct facilities and credit balances:

  Secured loans and advances 879,538  876,598

  Unsecured loans and advances 98,990  78,739

  Deposits 14,055,933  11,250,251

Associated companies:

 Direct facilities and credit balances:

 Unsecured loans and advances 727,836  14,248

 Deposits 29,833,718  38,625,523

Indirect facilities:

 Letters of guarantee 2,385,049  94,842

Cash 36,083,885  14,266,307

 Current accounts with central banks

 (excluding compulsory reserve) 1,390,642,053  208,009,917

Term placements with Central Bank of Lebanon 278,888,375  97,233,750

Checks for collection and current accounts with banks and 

 financial institutions 22,306,100  76,057,144

Term placements with banks and financial institutions 2,875,289  31,652,660

  1,730,795,702 427,219,778

2020

LBP’000

2020

LBP’000

2019

LBP’000

2019

LBP’000

December 31, 

December 31, 
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44. COLLATERAL GIVEN

45. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The carrying values of financial assets given as collateral are as follows:

The adequacy of the group’s capital is monitored using, among other measures, the rules and ratios established 
by the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (BIS rules/ratios) as adopted by the Central Bank of Lebanon, 
which is the lead supervisor of the Group.

The following are the applicable regulatory capital ratios:

Deposits with banks and

 Financial institutions 13,956,781 Forward contracts  104,361,639

    Options and swaps   - 

  13,956,781 Acceptances less than one year  11,584,624

Deposits with banks and

 Financial institutions 35,020,569 Forward contracts  145,167,226

   Options and swaps  34,880,590

  35,020,569 Acceptances less than one year 247,938

As at December  31,2020 

Minimum required capital ratios 4.50 %   6.00 %  8.00 %

With the full capital conservation buffer of 2.5 % 7.00 %  8.50 %  10.50 %

As at December 31,2019    

Minimum required capital ratios 4.50 %  6.00 %  8.00 %

With the full capital conservation buffer of 2.5 % 7.00 %  8.50 %  10.50 %

Pledged Amount

LBP’000

Pledged Amount

LBP’000

LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000

Common Tier 1 
Capital Ratio

Tier 1 
Capital Ratio

Total 
Capital Ratio

Amount of Facility

LBP’000

Amount of Facility

LBP’000

Nature of Facility

Nature of Facility

 December 31, 2020  

 December 31, 2020  

The Central Bank of Lebanon issued intermediary circular No.567 dated August 26, 2020 introducing several 
changes in the calculation of the regulatory capital adequacy ratios. These key changes are discussed below 
along with the Group’s compliance thereto:

Increasing the regulatory ECL on Lebanese 
government bonds in foreign currency from 9.45% to 
45% and allowing the constitution of the regulatory 
ECL progressively over a period of five years starting 
from 2020,  noting that the BDL Central Council may 
accept to extend the term to ten years for banks that 
manage to complete the 20% cash contribution to 
capital before December 31, 2020.

Regulatory ECL for other exposures remain 
unchanged, i.e. exposures in foreign currency with 
BDL 1.89%; exposures in Lebanese Pounds with BDL 
and Lebanese treasury bills in Lebanese Pounds 0%.

By February 28, 2021 (extended), banks should 
complete a 20% increase of the common equity tier 
I capital as at December 31, 2018 through issuing 
new foreign currency capital instruments as well as 
other approaches that meet the criteria for inclusion 
as regulatory capital. The BDL Central Council may 
consider for banks to complete 50% of this capital 
increase through transfer of real estate by the 
shareholders, provided these a liquidated within 5 
years.

The Group applied the following ECL levels on 
exposures to Lebanese sovereign and Central Bank in 
these financial statements as at December 31, 2020: 

- Central Bank exposures in foreign currencies:    
 1.01%

- Central Bank exposures in Lebanese Pound: 0%

- Sovereign exposures in foreign currencies: 19.62%

- Sovereign exposures in Lebanese Pound: 0% 

As discussed in Note 26, the Bank’s Extraordinary 
General Assembly of shareholders held on March 
2, 2020 & November 30, 2020 called the required 
20% Equity increase in the form of additional cash 
contribution from shareholders for the amount of 
USD27million (LBP41.16billion).

Up to December 31, 2020, the Bank’s shareholders 
secured USD27million (LBP41.16billion) in the form of 
cash contribution of which:

(i) USD14.3million (LBP21.6billion) was approved by 
BDL and included in the Equity 

(ii) USD12.9million (LBP19.5billion) is still pending 
BDL approval.

Key regulatory changes:
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Banks can include the revaluation surplus of real 
estate properties in Common Equity Tier I capital 
instead of in Tier II, subject to BDL approval on the 
revaluation. The deadline set by the regulator for the 
revaluation of real estate is December 31, 2021.

As exceptional measures, 100% of ECL on Stage 
1 and Stage 2 exposures (except those against 
sovereign and BDL exposures in local and foreign 
currency), may be added to common equity Tier I 
capital. These will be gradually amortized to 75% in 
2022, 50% in 2023 and 25% in 2024.

Banks should refrain from dividend distribution, 
should capital adequacy ratios fall below 7% for 
common equity Tier I ratio; 10% for tier I ratio; and 
12% for total capital ratio. Furthermore, if the capital 
conservation buffer on common equity falls below 
2.5% of risk weighted assets during 2020 and 2021, 
banks should rebuild the gap by end of 2024, by a 
minimum of 0.75% per year, starting 2022 years 
according to an approved plan by the Banking Control 
Commission of Lebanon. 

During 2020, the Group did not reevaluate its real 
estate properties and no new revaluation surplus 
were considered in the Group’s equity. However, its 
existing approved revaluation surplus of real estate 
properties for LBP16.9billion was included in the 
Group’s Common Tier I as at December 31, 2020 
which was included in Tier II for LBP8.9billion as at 
December 31, 2019.

• No dividends were distributed during the year.

• The Group did not draw down its capital  
 conservation buffer as at December 31, 2020.

The application of these exceptional measures as at 
December 31, 2020 led to the increase of the Group’s 
level of Common Equity Tier I by LBP20.9billion and to 
the decrease of its Tier II by LBP6.4billion compared 
to December 31, 2019.

Key regulatory changes: The Group’s consolidated capital adequacy ratio was as follows:

The Group’s capital adequacy ratio as at December 31, 2020 and 2019, similarly to other applicable regulatory 
ratios, was calculated based on the disclosed figures, and did not take into consideration the adjustments that will 
result from the uncertainties discussed under Note 1.3 once these uncertainties become reasonably quantifiable. 
Due to the high levels of these uncertainties, management is unable to estimate in a reasonable manner, the 
impact of these matters on the Group’s capital adequacy and the recapitalization needs that may arise once the 
necessary adjustments are determined and recorded.

Banks are required to submit to the Banking Control Commission of Lebanon (BCCL) a comprehensive plan, 
reflecting the Groups’ strategies to comply with the regulatory minimum capital requirements, including 
the timeline to achieve compliance. The plan should incorporate allowances required by the Banking Control 
Commission of Lebanon against different risks banks are exposed to. The Group has submitted to the BCCL 
during January 2021 its plan as approved by its Board of Directors on December 17, 2020.  

Common Equity Tier I 242,520  132,891
Additional Tier I capital 74,305  52,642

Tier II Capital 71,550  83,319
Total regulatory Capital 388,375  268,852

Credit risk 2,768,628  2,446,544
Market risk 26,879  27,164
Operational Risk 177,086  147,726
Risk-weighted assets and 
 risk-weighted off-balance sheet items 2,972,591  2,621,434

Common Equity Tier I Ratio 8.16%   5.07 %

Tier I capital Ratio 10.66 %  7.08 %

Risk based capital ratio - Tier I and Tier II capital 13.07 %  10.26 %

2020

LBP’000

2019

LBP’000

December 31, 

46. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group’s operating segments are organized as follows: Lebanon and subsidiaries.

Measurement of segment assets, liabilities, income and expenses is based on the Group’s accounting policies.

Segment income and expenses include transfers between segments and these transfers are conducted on 
arm’s length terms and conditions. Shared costs are included in segments on the basis of the actual recharges 
made, if any.
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The Group has two reportable business segments which reflect the basis on which senior management reviews 
operations:

Total Assets 3,405,071,301 146,374,550 (66,550,705) 2,389,360,637 222,743,681 (51,792,994)
Total Liabilities 3,057,069,908 132,551,720 - 2,106,752,794 206,566,437  -
Total Equity 348,001,393 13,822,830 (66,550,705) 282,607,843 16,177,244 (51,792,994)
Profit for the year 3,720,551 (1,252,172) (816,039) (13,804,067) 1,451,325  -

Assets
Cash and central banks 2,149,222,835 70,709,113 -  929,822,279 2,156,920  -
Deposits with banks and  
  financial institutions 104,681,532 70,313,341 ( 66,550,705) 113,282,653 82,241,212 ( 51,792,994)
Financial assets at fair value 
  through profit or loss 10,834,367 47,068 - 10,389,767 60,138,308 -
Loans and advances to 
  customers and related parties 590,366,729 4,655,009 - 803,034,526 4,112,310 -
Investment securities 430,655,222 - - 388,872,987 72,553,171 -
Customers’ liability
   under acceptances 11,506,397 51,586 - 19,281,543 994,307 -
Investment in associate - - - 23,974,070 -  -
Assets acquired in 
  satisfaction of loans 2,907,009 - - 4,221,423 -  -
Property and equipment 76,889,160 406,737 - 75,174,320 472,339 -
Assets under finance lease 1,963,010 - - 3,182,393 -  -
Intangible assets 700,746 8,914 - 715,176 13,959 -
Other assets 25,344,294 182,782 - 17,409,500 61,155 -

Liabilities
Deposits and borrowings 
  from banks 404,018,767 7,348,530 - 321,040,017 11,598,104 -
Other borrowings 21,886,586 - - 13,391,505 -  -
Customers’ accounts at 
  amortized cost 2,481,411,184 121,213,448 - 1,635,884,026 193,470,925 -
Acceptance liability 11,533,038 51,586 - 19,328,742 994,307 -
Finance lease liability 2,446,066 - - 3,066,667 -  -
Other liabilities 39,354,260 3,882,115 - 18,323,918 455,566 -
Provisions 4,830,089 56,041 - 5,267,919 47,535 -
Subordinated bonds 91,589,918 - - 90,450,000 -  -
 

Lebanon and 
Middle East

LBP’000

Lebanon and 
Middle East

LBP’000

Cyprus

LBP’000

Cyprus

LBP’000

Inter-
Segment

LBP’000

Inter-
Segment

LBP’000

December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019

Interest income 137,880,906 9,967,255 (8,170,296) 183,775,542 11,208,276 (3,265,496)
Tax on interest  (10,677,089) - - (8,450,824) -   -
Interest expense (64,975,484) (9,129,501) 8,170,296 (116,808,467) (9,384,784)  3,265,496
Net interest income 62,228,333 837,754 - 58,516,251 1,823,492  -

Fee and commission income 20,010,073 343,675 - 9,001,742 228,033  -
Fee and commission expense (767,052) (9,795) - (289,425) (35,747)  -
Net fee and commission income 19,243,021 333,880 - 8,712,317 192,286  -

Net interest and other gain 
  on trading assets at fair value 
  through profit and loss 1,096,454 (467,884) - 1,332,679 987,303  -
Gain on exchange 643,387 12,426 - 4,739,226 (9) -
Other operating income, (net) 5,142,876 968,198 - 2,707,665 13,760 - 
Net financial revenues 88,354,071 1,684,374 - 76,008,138 3,016,832 -

Provision for credit losses (net) (30,746,585) (1,404,553) (816,039) (47,774,623) 49,756  -

Net financial revenues 
  after net charge 57,607,486 279,821 (816,039) 28,233,515 3,066,588  -

Staff costs (26,950,439) (475,588) - (21,468,299) (397,632)  -
Administrative expenses (15,200,627) (1,004,492) - (14,317,216) (867,022) -
Depreciation and amortization (2,427,894) (72,322) - (2,564,421) (64,068)  -
Depreciation of right of use (1,280,018) - - (1,279,629) - -
Other income 1,802,268 41,456 - (181,639) -  -
 (44,056,710) (1,510,946) - (39,811,204) (1,328,722)  -

Profit before income tax 13,550,776 (1,231,125) (816,039) (11,577,689) 1,737,866  -
Income tax expense (9,830,225) (21,047) - ( 2,226,378) (286,541)   -
Profit for the year 3,720,551 (1,252,172) (816,039) (13,804,067) 1,451,325   -

Lebanon and 
Middle East

LBP’000

Lebanon and 
Middle East

LBP’000

Cyprus

LBP’000

Cyprus

LBP’000

Inter-
Segment

LBP’000

Inter-
Segment

LBP’000

December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019
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47. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group has exposure to the following risks arising from financial instruments:

• Credit risk
• Liquidity risk
• Market risk

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk 
management framework. The Board has established a risk management department and various committees to 
develop and monitor the Group’s risk management policies and their implementation.

The Group’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyze the risks faced by the Group, 
to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Regular review of risk 
management policies and systems to reflect changes in market conditions, products and services offered is 
the responsibility of the various committees and the Board of Directors. The Group, through its management 
standards and procedures, aims to develop a disciplined control environment, in which employees understand 
their roles and obligations.

A. Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk that a customer or counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in 
financial loss to the Group. The Group’s main income generating activity is lending to customers and therefore 
credit risk is a principal risk. Credit risk mainly arises from loans and advances to customers and other Groups, 
and investments in debt securities that are an asset position. The Group considers all elements of credit risk 
exposure such as counterparty default risk, geographical risk and sector risk for risk management purposes.

1. Management of credit risk

The Group’s Board of Directors through its Board Risk Committee is responsible for the Group’s credit risk 
management framework and ensures that the credit risk function is independent and has appropriate resources 
and practices, including an effective system of internal control, in order to maintain the Group’s credit risk 
exposure within limits set by the Board, in line with the credit risk policy and in compliance with supervisory 
requirements. 
Credit risk main activities include but are not limited to the following:

- Ensuring a robust governance framework for all credit decisions (initial approval and reviews) is in place  
 and properly abided by;

- Identifying credit risks through the systematic review of all credit requests and investments carrying  
 credit risks and issuing recommendations to the relevant committees (credit committee, ALCO…);

- Assessing and measuring credit risk at the level of individual exposures as well as on the level of the  
 overall portfolio; 

- Proposing mitigation techniques to cover for identified credit risks such as obtaining collateral, or diversifying 
 the exposure at various levels (type of assets, maturities, industries, geographic location…);

- Monitoring on a continuous basis all exposures through various daily and periodic control reports;

- Establishing a grading system to rate exposures according to the credit risk (default risk) they carry, and 
 periodically reviewing and updating them;

- Developing the Group’s methodology for IFRS 9 application and the measurement of the ECL at the level of 
 all exposures carrying a credit risk;

- Providing advice, guidance and specialist skills to business units to promote best practice throughout the 
 Group in the management of credit risk. 

2. Measurement of credit risk

The Group recognizes expected credit loss allowances on the following financial instruments that are not 
measured at FVTPL: 

1- Financial assets that are debt instruments.
2- Financial guarantee contracts issued.
3- Loan commitments issued.

The loss allowances for ECL are presented in the statement of financial position as follows: 

a. Financial assets measured at amortized cost, as a deduction from the gross carrying amount. 

b. Loans commitments, as a provision. 

c. Debt securities measured at FVOCI, no loss allowance is recognized in the SFP because the carrying amount 
 of these assets is their fair value. However, the loss allowance is disclosed and is recognized in the fair  
 value reserve. 

The Group measures the loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECL, except for the following, for which 
they are measured as 12-month ECL: 

a. Debt investment securities that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date.

b. Other financial instruments on which credit risk has not increased significantly since their initial recognition. 
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Loans and advances

The Group monitors all financial assets that are subject to impairment requirements to assess whether there has 
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. If there has been a significant increase in credit 
risk the Group will measure the loss allowance based on lifetime rather than 12-month ECL.
In order to determine a significant increase in credit risk, requiring considering a downgrade of the exposure from 
Stage 1 to Stage 2, the Group looks at the following quantitative and qualitative criteria:
 
• Financial figures and ratios: the unavailability of financial statements over a period of more than three 
consecutive years leads to an automatic downgrade of the file to stage 2. In addition a review of financial 
statements showing a business activity deterioration and/or increased leverage and/or consecutive losses, and/
or capital erosion and/or inability to generate sufficient cash flow could determine a staging downgrade to 2, 
subject to credit committee approval. 

• Credit rating: a downgrade of the credit file to “follow-up and regularization (3)” indicates a warning signal and 
suggests a significant increase in credit risk. Accordingly a downgrade of the credit file rating to “3” as per the 
supervisory classification automatically triggers a downgrade from Stage 1 to Stage 2. 

• Delays in repayment: delays in payment are an important indicator of the client’s financial situation and 
his repayment ability. For corporate and SMEs, the Group adopts a 60-days past due rule, whereby delays in 
repayment for more than 60 days are submitted for review to the credit committee. A shift to stage 2 is subjected 
to the credit committee’s review and decision based on a detailed individual analysis and the use of experienced 
credit judgment. It is to be noted that the 30-days past due presumption applied under IFRS 9 as an assumption 
to a significant increase in credit risk is rebutted mainly as a result of the Group’s type of exposure where the 
retail segment is not significant; and based on historical experience in recovering associated debt. 

• Account turnover: For non-committed facilities such as overdrafts, the Group looks at the account movement 
in order to determine the staging of the credit file; whereby an account movement below 50% of the facility 
amount within a one year period of time, is submitted for review to the credit committee. A shift to stage 2 is 
subjected to the credit committee’s review and decision based on a detailed individual analysis and the use of 
experienced credit judgment. 

• Rescheduling/restructuring: the rescheduling and restructuring of facilities are treated as a warning signal 
indicating a decrease in the client’s creditworthiness. A downgrade to Stage 2 is considered upon the first 
rescheduling/restructuring of facilities. A second rescheduling/restructuring will automatically trigger a downgrade 
from Stage 1 to Stage 2. 

• Reputational risk: a borrower subject to lawsuits or any type of reputational damage that could affect their 
financial and/or business position and subsequently their repayment ability is submitted for review to the credit 
committee. A shift to stage 2 is subjected to the credit committee’s review and decision based on a detailed 
individual analysis and the use of experienced credit judgment.  

• Systemic and forward looking criteria: The criteria includes a combination of forward looking information on 
the macroeconomic level, commercial sector and geographical region. Qualitative criteria is looked at on an 
individual basis upon the usual annual file renewals and more frequently, on a collective basis whenever deemed 
necessary based on market, economic, political updates and conditions.

A shift to Stage 2 is considered whenever one or more of the aforementioned criteria is met; the basis for 
determining a significant increase in credit risk is the credit risk rating at the date of initial recognition. i.e.: a 
significant increase in credit risk as compared to the credit risk profile at the date of initial recognition, triggers a 
staging downgrade.

Impairment Methodology

The impairment methodology adopted by the Group is based on two approaches being:
 
• The collective assessment approach using historical write-offs. The Group’s calculated Average Weighted 
  Annual Loss Rate over the past 10 years is 0.05% and it is adjusted by adding a current conditions perspective 
 and a forward-looking perspective on impairments. 

• The individual assessment approach where the expected credit loss is determined on a single borrower basis 
 using the PD model and following the formula: ECL = PD X LGD X EAD

When ECL is measured on a collective basis, the financial instruments are grouped on the basis of shared risk 
characteristics, such as:

- instrument type; 
- collateral type; 
- industry; 
- geographic location of the borrower; 

When ECL is measured on an individual basis the following is applied:
 
- Loans and advances classified at stage 1: the individual assessment only applies to facilities that exceed  
 USD 10 million;

- Loans and advances classified at stage 2: only individual assessments is applied;

- Loans and advances classified at stage 3: specific provisions are booked based on discounting the  
 real guarantees after applying a percentage of haircut.

Excellent (A+)

Strong (A+)

Good (A)

Satisfactory (A)

Adequate (A-)

Marginal (B)

Vulnerable (B-)

Substandard (C)

Doubtful (D)

Bad (E)

Performing Loans
Stage 1

Performing

Stage 2
Under-Performing

Stage 3
Under-PerformingNon- Performing 

Group’s Classification Loan Quality IFRS9 Stages
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1- Probability of Default

Files that are individually assessed, are analyzed based on one of the three S&P scoring models used to assess 
borrowers’ probability of default. 

The three S&P scorecards used by the Group are the following: 
- Generic corporate model 
- Real estate developers model 
- High Net Worth individuals model 

The above models are used to define a borrower credit risk score on a scale from one to ten, which is mapped 
to S&P rating scales, to the Group’s internal rating scale and to probabilities of default as follows:  

The above probabilities of default are used in the calculation of the 12-months expected credit loss. 

For stage 2 the standard PD applied is set at a minimum of 13.97%. It is to be noted that the Group grants short 
to medium term loans only and the Group may assume that default rate does not change during the lifetime of 
the loan; however for conservative purposes, the Group assumed that PDs are expected to follow an incremental 
increase through the lifetime of the loan. A simple extrapolation technique is used where the 12-month PD is 
increased by a fixed 5% every year.

1

1.5

2

2.5

3

3.5

4

4.5

5

5.5

6

6.5

7

7.5

8

8.5

8.75

9

9.25

9.5

9.75

10

10

0.005

0.008

0.014

0.03

0.051

0.072

0.105

0.159

0.222

0.342

0.489

0.81

1.3

2.55

5.16

7.59

10.3

13.97

18.95

25.71

34.87

47.3
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2- Loss Given Default 

In addition to the borrower risk assessment, a facility risk assessment taking into consideration available collateral 
and guarantees is performed in order to determine the expected credit loss. For exposures without collateral, the 
LGD ratio of 45% prescribed by the BIS is applied. However for conservative purposes, the Group considers the 
claims on SME and retail classified clients as a subordinated claim and applies a 75% LGD on it. The following 
simplified LGD calculation is applied: LGD = 0.45 (or 0.75) – Recovery Rate. The RR is determined by the following 
formula: Value of collateral / Value of the exposure.

3- Exposure at Default 

The exposure at default includes direct and indirect exposures at the reporting date in addition to any undrawn 
commitments. For indirect exposures and undrawn commitments a risk weight of 50% is applied to determine 
the exposure at default; noting that this methodology was suggested by the regulators. In addition to the above 
collective and individual assessments, the Group developed analysis, macro level and industry specific forecasts 
scenarios to adjust the ECL calculation by adding to it current and forward looking approaches

Netting arrangements
The Group further restricts its exposure to credit losses by entering into netting arrangements with counterparties. 
Netting arrangements reduce credit risk associated with favorable contracts to the extent that if a default occurs, 
all amounts with the counterparty are terminated and settled on a net basis.

3. Risk mitigation policies

 Collateral:
 The Group mainly employs collateral to mitigate credit risk. The principal collateral types for loans and  
 advances are:

• Pledged deposits
• Mortgages over real estate properties (land, commercial and residential properties)
• Bank guarantees
• Financial instruments (equities and debt securities)
• Business other assets (such as inventories and accounts receivable)

4. Financial assets with credit risk exposure and related concentrations

 (a) Exposure to credit risk and concentration by counterparty:

 The tables below reflect the Group’s exposure to credit risk by counterparty segregated between  
 the categories of financial assets: 
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(a.1) Deposits with banks and financial institutions (excluding accrued interest and provision for expected  
     credit losses):
 

(a.2) Loans and advances to customers (excluding provision for expected credit losses 
  and accrued interest): 

Less than LBP5billion  32,258,736   29.66

 From LBP5billion to LBP15billion 36,210,079   33.30

 Over LBP15billion 40,281,554  37.04

  108,750,369  100.00

Less than LBP500million 964 51,891,019  7.89

  From LBP500million to LBP5billion 153 298,527,340  45.39

  Over LBP5billion 33  307,313,005  46.72

   1,150  657,731,364   100.00  

Less than LBP500million 814 61,487,286 7.30 

 From LBP500million to LBP5billion 233 368,202,501  43.70 

 Over LBP5billion 37  412,787,242  49.00 

  1,084 842,477,029  100.00 

Less than LBP5billion  35,240,940  24.50 

 From LBP5billion to LBP15billion 51,407,121  35.73 

 Over LBP15billion 57,212,937  39.77 

   143,860,998  100.00 

Total Amount

LBP’000

No. of Counter Parties

LBP’000

No. of Counter Parties

LBP’000

Total Amount

LBP’000

Total Amount

LBP’000

Bracket

Bracket

Bracket

Bracket

% to Total Deposits

%

% to Total

%

% to Total

%

% to Total Deposits

%

December 31, 2020

December 31, 2020

December 31, 2019

December 31, 2019

Performing Accounts
Regular Accounts 528,417,263 (20,389,949) 508,027,314 16,525,403 163,769,676 9,424,096  189,719,175

Past due but 
  not impaired: 
Between 30-60 days 1,497,915 - 1,497,915 - - -   - 
Between 60-90 days 5,516,755 - 5,516,755 - -  -  - 
Between 90-180 days 377,876 - 377,876 - - -  -
Beyond 180 days 7,790,704 - 7,790,704 - - -  -

Impaired: 
Substandard debts 89,181,311 (27,435,259) 61,746,052 - 47,048,321 -   47,048,321
Doubtful and
   bad debts 25,092,851 (15,027,730) 10,065,121 - 25,966,688 -   25,966,688 
 657,874,675 (62,852,938) 595,021,737 16,525,403 236,784,685  9,424,096  262,734,184

Performing Accounts
Regular Accounts 757,750,155 (8,966,387) 748,783,768 40,102,867 216,346,953 11,430,786  267,880,606

Past due but not impaired:     
Between 60-90 days 2,203,155 - 2,203,155 - -  -   - 
Between 90-180 days 3,989 - 3,989 - -  -  - 
Beyond 180 days 2,150,654 - 2,150,654 - -  -   -

Impaired:        
Substandard debts 66,823,252 ( 19,621,250) 47,202,002 - 31,751,718 -   31,751,718
Doubtful and bad debts 15,189,520 (  8,386,252) 6,803,268 - 12,723,300 -  12,723,300

 844,120,725 ( 36,973,889) 807,146,836 40,102,867 260,821,971 11,430,786  312,355,624

Carrying
Amount

LBP’000

Carrying
Amount

LBP’000

Provision 
for Credit 

Losses

LBP’000

Provision 
for Credit 

Losses

LBP’000

Net
Exposure

LBP’000

Net
Exposure

LBP’000

Pledged
Funds

LBP’000

Pledged
Funds

LBP’000

Property

LBP’000

Property

LBP’000

Equities

LBP’000

Equities

LBP’000

Total

LBP’000

Total

LBP’000

December 31, 2020

December 31, 2020

Fair Value of Collateral Held

Fair Value of Collateral Held
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(b) Concentration of financial assets by industry or sector (excluding provisions for credit losses):

Balance sheet Exposure:

Cash and deposits with central bank 2,238,133,044 - - - - - - - -  2,238,133,044

Deposits with banks and financial institutions - 108,752,077 - - - - - - -   108,752,077

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 25,032 134,855 - 313,869 - - 9,962,530 - 445,149  10,881,435

Loans and advances to customers and related parties - 1,413,651 112,245,173 122,390,183 282,056,358 2,325,183 39,109,957 98,334,171 -  657,874,676

Investment securities 170,715,254 274,160,179 - - 3,136,483 - - - -   448,011,916

Customers’ liability under acceptances - - - 11,529,088 55,536 - - - -   11,584,624

Other financial assets - - - - - - - -   19,463,870  19,463,870

  2,408,873,330 384,460,762 112,245,173 134,233,140 285,248,377 2,325,183 49,072,487 98,334,171 19,909,019  3,494,701,642

Off-Balance sheet Risks:

Documentary and commercial letters of credit - - - 308,913 - - - - -  308,913

Guarantees and standby letters of credit - - 23,756,968 12,990,832 4,314,559 - 6,169,389 683,365 -   47,915,113

Forward Contracts - 252,043,847 - - 2,560,005 - 18,804,337 3,666,073 -   277,074,262

Balance sheet Exposure:

Cash and deposits with central banks 948,113,995 - - - - - - - -  948,113,995

Deposits with banks and financial institutions - 143,906,976 - - - - - - -   143,906,976

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 60,389,732 8,782,991 - 311,043 - 1,044,309 - - -   70,528,075

Loans and advances to customers and related parties - 13,250,079 189,848,664 130,527,706 322,032,153 50,814,361 134,869,345 2,778,417 -  844,120,725

Investment securities 447,764,869 2,098,307 - - 18,394,363 5,909,789 - - -  474,167,328

Customers’ liability under acceptances - 763,032 107,650 15,465,085 3,999,088 - - - -   20,334,855

Other financial assets - - - - - - - -   11,920,617  11,920,617

 1,456,268,596 168,801,385 189,956,314 146,303,834 344,425,604 57,768,459 134,869,345 2,778,417 11,920,617  2,513,092,571

Off-Balance sheet Risks:

Documentary and commercial letters of credit - - 31,543 2,468,833 2,132,590 - - - -   4,632,966

Guarantees and standby letters of credit - 1,622,494 20,076,558 17,710,397 9,084,875 - 21,594,015 763,815 -   70,852,154

Forward Contracts - 264,693,147 11,719,983 5,135,299 8,074,285 - - 6,255,885 -   295,878,599

Sovereign

LBP’000

Sovereign

LBP’000

Financial
Services

LBP’000

Financial
Services

LBP’000
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LBP’000

Manufacturing

LBP’000
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December 31, 2019
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(c) Concentration of financial assets and liabilities by geographical area (excluding provision for expected credit 
losses):

ASSETS
Cash and deposits with
   central banks 2,167,423,931 - 70,709,113 -   -   2,238,133,044
Deposits with banks and 
  financial institutions 29,928,890 655,719 50,714,857 27,452,611 -   108,752,077
Financial assets at fair value 
  through profit or loss 10,649,074 - 75,917 156,444 -   10,881,435
Loans and advances 
  to customers 
  and related parties 647,727,552 3,970,957 5,404,622 12 771,533  657,874,676
Investment securities 430,366,573 17,645,343 - -  -  448,011,916
Customers’ liability 
  under acceptances 11,584,624 - - -  -   11,584,624
Other financial assets 18,069,215 - 184,268 - 1,210,387  19,463,870
Total assets 3,315,749,859 22,272,019 127,088,777 27,609,067 1,981,920  3,494,701,642

LIABILITIES
Deposits and borrowings
   from banks 
  and financial institutions 2,115,871 384,706,024 19,048,441 5,496,961 -   411,367,297
Customers’ accounts at 
  amortized cost including 
  related parties 2,189,914,576 321,525,223 53,174,959 24,328,305 13,681,569  2,602,624,632
Acceptance liability - 55,536 11,529,088 -  -   11,584,624
Other term borrowings  21,886,586 - - -  -   21,886,586
Lease Liability 2,446,066  - - -  -  2,446,066
Other financial liabilities 27,556,674 152,989 4,042,907 274,796 994,346  33,021,712
Subordinated bonds 91,589,918 - - -  -  91,589,918
Total liabilities 2,335,509,691 706,439,772 87,795,395 30,100,062 14,675,915  3,174,520,835

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
WITH OFF-BALANCE
SHEET RISK
Documentary and commercial 
  letters of credit 308,913 - - -  -   308,913
Guarantees and standby 
  letters of credit 40,559,109 3,769 1,437,163 5,915,672 -   47,915,113
Forward Contracts 35,873,343 2,917,502 238,283,417 -  -   277,074,262

Lebanon 

LBP’000

North 
America 

LBP’000

Middle East

LBP’000

Other

LBP’000

Europe

LBP’000

Total

LBP’000

December 31, 2020

ASSETS
Cash and deposits with 
  central banks 945,957,075 - 2,156,920 -  -   948,113,995
Deposits with banks and 
  financial institutions 57,040,130 - 51,055,409 35,221,849 589,588  143,906,976
Financial assets at fair value 
  through profit or loss 10,318,368 - 170,718 60,038,989 -   70,528,075
Loans and advances   
  to customers 
  and related parties 820,331,360 9,743,447 6,799,345 7,233,569 13,004  844,120,725
Investment securities  473,241,858  - 24,671 -  900,799  474,167,328
Customers’ liability 
  under acceptances 17,553,668 - 2,781,187 -  -   20,334,855
Other financial assets 10,522,480 - 61,155 -  1,336,982  11,920,617
Total assets  2,334,964,939 9,743,447 63,049,405 102,494,407 2,840,373  2,513,092,571

LIABILITIES
Deposits and borrowings 
  from banks and 
  financial institutions 55,899,548 242,432,305 22,699,188 11,598,104 8,976  332,638,121
Customers’ accounts at 
  amortized  cost including 
  related parties  1,215,271,399 418,362,911 63,688,198 65,463,199 66,569,244  1,829,354,951
Acceptance liability 107,651 - 18,454,690 -  1,760,708  20,323,049
Other term borrowings  13,391,505 - - -  -   13,391,505
Lease liability 3,066,667 - - -  -   3,066,667
Other financial liabilities 11,759,823 - 455,565 -  606,359  12,821,747
Subordinated bonds 90,450,000 - - -  -   90,450,000
Total liabilities  1,389,946,593 660,795,216 105,297,641 77,061,303 68,945,287  2,302,046,040

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
WITH OFF-BALANCE 
SHEET RISK
Documentary and commercial 
  letters of credit 2,393,716 - 2,239,250 -  -   4,632,966
Guarantees and standby 
  letters of credit 55,458,485 2,546,195 6,816,457 6,031,017 -   70,852,154
Forward Contracts 81,751,673 68,507,449 145,619,477 -  -   295,878,599

Lebanon 

LBP’000

North 
America 

LBP’000

Middle East

LBP’000

Other

LBP’000

Europe

LBP’000

Total

LBP’000

December 31, 2019
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B. Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will be unable to meet its net funding requirements. Liquidity risk can 
be caused by market disruptions or credit downgrades, which may cause certain sources of funding to dry up 
immediately.

1. Management of liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the Group’s ability to ensure the availability of funding to meet commitments, both on-balance 
and off-balance sheet commitments, at a reasonable cost on time. The management of liquidity should not lead 
to threats to the Group’s solvency.

Liquidity risk arises when in case of crisis, refinancing may only be raised at higher market rates (funding risk), or 
assets may only be liquidated at a discount to market rates (market liquidity risk). Liquidity risk is also caused by 
mismatches in the maturities of assets and liabilities (uses and sources of funds).

Residual contractual maturities of financial assets and liabilities: 
  
The tables below show the Group’s assets and liabilities in Lebanese Pounds & Foreign Currencies base accounts 
segregated by maturity.

Assets
Cash and deposits with central banks  1,378,236,295 299,488,995 24,065,730 120,801,482 101,652,107 288,283,449 7,403,890  2,219,931,948
Deposits with banks and financial institutions 95,573,167 11,855,929 1,015,072 - - - -   108,444,168
Investment securities  21,534,102 - 11,641,849 151,771,198 130,318,602 108,036,800 16,459,134  439,761,685
Provision for ECL on Eurobonds recorded in LBP - - (472,067) (2,953,009) ( 3,349,657) - -  (6,774,733)
Provision for ECL on CDs recorded in LBP - - -  ( 34,141) ( 350,181) ( 1,947,408) -  ( 2,331,730)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 10,545,250 - - 67,838 266,040 - 2,307  10,881,435
Loans and advances to customers and related parties 439,604,884 142,715,666 965,582 11,726,793 8,813 - -   595,021,738
Customers’ liability under acceptances - 80,481 - 11,477,502 - - -   11,557,983
Other financial assets 19,463,870 - - - - - - 19,463,870
Total Assets 1,964,957,568 454,141,071 37,216,166 292,857,663 228,545,724 394,372,841 23,865,331  3,395,956,364

Liabilities
Other term borrowings 114,416 1,661,354 3,577,412 - 12,649,748 3,883,656 -   21,886,586
Deposits and borrowings from   banks and financial institutions 292,918,402 29,436,656 6,593,506 29,480,234 26,720,759 24,580,103 1,637,637  411,367,297
Customers’ accounts at amortized cost including related parties 1,436,710,671 982,157,588 115,900,630 46,507,497 21,348,246 - -   2,602,624,632
Acceptance liability - 107,122 - 11,477,502 - - -   11,584,624
Lease liability - 190,818 572,455 1,401,212 281,581 - -   2,446,066
Other financial liabilities 33,021,712 - - - - - -   33,021,712
Subordinated bonds 1,139,918 37,687,500 - - 52,762,500  -  - 91,589,918
Total Liabilities 1,763,905,119 1,051,241,038 126,644,003 88,866,445 113,762,834 28,463,759 1,637,637 3,174,520,835

Maturity Gap  201,052,449 ( 597,099,967) ( 89,427,837) 203,991,218 114,782,890 365,909,082 22,227,694  221,435,529

Up to 3
Months

LBP’000

Accounts
with no
Maturity

LBP’000

3 Months
to 1 Year

LBP’000

1 to 3
Years

LBP’000

3 to 5
Years

LBP’000

5 to 10
Years

LBP’000

Over 10
Years

LBP’000

Total

LBP’000

December 31, 2020
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Assets
Cash and deposits with central banks  254,548,433  98,920,640   43,034,596 108,208,302  134,715,202  284,638,026  7,914,000  931,979,199
Deposits with bank sand financial institutions 76,815,898 58,101,879 8,813,094 - - - -   143,730,871
Investment securities 8,996,562 16,001,428 39,569,476 94,926,838 146,926,162 137,621,751 22,573,177  466,615,394
Provision for expected credit losses on Lebanese 
Government bonds recorded in LBP - - - (442,622) (1,320,682) (1,480,566) -  (3,243,870)
Provision for expected credit losses on Certificates
of deposit denominated in F/cy recorded   in LBP - - - (733,912) (926,185) - (285,269) (1,945,366)
Financial assets at fair value  through profit or loss 10,037,752 15,073,492 44,774,257 329,550 84,454 223,848 4,722  70,528,075
Loans and advances to customers and related parties 581,749,223 217,491,012 6,613,292 319,175 974,134  - -   807,146,836
Customers’ liability under acceptances - 9,200,409 639,919 10,435,522 - - -   20,275,850
Other financial assets 11,920,617 - - - - - -   11,920,617
Total Assets 944,068,485 414,788,860 143,444,634 213,042,853 280,453,085 421,003,059 30,206,630  2,447,007,606

Liabilities

Other term borrowings - 608,656 1,297,981 3,483,912  3,088,209  3,083,998 1,828,749  13,391,505
Deposits and borrowings from banks and financial institutions 153,921,791 78,465,700 100,077,644 81,405 81,405 10,176 -   332,638,121
Customers’ accounts at amortized cost including related parties 536,075,185 802,712,034 333,303,326 86,154,123 71,110,283 - -   1,829,354,951
Acceptance liability - 9,220,126 641,507 10,461,416 - - -   20,323,049
Lease liability - 241,745 725,236 1,227,315 801,360 71,011 -   3,066,667
Other financial liabilities 12,821,747 - - - - - -   12,821,747
Subordinated bonds - - - 37,687,500 - 52,762,500 -   90,450,000
Total Liabilities 702,818,723 891,248,261 436,045,694 139,095,671 75,081,257 55,927,685 1,828,749  2,302,046,040

Maturity Gap  241,249,762 ( 476,459,401) ( 292,601,060) 73,947,182 205,371,828 365,075,374  28,377,881  144,961,566 

Up to 3
Months

LBP’000

Accounts
with no
Maturity

LBP’000

Concentration of Liabilities by counterparty:

Information regarding the concentration of liabilities by counterparty is disclosed under the respective notes to 
the financial statements.

3 Months
to 1 Year

LBP’000

1 to 3
Years

LBP’000

3 to 5
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LBP’000

5 to 10
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LBP’000
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LBP’000
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LBP’000
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C. Market Risks

The market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will be affected because 

of changes in market prices such as interest rate, equity prices, foreign exchange and credit spreads.

1. Management of market risks:

Market risks include interest rate risk and exchange risk. 

The Group has established an Assets and Liabilities Management Committee (ALCO) to manage market risks. 

ALCO’s primary objective is to maximize interest income spread and trading income while maintaining market 

risks at an appropriate level through regular management and measurement of these risks.

The Group has developed policies and procedures to manage market risks and ensure compliance with regulatory 

requirements and limits in addition to internal risk strategies and limits.

2. Foreign exchange risk:

  

Foreign exchange risk is the risk that changes in foreign currency rates will affect the Group’s income or the value 

of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of foreign currency risk management is to manage and 

control foreign currency risk exposure within acceptable parameters while optimizing the return on risk.

Foreign exchange exposure arises from normal banking activities, primarily from the receipt of deposits and the 

placement of funds. Future open positions in any currency are managed by means of forward foreign exchange 

contracts. It is the policy of the Group that it will, at all times, adhere to the limits laid down by the Central Bank 

as referred to below. It is not the Group’s intention to take open positions on its own account (proprietary trading) 

but rather to maintain square or near square positions in all currencies.

The treasury department is responsible for monitoring the compliance with the regulatory ratios set by the 

regulatory authorities. ALCO is supported by the finance department by reports of any breach of these ratios.

Below is the carrying value of assets and liabilities segregated by major currencies to reflect the Group’s exposure 

to foreign currency exchange risk at year end:

ASSETS
Cash and deposits with
  central banks  202,973,635 1,815,396,706 215,697,871 1,571,957 32,487  2,235,672,656
Provision for USD sovereign 
  deposit recorded in LBP (15,740,705) - - - -  ( 15,740,705)
Deposits with banks and 
  financial institutions  6,320,187 53,445,437 43,017,516 1,122,382 4,538,646  108,444,168
Financial assets at fair value 
  through profit or loss  245,869 10,437,472 138,728 59,366 -   10,881,435
Loans and advances to 
customers and related parties  23,371,316 487,562,250 84,001,793 86,379 -   595,021,738
Investment securities  105,604,716 333,141,348 1,015,620 - -   439,761,684
Provision for ECL on 
  Eurobonds recorded in LBP ( 6,774,733) - - - -  ( 6,774,733)
Provision for ECL on CDs 
  recorded in LBP ( 2,331,729) - - - -  ( 2,331,729)
Customers’ liability 
  under acceptances  - - 11,557,983 - -   11,557,983
Assets acquired in 
  satisfaction of loans  - 2,907,009 - - -   2,907,009
Property and equipment  76,551,239 744,658 - - -   77,295,897
Assets under finance lease 1,963,010 - - - -   1,963,010
Intangible assets  700,745 8,915 - - -   709,660
Other assets  16,620,660 7,049,439 1,856,977 - -   25,527,076
Total Assets  409,504,210 2,710,693,234 357,286,488 2,840,084 4,571,133  3,484,895,149

LIABILITIES
Deposits and borrowings from 
banks and financial institutions  655,987 252,017,501 147,799,270 5,155,700 5,738,839  411,367,297
Customers’ and related parties’ 
  accounts at amortized cost  205,429,381 2,208,993,987 170,489,871 12,938,729 4,772,664 2,602,624,632
Acceptance liability  - - 11,584,624 - -  11,584,624
Other term borrowings  11,390,292 10,496,294 - -  -   21,886,586
Finance lease liability  2,446,066 - - - -   2,446,066
Other liabilities  25,469,735 80,624,596 ( 41,150,909) ( 15,250,687) ( 5,948,769)  43,743,966
Provisions  2,108,316 2,727,831 49,983 -  -  4,886,130
Subordinated bonds  - 91,589,918 - - -   91,589,918
Total Liabilities 247,499,777 2,646,450,127 288,772,839 2,843,742 4,562,734  3,190,129,219

Currencies to be delivered - 68,537,301 117,366,714 16,890,212 8,853,026  211,647,253
Currencies to be received - ( 135,350,636) ( 72,315,726) ( 1,638,832) ( 2,849,650) ( 212,154,844)
  - ( 66,813,335) 45,050,988 15,251,380 6,003,376  ( 507,591)

Net on-balance sheet
 financial position 162,004,433 ( 2,570,228) 113,564,637 15,247,722 6,011,775  294,258,339

LBP

LBP’000

USD
C/V in LBP

LBP’000

EUR
C/V in LBP

LBP’000

GBP
C/V in LBP

LBP’000

Other
Currencies

LBP’000

Total

LBP’000
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ASSETS
Cash and deposits with 
  central banks  82,656,438 721,116,542 141,782,994 92,775 4,855  945,653,604
Provision for expected credit 
  losses recorded in LBP on deposits
   with central banks denominated
    in F/CY ( 13,674,405) - - - -  ( 13,674,405)
Deposits with banks and 
  financial institutions  37,649,641 60,258,871 35,864,710 8,562,310 1,395,339  143,730,871
Financial assets at fair value 
  through profit or loss  246,562 69,999,464 123,001 159,048 -   70,528,075
Loans and advances to 
  customers and related parties  26,194,025 617,748,689 158,705,949 3,539,896 958,277  807,146,836
Investment securities  161,193,465 304,496,459 925,470 - -   466,615,394
Provision for expected credit 
  losses recorded  in LBP on 
  Lebanese Government bonds ( 3,243,870) - - -  -  ( 3,243,870)
Provision for expected credit
   losses recorded in LBP  on 
   certificates of deposit 
   denominated in F/CY ( 1,945,366) - - - -  ( 1,945,366)
Customers’ liability 
  under acceptances  - 8,090,090 12,185,760 - -   20,275,850
Investments in associate  23,970 23,950,100 - -  -   23,974,070
Assets acquired in satisfaction of loans  - 4,221,423 - -  -   4,221,423
Property and equipment  74,898,555 748,104 - - -   75,646,659
Right of use assets 2,468,876 713,517 - -  -   3,182,393
Intangible assets  715,176 13,959 - -  -   729,135
Other assets  17,594,650 ( 3,347,867) 634,226 74,502 48,990  15,004,501
Total Assets  384,777,717 1,808,009,351 350,222,110 12,428,531 2,407,461  2,557,845,170

LIABILITIES
Deposits and borrowings from 
  banks and financial institutions  14,972,037 195,093,120 114,888,815 4,144,315 3,539,834  332,638,121
Customers’ and related parties’ 
  accounts at amortized cost  165,062,857 1,515,149,134 130,647,752 15,611,445 2,883,763  1,829,354,951
Acceptance liability  - 8,137,289 12,185,760 - -  20,323,049
Other term borrowings  13,185,927 205,578 - - -   13,391,505
Lease liability  2,317,575 749,092 - - -   3,066,667
Other liabilities  9,832,431 6,611,288 2,302,818 11,118 21,829  18,779,484
Provisions  2,737,697 2,539,802 37,955 -  -   5,315,454
Subordinated bonds  - 90,450,000 - - -   90,450,000
Total Liabilities 208,108,524 1,818,935,303 260,063,100 19,766,878 6,445,426  2,313,319,231
Currencies to be delivered - 179,413,898 71,278,465 20,810,354 24,375,882  295,878,599
Currencies to be received - ( 98,160,137) ( 161,436,655) ( 13,472,011) ( 20,343,642) ( 293,412,445)
 - 81,253,761 ( 90,158,190) 7,338,343 4,032,240  2,466,154

Net on-balance sheet financial position 176,669,193 70,327,809 820 ( 4) ( 5,725)  246,992,093

LBP

LBP’000

USD
C/V in LBP

LBP’000

EUR
C/V in LBP

LBP’000

GBP
C/V in LBP

LBP’000

Other 
Currencies

LBP’000

Total

LBP’000

December 31, 2019

ASSETS
Cash and deposits with central banks  202,973,632 1,961,984,563 70,714,458  2,235,672,653
Provision for USD sovereign deposit 
  recorded in LBP (15,740,705) -  -  (15,740,705)
Deposits with banks and financial  
  institutions  6,320,187 42,337,237  59,786,744  108,444,168
Financial assets at fair value through 
  profit or loss  245,869 10,371,641 263,925  10,881,435
Loans and advances to customers and 
  related parties  23,371,316 566,669,399 4,981,023  595,021,738
Investment securities  105,604,716 300,262,042 33,894,926  439,761,684
Provision for expected credit losses on 
  Eurobonds recorded in LBP (6,774,733) - -  (6,774,733)
Provision for expected credit losses on 
  credit losses recorded in LBP (2,331,729) -  -  ( 2,331,729)
Customers’ liability under acceptances  - 11,557,983 -   11,557,983
Assets acquired in satisfaction of loans  - 2,907,009 -   2,907,009
Property and equipment  76,551,239 335,776 408,882  77,295,897
Assets under finance lease 1,963,010 -  -   1,963,010
Intangible assets  700,745 -  8,915  709,660
Other assets  16,620,660 7,513,248 1,393,168 25,527,076

Total Assets  409,504,207 2,903,938,898 171,452,041  3,484,895,146
 
    
Liabilities
Deposits and borrowings from banks 
  and financial institutions  655,987 340,062,879 70,648,431  411,367,297
Customers’ and related parties’ accounts 
  at amortized cost  205,429,381 2,144,195,864 252,999,387  2,602,624,632
Acceptance liability  - - 11,584,624  11,584,624
Other term borrowings  11,390,292 10,496,294 -   21,886,586
Finance lease liability  2,446,066 - -   2,446,066
Other liabilities  25,469,735 12,112,120 5,654,520  43,236,375
Provisions  2,108,316 2,364,307 413,507  4,886,130
Subordinated bonds  91,589,918 -  -   91,589,918
Total Liabilities 339,089,695 2,509,231,464 341,300,469  3,189,621,628
 

LBP

LBP’000

Onshore

LBP’000

Offshore

LBP’000

Total

LBP’000

December 31, 2020

Assets and liabilities in foreign currencies presented in the tables above include onshore assets and liabilities in 

foreign currencies that are subject to unofficial capital controls in Lebanon, which is further explained in Note 1. 

These are held by entities operating in Lebanon and will be realized/settled without recourse to foreign currency 

cash and/ or foreign bank accounts outside Lebanon (“fresh funds”). Hence these cannot be perceived to have 

an economic value equivalent to that of offshore foreign currency assets and liabilities and should be viewed 

and managed separately. The tables below include segregation of onshore and offshore assets and liabilities in 

foreign currencies:
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The Group’s Exposure to Currency Risk 

The Group is subject to currency risk on financial assets and liabilities that are denominated in currencies other 

than the Lebanese Pound. Most of these financial assets and liabilities are in US Dollars and Euros. As disclosed 

in Note 1, the Group’s assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are valued at the official exchange rate, whereas 

there is high volatility and significant variance in the multiple unofficial exchange rates in the parallel markets 

that have emerged since the start of the economic crisis and the de-facto capital control on foreign currency 

withdrawals and transfers overseas, and therefore, management is unable to determine what would be a 

reasonable possible movement in order to provide useful quantitative sensitivity analysis. The impact of the 

valuation of these assets and liabilities at a different rate will be recognized in the financial statements once the 

official exchange rate is changed by the relevant authorities. 

Assets and liabilities in foreign currencies presented in the tables above include onshore assets and liabilities in 

foreign currencies that are subject to unofficial capital controls in Lebanon, which is further explained in Note 1. 

These are held by entities operating in Lebanon and will be realized/settled without recourse to foreign currency 

cash and/ or foreign bank accounts outside Lebanon. Hence these cannot be perceived to have an economic 

value equivalent to that of offshore foreign currency assets and liabilities and should be viewed and managed 

separately.

ASSETS

Cash and deposits with central banks 1,307,820,456 756,270,758 24,065,730 64,132,065 14,809,679 45,429,370 7,403,890  155,840,734  2,219,931,948

Deposits with banks and financial institutions 96,317,565 11,111,531 1,015,072 - - - -  1,015,072  108,444,168

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  10,545,250 - - 67,838 20,170 245,870 2,307 336,185  10,881,435

Loans and advances to customers and related parties 434,487,878 146,858,538 965,582 11,726,793 982,947 - - 13,675,322 595,021,738

Investment securities 21,534,102 - 11,641,849 151,771,198 130,318,602 108,036,800 16,459,134 418,227,583  439,761,685

Provision for expected credit losses on 

  Eurobonds recorded in LBP - - ( 472,067) (2,953,009) (3,349,657) - - ( 6,774,733)  ( 6,774,733)

Provision for expected credit losses on Certificates 

  of  deposits recorded in LBP - - - (34,141) ( 350,181) ( 1,947,408) - ( 2,331,730) ( 2,331,730)

Customers’ liability under acceptances - 80,481 - 11,477,502 - - -  11,477,502  11,557,983

Other financial assets 19,463,870 - - - - - -  -   19,463,870

Total Assets 1,890,169,121 914,321,308 37,216,166 236,188,246 142,431,560 151,764,632 23,865,331 591,465,935  3,395,956,364

Floating
Interest

Rate

LBP’000

Over 3 
months

Less than 
 1 Year 

LBP’000

Non-Interest
Bearing

LBP’000

3. Interest rate risk  

Interest rate risk arises when there is a mismatch between positions, which are subject to interest rate adjustment 

within a specified period. The Group’s lending, funding and investment activities give rise to interest rate risk. The 

immediate impact of variation in interest rate is on the Group’s net interest income, while a long term impact is 

on Group’s net worth since the economic value of Group’s assets, liabilities and off-balance sheet exposures are 

affected.

Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will affect the Group’s income or the value of its holdings 

of financial instruments. The objective of interest rate risk management is to manage and control interest rate 

risk exposure within acceptable parameters while optimizing the return on risk.

Below is a summary of the Group’s interest rate gap position on assets and liabilities reflected at carrying 

amounts at year end segregated between floating and fixed interest rate earning and bearing.

Below is a summary of the Group’s interest rate gap position on assets and liabilities reflected at carrying 

amounts at year end segregated between floating and fixed interest rate earning or bearing:

1 to 3
Years

LBP’000

Non
 Interest 
Bearing

Floating
 Interest 

Rate

Over 3 
months & 
less than 1 

year
3 to 5
Years

LBP’000

5 to 10
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LBP’000

Over 10
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LBP’000

Total

LBP’000

Grand
Total

LBP’000

  Fixed Interest Rate  

December 31, 2020
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LIABILITIES
Deposits and borrowings from banks and  financial institutions  6,171,344 249,206,453 97,830,640 5,128,780 26,802,164 24,590,279 1,637,637 155,989,500  411,367,297
Customers and related parties accounts at  amortized cost 147,136,018 2,041,417,736 270,178,603 73,158,867 70,733,408 - - 414,070,878  2,602,624,632
Acceptance liability 11,584,624 - - - - - - -   11,584,624
Other term borrowings 114,416 1,661,354 3,577,412 - 12,649,748 3,883,656 - 20,110,816  21,886,586
Lease liability 190,818 - 572,455 1,401,212 281,581 - - 2,255,248 2,446,066 
Other financial liabilities - - - - - - - -   - 
Subordinated bonds - - - - - - - -   - 
Total Liabilities 165,197,220 2,292,285,543 372,159,110 79,688,859 110,466,901 28,473,935 1,637,637  592,426,442  3,049,909,205
           
      
Interest Rate Gap Position 1,724,971,901 ( 1,377,964,235) ( 334,942,944) 156,499,387 31,964,659 123,290,697 22,227,694 ( 960,507)  346,047,159

ASSETS
Cash and deposits with central banks 48,274,606 458,213,968 - 39,345,750 90,676,125 287,554,750 7,914,000 425,490,625  931,979,199
Deposits with banks and financial institutions 22,807,007 112,110,770 8,813,094 - - - - 8,813,094 143,730,871
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss   10,037,752 15,073,492 44,774,257 329,550 84,454 223,848 4,722 45,416,831  70,528,075
Loans and advances to customers and related parties 1,627,997 797,612,238 6,613,292 319,175 974,134 - - 7,906,601 807,146,836
Investment securities 24,997,990 - 39,569,476 94,926,838 146,926,162 137,621,751 22,573,177 441,617,404 466,615,394
Provision for expected credit losses on Lebanese
 Government bonds recorded in LBP - - - (442,622) (1,320,682) (1,480,566) - (3,243,870) (3,243,870)
Provision for expected credit losses on Certificates of deposit 
denominated in F/cy recorded in LBP - - - (733,912) (926,185) - (285,269) (1,945,366) (1,945,366)
Customers’ liability under acceptances 20,275,850 - - - - - - -  20,275,850
Other financial assets 11,920,617 - - - - - - - 11,920,617
Total Assets  139,941,819  1,383,010,468  99,770,119  133,744,779  236,414,008  423,919,783  30,206,630  924,055,319  2,447,007,606
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LIABILITIES

Deposits and borrowings from banks and

 financial institutions   7,488,606  224,898,885  100,077,644  81,405  81,405  10,176  -   100,250,630  332,638,121

Customers and related parties accounts at 

  amortized cost  13,256,096  1,325,531,123  333,303,326  86,154,123  71,110,283  -   -   490,567,732  1,829,354,951

Acceptance liability  20,323,049  -   - - - - - -    20,323,049

Other term borrowings - 608,656 1,297,981 3,483,912 3,088,209 3,083,998 1,828,749 12,782,849 13,391,505

Lease liability 241,745 - 725,236 1,227,315 801,360 71,011  -    2,824,922  3,066,667

Other financial liabilities 12,821,747 - - - - - - -  12,821,747

Subordinated bonds - - -  37,687,500 - 52,762,500 - 90,450,000 90,450,000 

Total Liabilities 54,131,243 1,551,038,664 435,404,187 128,634,255 75,081,257 55,927,685 1,828,749 696,876,133  2,302,046,040

Interest Rate Gap Position 85,810,576 (168,028,196) (335,634,068) 5,110,524 161,332,751 367,992,098 28,377,881  227,179,186  144,961,566
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D. Other Operational Risks

Litigation Risk

Litigation risk arises from pending or potential legal proceedings against the Group and in the event that legal 

issues are not properly dealt with by the Group.  Litigation that may arise, whether from lawsuits or from 

arbitration proceedings, may affect the operations of the Group as well as its results.  

Since October 17, 2019, and as a result of the de-facto capital control and other measures adopted by Lebanese 

banks imposing various restrictions of free flow of customers’ funds deposited with the banking sector, the 

Group has been subject to an increased litigation risk. Management is monitoring and assessing the impact of 

potential litigation and claims against the Group in relation to these restrictive measures taking into consideration 

prevailing laws, regulations and local banking practices.  Although there are uncertainties with respect to 

outcomes of any litigation in connection with the adoption of the various restrictive measures, management 

considers that any associated claims are unlikely to have a material adverse impact on the financial position and 

capital adequacy of the Group.
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48. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption 
that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:

• In the principal market for the asset or liability; or
• In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a 
liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, 
assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate 
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that 
would use the asset in its highest and best use. 

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data 
are available to measure fair value, maximizing the use of relevant observable inputs and minimizing the use of 
unobservable inputs.

 
All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorized 
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair 
measurement as a whole:

• Level 1 - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

• Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement  
 is directly or indirectly observable.

• Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement  
 is unobservable.

For assets and liabilities that are recognized in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines 
whether transfers have occurred between Levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorization (based on the 
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group has determined classes of assets and liabilities on the basis 
of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy as explained 
above.  

Financial assets measured at fair 
  value through profit or loss:
Quoted equity securities   10,533,857  10,533,857  -   -  10,533,857
Lebanese treasury bills 239,666 - 239,666 -  239,666
Lebanese Government Bonds 21,594 - 21,594 -   21,594
Corporate Bonds 67,838 67,838 - -  67,838  
 10,862,955  10,601,695  261,260  -   10,862,955
Financial assets at fair value through
  other comprehensive income:
  Unquoted equity securities  19,301,327  -   -   19,301,327  19,301,327
 19,301,327 - - 19,301,327  19,301,327
Financial assets at amortized cost:
Lebanese treasury bills  32,550,562  -  32,365,292 -          32,365,292
Government bonds  105,366,687 - 14,742,102 -   14,742,102
Certificates of deposit issued by 
  Central Bank of Lebanon 265,474,705 - 223,317,430   -   223,317,430
Corporate bonds  4,163,465 2,750,419 - -   2,750,419
 407,555,419 2,750,419 270,424,824 -   273,175,243
Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost:
Subordinated bonds 91,589,918 - - 90,450,000 90,450,000

Financial assets measured at fair 
  value through profit or loss:
Quoted equity securities 10,029,999 10,029,999 - - 10,029,999
Lebanese treasury bills 240,463 - 240,463 - 240,463
Lebanese Government Bonds 72,560 - 72,560 - 72,560
Foreign Government Bonds 59,847,750 59,847,750 - - 59,847,750
Corporate Bonds 329,550 329,550 - - 329,550
 70,520,322 70,207,299 313,023 - 70,520,322
Financial assets at fair value through
 other comprehensive income:
Unquoted equity securities 1,565,834 - - 1,565,834 1,565,834
Government bonds 8,235,335 - 8,235,335 - 8,235,335
Certificates of deposit issued by
   Central Bank of Lebanon  23,576,396 - 23,576,396 - 23,576,396
Corporate bonds  4,172,709 4,172,709 - - 4,172,709
 37,550,274 4,172,709 31,811,731 1,565,834 37,550,274
Financial assets at amortized cost:
Lebanese treasury bills 84,700,917 - 87,647,877 -   87,647,877
Government bonds  90,097,411 -   51,653,296  -   51,653,296
Certificates of deposit issued by 
  Central Bank of Lebanon  221,310,786  -   145,450,294  -   145,450,294
Corporate bonds   20,336,041  19,033,728  -   -   19,033,728
   416,445,155  19,033,728  284,751,467  -   303,785,195
Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost:
Subordinated bonds  90,450,000 - - 90,450,000  90,450,000
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Valuation techniques, significant unobservable inputs, and sensitivity of the input to the fair value

The following table gives information about how the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities, are 

determined (Level 2 and Level 3 fair values) and significant unobservable inputs used:

There have been no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 during the period.

Lebanese treasury bills

At amortized cost:
Subordinated bonds

Certificates of deposit issued by 
the Central Bank of Lebanon - 
Local currency

Certificates of deposit issued by 
the Central Bank of Lebanon - 
foreign currency

Lebanese Government bonds

December 31, 2020, and
December 31, 2019

December 31, 2020, and
December 31, 2019

December 31, 2020, and
December 31, 2019

December 31, 2020, and
December 31, 2019

December 31, 2020, and
December 31, 2019

DCF at a discount rate determined based on the yield 
curve applicable to Lebanese treasury bills adjusted
for illiquidity

DCF at a discount rate determined based on 
unobservable input related to risk

DCF at a discount rate determined based on the yield
curve applicable to Lebanese treasury bills, adjusted
for illiquidity

DCF at a discount rate based on observable yield 
curve at measurement date

Average market price in inactive market

Financial Assets

Financial Assets

Date of Valuation Valuation Technique and key Inputs

49. APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED
     FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2020 were approved by the Board of 
Directors in its meeting held on August 23, 2021.



“Out of limitations, 
new forms emerge.”

Georges Braque 

Tribute 
to Beirut
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• The blast that hit the city of Beirut on the 4th of August 2020 was a huge tragedy that took away the lives of many 
citizens and destroyed the city massively. Banque BEMO, being an active organization within the community that 
witnessed the explosion, was deeply shocked and hurt by the news, as it was affected both directly and indirectly, 
along with its stakeholders. The Bank took immediate action and intervened, acting  upon the sense of family as 
one of its corporate values. In response to the growing numbers of damages the city had witnessed, Banque 
BEMO initiated a program communicated through a press release that consisted of assisting clients and non-
clients with financial support equivalent to $100 M to rebuild their houses, offices and restore their equipment. 

  

As Banque BEMO cares for its employees and gives high importance to their psychological well-being, an 
agreement was made on behalf of the Bank with three Psychologists, who were ready to listen and assist 
employees and their friends/families in overcoming this difficult period. All related charges were borne by our 
Bank.

• Once again, Banque BEMO showed extraordinary family spirit during the Beirut Port explosion which completely 
destroyed its Pasteur premises. Indeed, the Bank’s Vice-Chairman and General Manager, along with the Bank’s 
Assistant General Manager, and senior executives and managers all gathered on site to help cleaning and 
screening the Bank’s records, that were scattered on the streets.  

                   

Dear Family,
Three weeks have passed since August 4. 
A number of us have lost family members or friends. Many 
have either lost properties or had them damaged but all of us 
have been injured whether physically or psychologically.
At the same time, we have seen or heard of miracles. The 
solidarity demonstrated by the Lebanese people and worldwide 
is by itself a miracle.
Though our hearts will, forever, bear the scars of this tragedy, 
our testimony for the miracle will be not to give up, but to 
rise again and build on this solidarity momentum to pursue a 
more human path.
At our scale, We at BEMO have already launched several 
programs to help people in need; details of which are available 
on our website.
It is together that we will overcome the pain and strain.
BEMO believes in Lebanon.

Moreover, an additional $380K were allocated by the Board 
of Directors to support NGOs with the following causes: 
Rebuilding Beirut, Education, Cultural Heritage and Women 
led Businesses.

• Following the tragic blast of Beirut port, we were all affected 
in different ways which resulted in a tremendous psychological 
impact on our health.

BEMO’s Tribute to Beirut in Response to the 4th of August Blast:

In the aftermath of the Beirut Port explosion, our Chairman Dr. Riad Obegi, shared a heartfelt message 
with all the employees:

TRIBUTE TO BEIRUT

TRIBUTE TO BEIRUT
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• Banque BEMO’s staff members, observed a moment of silence through thoughts and prayers at their Achrafieh 
– Beirut premises, in tribute to the injuries, damages and lost lives of citizens generally and clients specifically. 
This was a spiritual way for everyone to cope and remind themselves and each other of the importance of 
solidarity, hope and faith, especially in times of crisis. 

• Banque BEMO, was deeply saddened by the loss 
of two of its clients during the massive explosion 
that hit Beirut.  Two cedar trees were planted in the 
BEMO Cedar Forest in Kfardebian in their memory, 
as a way of showing respect, dedication and more 
importantly grief for their lost lives and a way to 
keep their spirit alive.

• The Bank was also one of the contributors of 
the “Recollect Beirut” event in commemoration 
of the 40th memorial ceremony of the Beirut Port 
explosion through  words, images, and music, 
which were broadcasted on live national TV. 
The event contributed in sending a message of 
hope to the city of Beirut and showed solidarity to 
the community.  
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• Furthermore, Banque BEMO launched the “BEMO Beirut Recovery Initiative”, aimed at supporting Lebanese 
citizens and businesses that were damaged by the Port of Beirut explosion through donations made to NGOs, 
educational institutions and medical institutions. The program was announced on Banque BEMO’s website and 
social media platforms.

 In this context, Banque BEMO has ensured local and international donations of 

LBP USD USD EUR
13,750,000 and and160,499 15,000 595,269

International Donations:Local Donations:

Employee Volunteerism Program

Banque BEMO mobilized 41 volunteers among their staff and friends who have dedicated 203 hours to help in the 
assessment phase of rebuilding damaged houses during the Beirut explosion, notably in the areas of: Quarantina, 
Burj Hammoud, Karm el Zeitoun and Geitawi. They also contributed to collecting data and information regarding 
many NGOs involved in the relief of the consequences observed due to the blast in addition to preparing food 
and distributing efforts.  

• Banque BEMO, in partnership with Commercial Insurance and Fondation Audi, had the pleasure to organize 
an exhibition “L’Art Blessé”, a Banque BEMO project on an idea by Dr. Riad Obegi, that draws inspiration from 
both Kintsugi and trauma therapy, by presenting 3 types of artworks: those inspired by the Port of Beirut 
explosion, others damaged but not restored and those transformed by an artistic touch. The exhibition has been 
an opportunity for 55 artists, writers and composers to participate and showcase their artworks at the Villa Audi 
before the lockdown emerged.  During the lockdown period, a virtual tour was organized and attended by more 
than 200 guests. It consisted of an introduction by Dr. Riad Obegi, Chairman of the Board of Directors, followed 
by a presentation by Mr. Jean-Louis Mainguy, Exhibition Curator and Scenographer and finally testimonies and 
discussions with the artists. The exhibition initially ran for a couple of months at Villa Audi, then moved to Saida, 
at the Debbane Palace Museum which was celebrating its 300th anniversary this year. 
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• Banque BEMO has launched a Visual Arts Contest to pay tribute to the endless heroism of volunteers who 
have helped rebuild Beirut following the Beirut blast. The contest was open to professional artists and amateurs of 
all ages who had the opportunity to submit their artwork suggestions to Banque BEMO. The winning proposition 
has been reproduced on a large scale mural displayed on the façade of BEMO Building in Achrafieh, during an 
event attended by the winner “Olivia Brazier” and other participants, as well as hero volunteers from several 
NGOs, the hero nurse Pamela Zeinoun, the civil defense firefighters and BEMO volunteers.  Banque BEMO also 
recognized the efforts and hard work of the other contestants by sharing their beautiful artworks on its social 
media platforms. 

• Banque BEMO, in cooperation with Comin Insurance, came up with the initiative “Laptops for our Children’s 
Education” along with their media partner L’Orient Le Jour to support the Lebanese educational sector, disrupted 
by the ongoing economic crisis, marked by poverty, unemployment, the consequences of the Beirut Blast and 
the COVID-19 pandemic. These factors collectively threatened the academic year, which lead Banque BEMO to 
play its role as a socially responsible business and cooperate with its internal and external stakeholders to offer 
a chance to students in need to pursue their education online.

Consequently,

students
were able to benefit from 
this initiative.



Relationships are Built. Trust is Earned

www.bemobank.com


